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PROFILE OF CERIDIAN’S BUSINESSES

HuMAN RESOURCE SOLUTIONS: PROVIDING SUPERIOR
CUSTOMER SERVICE IN THE HR ARENA

Ceridian offers human resource solutions for companies of all sizes, from a few employees to thousands, in the U.S., Canada,
and Europe. Ceridian’s Human Resource Solutions (HRS) business enables customers to outsource a broad range of
employment services, from recruitment and applicant screening, to payroll processing, tax filing, human resource
information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits administration, training, employee
assistance and work-life programs, to post-employment COBRA, HIPAA and retirement plan administration. Ceridian’s HR
solutions range from transaction-based services to Human Resource Outsourcing (HRO) in which Ceridian takes over
responsibility for the customer’s entire human resource management processes.

Ceridian HRS serves more than 110,000 clients with 20 million employees. The Company provides services to more than half
the Financial Times Global 500, more than three-fourths of the Fortune 500, and more than half of the Fortune 1000.

In Canada, Ceridian is a leading provider of comprehéngi/vé human resource solutions to businesses of all sizes in
virtually every industry. The company has offices from coast to coast serving more than 40,000 businesses and
paying more than 2.6 million Canadians.

In the United Kingdom, Ceridian Centrefile serves over 9,600 customers, representing 1.7 million employees.
From 14 offices across the UK, Ceridian Centrefile processes 24 million payslips a year. The Company offers a range of
human resource solutions to the majority of market sectors, including fully managed HR and payroll services, payroll

processing, recruitment services, employee assistance, and consultancy on work/life balance initiatives.

Ceridian has begun to expand its International Payroll Services into other countries, principally in Europe, by engaging
partners within a country to provide payroll administration and processing for that country. For multinational customers,
Ceridian is delivering a fully outsourced payroll service to meet their international requirements.

CoMDATA: TRANSACTION PROCESSING, FINANCIAL SERVICES, AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
FOR TRANSPORTATION AND RETAIL INDUSTRIES

Comdata specializes in secured payment transactions—controlled spending, purchasing, payroll distribution,
cash card, and similar transactions—based on the customer’s business rules.

Comdata’s transportation services facilitate driver transactions and provide transaction control and
trip information to owners. There are approximately 900,000 active Comdata cards being used today by professional
drivers to purchase fuel, lodging, and other approved items; obtain cash advances from ATMs; make long distance
phone calls; and direct deposits of pay, settlements or trip advances to personal bank accounts. Comdata serves more
than 20,000 fleet operators, enabling greater control over expenses by allowing them to set limits on the use of the cards
by designating locations where the cards may be used, the amount of authorized use, and other parameters.
Web-based applications offer interactive reporting capabilities, the latest diesel fuel prices, and related information.
Comdata provides services to more than 8,500 truck stops, travel centers and repair facilities; its gasoline fueling network
includes all locations that accept MasterCard® Comdata offers assistance in obtaining regulatory permits and other
compliance services, and also provides point-of-sale equipment for travel plazas.

Comdata’s BusinessLink™card offers customers an extensive and growing list of functions on a single card: debit, credit,
payroll, travel and entertainment, and purchasing. Comdata’s eCash®card helps companies distribute payments to their
employees for payroll, expense reimbursement, commissions, termination payments, or any other cash disbursements.

Comdata’s retail services division offers cash cards and transaction processing for gifts, merchandise returns, and
in-store promotions. In 2004, Comdata shipped 300 million cash cards to retailers, grocery and restaurant chains,
and entertainment companies.




To CERIDIAN STOCKHOLDERS, CUSTOMERS AND EMPLOYEES:

For 2005, it is clear that the markets served by Ceridian are growing at a healthy rate. Itis \t
also clear that Ceridian is becoming a stronger Company, both operationally and financially. '
In 2004, cash flow from operations was very strong, and pushed our cash balances to record
levels. At the same time, long-term debt was reduced substantially, and we repurchased
approximately $80 million of our stock under our share repurchase program.
The financial accounting and internal control issues we face are being addressed,
and both of Ceridian’s businesses—Human Resource Solutions (HRS) and
Comdata—are well positioned for a successful 2005.

Human Resource Solutions: Providing Superior Customer Service
in the HR Arena

Ceridian’s human resource solutions include payroll and compensation, tax filing,

staffing, time and labor management, compliance, HR administration, benefits

administration, and work-life and employee assistance programs. We offer these
either as integrated or stand-alone functions, as well as a full-service Human

Ronald L. Turner . . .1 . .

Chai " Resource Outsourcing (HRO) option. Ceridian serves companies of all sizes,

hairman, President and o .
Chief Executive Officer principally in the U.S., Canada, and Europe.

Our Human Resource Solutions strategy is unchanged. We remain focused on customer
satisfaction, customer retention, and productivity and margin improvement. We have achieved
a customer retention rate of 90 percent and expect to maintain that level going forward.

We continue to add products and functionality to an already extensive product line. With the
market for HR services expanding at a healthy rate and a strong book of uninstalled orders,
Ceridian has substantial opportunity for growth and improved profitability in 2005.

As an indicator of our progress as an HRO provider, our Canadian operation won its largest
contract ever with a multi-year, multi-million dollar HRO agreement in 2004. HRO contracts
accounted for 20 percent of all orders in Canada for 2004 and will represent close to six percent
of revenue in 2005 after only 18 months of operation. We expect accelerated growth throughout
the business as more companies recognize its value.

In the United Kingdom, Ceridian Centrefile is leading our initiative to offer HR services to
multinational companies. In 2004, we won a multi-year contract initially providing payroll and
time services to a large, tier-one auto parts supplier’s employees in five European countries. |
We have expanded our international payroll services into most European countries by engaging |
partners within each country to deliver payroll administration and processing to our customers

within its borders.

We are especially proud of our Military One Source program offering 24/7 support to U.S.
military personnel and their families. The service is designed to help resolve the demands

of work, deployments, and personal and family issues. Military personnel and families can
access specially-trained military consultants for help with relocation, family support, everyday
issues, relationships, finances, deployment, health and wellness, and education. As part of the
program, we recently opened a facility near the Pentagon to provide special assistance for the
severely wounded and their families.
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We are committed to superior customer service as the main driver of customer satisfaction and as
the primary way Ceridian distinguishes its services in the HR arena from other providers. I am
proud of the way Ceridian employees have embraced process improvement tools such as Six Sigma
and advanced training opportunities such as Ceridian University to hone their abilities to streamline
processes, improve accuracy and efficiency, and better meet customers” expectations. The dedication
of emplovees to providing outstanding service is the foundation of our success in the HR arena.

Comdata: Transaction Processing, Financial Services, and Regulatory Compliance for
Transportation and Retail Industries

Comdata is a leader in payment services and transaction processing primarily for the transportation
and retail industries, providing services such as travel and entertainment purchasing, other general
purchasing, payroll distribution, cash card, gift card, and similar transactions.

Comdata’s performance in 2004 was outstanding, with growth in every product line. Comdata
maintained its overall customer retention rate of more than 95 percent and its operating margins
of more than 32 percent. Customer satisfaction, operating efficiency, and employee productivity
again improved over already impressive levels achieved in recent years.

The transportation business was strong across the board in 2004. The number of fueling transactions
and fuel prices increased in the over-the-road market. Local fleet operations improved substantially.
Comdata has extended the scope of this business, now offering services for the purchase of jet fuel
for general aviation and diesel for barges.

Comdata’s BusinessLink™, a single card for a variety of functions (credit, debit, payroll, travel

and entertainment, and purchasing—with more to come), has become well established in the
transportation industry, with more than 2,000 customers using the service in 2004. BusinessLink
allows businesses to authenticate and authorize individual employee purchases and to provide
payroll to employees. A major innovation in the market, BusinessLink gives Comdata a significant
opportunity to grow beyond its historic transportation base.

A substantial and growing proportion of Comdata’s revenue is from its retail services unit, Stored
Value Systems. We offer retailers, grocery and restaurant chains, and entertainment companies a
rechargeable cash card for gifts, merchandise returns, and in-store promotions. Gift cards are an
increasing percentage of retail purchases, with three-quarters of U.S. consumers 15 years old and
older having now either purchased or received a gift card according to a survey we comumissioned on
gift card usage patterns; this represents an increase of seven percentage points from a year earlier.
The number of gift cards we sold was notably higher in 2004, as well as the aggregate number of gift
card transactions. Prospects for continued robust growth in the retail services business are excellent.

Comdata entered 2005 with strong momentum in gift cards and growth in the transportation market.
Comdata intends to accelerate its top-line growth and to sustain its high customer satisfaction and
retention rates, operating margins, and productivity in 2005 and well beyond.

Financial Restatements

Over the past few months, our accounting policies and practices have been subjected to exhaustive
scrutiny and analysis in large part as a result of complying with Sarbanes-Oxley. As a result, we
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identified a number of internal control deficiencies and restated our historical financial statements.
We have taken measures to ensure more disciplined reporting and rigorous compliance throughout
the business. We have a renewed commitment to maintaining strong financial controls, and our
new processes and procedures will be continuously monitored and tested going forward.

Ethics and Governance

Ceridian has always taken issues of ethics and corporate governance seriously, not only as a matter
of legal and regulatory compliance, but also as the very foundation of business success and the
continued goodwill of stockholders, customers, employees, suppliers, and the communities where
we work. Ceridian's directors, senior managers, and employees are committed to ethical conduct
in all that we do.

We invite you to visit the Corporate Governance section of our website at www.ceridian.com for
information on our governance policies and guidelines, our Code of Conduct for all employees and
the non-employee members of our Board of Directors, Board committee charters and members,
securities transactions by officers and directors, a mechanism for reporting accounting issues, and
other governance matters.

In Appreciation

Our Board of Directors, especially the members of the Audit Committee, invested a great deal of
time and attention to guiding the resolution of our financial reporting issues and the subsequent
financial restatements. On behalf of everyone connected with Ceridian, I want to express our deep
appreciation for the thoughtfulness and diligence they exercised in the interests of stockholders,
customers, and employees. I would especially like to acknowledge the many contributions over
the years of Bill Cadogan and Carole Uhrich Shapazian, both of whom are retiring from the board
in May 2005.

Ceridian employees have abundantly demonstrated their commitment to exemplary customer
service. [ applaud them for taking every customer need to heart and for everything they do to
make Ceridian a better company.

On behalf of the whole Ceridian community, I would like to thank our stockholders and customers
for their confidence in our ability to serve their interests and meet their expectations every day.

T L

RoNALD L. TURNER
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

April 15, 2005
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS MANAGEMENT TEAM

Ronald L. Turner
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Douglas C. Neve
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Gary A. Krow
Executive Vice President and
President of Comdata

Gary M. Nelson

Executive Vice President,

Chief Administrative Officer,

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Ceridian’s Directors are, left to right, Ronald LeMay, William Cadogan,
Carole Uhrich Shapazian, Ronald Turner, George Lewis, Nicholas Chabraja
and Alan White.

William J. Cadogan BoARD COMMITTEES
General Partner _
Vesbridge Partners, LLC Executive Committee
Ronald L. Turner, Chair
Nicholas D. Chabraja Nicholas D. Chabraja
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Ronald T. LeMay
General Dynamics
Audit Committee
Ron'ald T. LeMay George R. Lewis, Chair
Chairman ' William ]. Cadogan
October Capital, LLC Carole J. Uhrich Shapazian
Geqrge R. Lewis Compensation and Human
Retired President and Resources Committee
Ch%ef Execut,we Ofﬁcer , Nicholas D. Chabraja, Chair
Philip Morris Capital Corporation Ronald T. LeMay

Alan F. Whit
Ronald L. Turner an e

Chqlrman’ Pteszden? and Nominating and Board
Chief Executive Officer Governance Committee

2 e
Ceridian Corporation Ronald T. LeMay, Chair
Nicholas D. Chabraja

Carole J. Uhrich Shapazian Alan E. White

Former Executive Vice President and
President, Home Solutions Group
Maytag Corporation

Alan F. White

Senior Associate Dean

Sloan School of Management
Massachusetts Institute of Technology
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UNITED STATES
,SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washmgton, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
Commission File Number 1-15168

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

: Deélaware ‘ ' 41-1981625
(State or other jurisdiction of - - (I.R.S. Employer
mcorporatlon or organization) S Identification No.)

3311 East Old Shakopee Road
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425
(Address of principal executive offices)

 Telephone No.: (952) 853-8100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

w Title of each class: . Name of each exchange on which registered:
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CERIDIAN CORPORATION
PART I

" This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The statements regarding Ceridian Corporation and its subsidiaries
contained in this report that are not historical in nature, particularly those that utilize terminology such as

“may,” “will,” “should,” ‘likely,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “believes” or “plans,” or comparable
termznology, are forward -looking statements based on current expectations and assumptions, and entail various
risks arid uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in such
forward- lookmg statements. Important factors known to us that could cause material differences are identified
in. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under the
caption “Cautzonary Factors That Could Affect Future Results,” included in Part I, Item 7 of this report. You
should careﬁdly consider each cautionary factor and all of the other mformatzon in this report. We undertake no
oblzgatzon to correct or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwzse You are advised, however, to consult any future dzsclosures we make on related subjects in
future reports to the Securzttes and Exchange Commlsszon

We own or have the nghts to various trademarks, ‘trade names or service marks, including the
followmg BusinessLink™, Ceridian Corporatron and logo Ceridian®, Comchek®, Comchek eCash®,
Comdata Corporatron and logo Comdata®, LifeWorks®, and Stored Value Systems and logo. The
trademarks American Express®, Discover®, MasterCard® Visa® and Windows® referred to in this report
are the registered trademarks of others

! I "
Item 1. - Busi;ness; v S o

General

Cerrdran Corporauon was formed on August 8, 2000 and is incorporated in Delaware Our principal
executive offrce is located at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Mrnneapohs Minnesota 55425, and our
telephone number is (952) 853-8100. ‘

Cerldlan Corporatlon is an information services company pr1nc1pally in the human resource,
transportatron and retail markets. Our human resource solutions business enables customers to outsource
a broad range of .employment processes, from recruitment and applicant screening, to payroll, tax filing,
human resource information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits
admlmstratron employee assistance and work-life programs, to post-employment COBRA, HIPAA, and
retrrement plan administration. We have human resource solutions operations primarily in the United
States, Canada and the United Kingdom. Our Comdata business provides transaction processing, financial
services and regulatory compliance services primarily to the transportation and retail industries. Comdata’s
products and services include payment processing and the issuance of credit, debit and stored value cards.

Cer1d1an Corporation was formed as a result of the spin-off of the human resource solutions division
and himan resource solutions and Comdata subsidiaries of Arbitron Inc., formerly known as Ceridian
Corporation (which entity is referred to in-this report as “Ceridian’s predecessor”). On March 30, 2001, we
became an'independent public company when Ceridian’s predecessor distributed all of our outstanding
common stock to its stockholders in a tax-free spin-off transaction (which transaction is referred to in this
report as the “spin-off” or the “Arbitron spin-off”). Despite the legal form of the spin-off, because of the
relative srgmﬁcance of our businesses to Ceridian’s predecessor, we are considered the divesting entity and
treated as the ¢ ‘accounting successor” to Ceridian’s predecessor for f1nanc1al reporting purposes. As used
in this report, references to “Ceridian,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” mean Ceridian Corporation,
formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, together w1th our consolidated subsidiaries, and include the
historical operating results and activities of the businesses and operations that constituted Ceridian’s




predecessor prior to the spin-off, as well as the continuing operations of the operations that were
transferred to us by Ceridian’s predecessor in the spin-off, unless the context otherwise indicates.

We refer you to Part II, Item 7 and Item 7A of this report for additional descriptions of our business.

Financial Information About Segmenfs

Our business has two segments, Human Resource Solutions and Comdata. We refer you to Note E,
Segment Data to our consolidated financial statements for financial information about our business
segments. This information may be found in Part II, Item 8 of this report.

Human Resource Solutions

The businesses comprising our human resource solutions business (referred to in this report as
“HRS”) offer a broad range of managed human resource solutions designed to help companies maximize
the value of their people by more effectively managing their work forces and the information that is
integral to human resource processes. Our human resource management products and services are
provided principally in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. HRS’s revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

2004 2003 2002
$964.4 million  $894.2 million $847.3 million

In 2004, about 71.0% of our HRS revenue came from payroll processing and tax filing services, 15.2%
from benefits services and 13.8% from employee assistance programs. Further, about 75.9% of our 2004
HRS revenue was from operations located in the United States, about 14.6% from Canada, and about
9.5% from the United Kingdom.

Because the volume of payroll items processed increases in the fourth quarter of each year in
connection with employers’ year-end reporting requirements, and because the amount of tax filing deposits
also tends to be greatest in the first quarter, our HRS revenue and profitability tend to be greater in those
quarters.

Our HRS revenue includes investment income earned in lieu of fees from customer deposits
temporarily held in the United States and Canada pending remittance to taxing authorities, customer
employees or other third parties. About $75.6 million of revenue in 2004 was attributable to this -
investment income earned in lieu of fees. All customer funds temporarily held by us are held in either a
trust or in segregated accounts. Funds from U.S. customers are invested primarily in money market mutual
funds, short-term repurchase agreements with high quality counterparties, U.S. Treasury and Agency
securities, AAA rated asset and mortgage backed securities, and corporate bonds rated A3/A- or better.
Funds from Canadian customers are invested primarily in securities issued by the government and
provinces of Canada, highly rated Canadian banks and corporations, asset backed trusts and mortgages.
The maturity of these investments is carefully managed to meet the related payment obligations.
Investment income is earned on these funds in lieu of charging additional fees to our customers. Due to
the significance of this investment income, our quarterly revenue and profitability fluctuate as a result of
changes in interest rates and in the amount of customer deposits held.




‘Market

‘The market for human resource solutions covers'a comprehensive range of information management,
human resource administration and employee assistance services and software. These products and
services 1nclude ' :

o transactton onented administrative services and software products pnmarlly in areas such as
payroll processing, tax filing and benefits enrollment and admjnistration; and

e management support services and software, primarily in areas such as recruiting and human capital
management, human resource administration, regulatory complxance work-life and employee
assistance programs. : ) :

We believe that the market for these solutions will continue to grow as organizations seek to reduce
costs, improve productivity and add services for employees by outsourcing administrative services and
further automating internal processes. We also believe the demand for human resource solutions will
increase as orgamzatlons seek assistance in maintaining their compliance with the increasing scope and
complexity of laws and regulations governing busmesses and increasingly complicated work-life issues
faced by employers and'employees.

We generally classify customers in the human resource solutions market by employer size into three
categories, each of which represents a distinct market opportunity for us:

Type of Employer .~ ‘ Size of Employer* ' Typical Characteristics

Small .. ... Fewer than 350 employees Tend to be relatively more price sensitive, to require

i less customization or flexibility in product and service.
‘offerings and to switch more readily from one provider
to another ,

Corporate......... 350 to 5,000 employees Human resource management needs tend to be more

: complex, and therefore often require more
customization and flexibility in products and services,
greater integration among data processing systems and
a greater variety of products and services

Enterprise. J....onOver 5,000 employees Human resource management needs tend to be the

o o most'complex, and therefore often réquire the most

P T , customization and flexibility in products'and services,

» the greatest integration among data processing systems
P , and the greatest variety of products and services—has
SN the greatest reliance on their integral legacy systems
which increase integration complexity and challenge
outsourcing and migration decisions .

This column of the table reflects the employer size of U.S. customers in 2004, In Canada and the
‘United: ngdom the employer segment sizes are typically smaller, although the characteristics of
such segments are similar in nature. ‘

We beheve however that with regard to any size employer, a prov1der of a core transactlon based
service, such as payroll processing or tax filing services, is afforded attractive opportunities to complement
that core service with-additional products and services that are natural adjuncts to that service, such as time
and labot management COBRA and HIPAA compliance administration, flexible spending account
administration, employee self-service, benefits eligibility and enrollment, employee assistance and work-
life services, and rétirement plan administration. Our ability to wrap value-added services around a core




service or product in an integrated manner will, we believe, lead to revenue growth and our ability to
achieve higher margins. Further, we believe that customers are increasingly seeking providers that can take
responsibility for entire human resource management processes. These human resource outsourcing
(referred to in this report as “HRO”) relationships transfer responsibility for managing each core process
from the employer to the provider. In 2003, we began entering into HRO arrangements with larger
customers. Although these HRO arrangements are expected to reduce our margins in the short term, we
believe that our ability to continue to assume responsibility for our clients’ HR processes in HRO
relationships will over time further expand long-term growth in revenue and margins for this business.

Products and Services

Our human resource management solutions include:

» payroll processing and integrated human resource information systems solutions;
* tax filing services;

» benefits administration, qualified retirement and other plan administration and regulatory
compliance services; and

» work-life and employee assistance programs.

Payroll Processing and Integrated Human Resource Information Systems Solutions. Our payroll
processing for customers in the United States consists primarily of preparing and furnishing employee
payroll checks, direct deposit advices and supporting journals and summaries. For certain business
customers, we may handle the transmission of customer payroll funds to the customer’s employees. We
also supply quarterly and annual social security, Medicare and federal, state and local income tax
withholding reports and forms that are required to be filed by employers and employees.

We provide human resource information systems (commonly referred to as “HRIS”) solutions that
serve as a “front-end” to our payroll processing system, aliowing our customers to utilize a common
database for both payroll and other HRIS purposes. This enables the customer to create a single database
of employee information for on-line inquiry, updating and reporting in payroll and other areas important
to human resource administration and management, such as employee data tracking, time and labor
management, government compliance, compensation analysis and benefits administration. We also |
provide HRIS solutions that incorporate open, industry standard technology, are scalable, and can be
utilized with an existing interface as a front-end for our payroll processing and tax filing services.

Our HR/Payroll product suite (Source 500) provides an integrated HR/payroll and benefits solution
with outsourced payroll and tax filing services to customers primarily in the corporate and enterprise
customer markets. It is available in a hosted “application service provider” environment (HR/Payroll
Assist) or can be managed in-house as an installed application. Our hosted solutions provide customers
with secure 24/7 access to our solutions using a standard web browser.

Our HR/Payroll Web product (eSource) is a web-enabled, fully hosted integrated payroll and human
resource administration solution, designed specifically for the corporate and enterprise customer markets.
Ceridian’s HR/Payroll Web product also includes integrated time management and self-service features, as
well as wage attachments and disbursements, Internet payroll management, and customization features
within the core product offering. '

We also provide Internet and phone-in payroll processing, tax filing, unemployment compensation
management and related services for small employers located in the United States and Canada. Our Small
Business HR/Payroll product is a web-based solution that allows customers to complete payrol
transactions via the Internet. The Small Business HR/Payroll product also provides small businesses with




access to services; such as new hire repoiting; tax filing, direct deposit, optional benefits programs,
unemployment filing and special reports services that were prev1ously only available to larger compames

Tax Ftlmg Servlces Our payroll tax f111ng serv1ces for customers in the United States consist primarily
of collecting funds for federal, state and local employment taxes from customers based on payroll
information prov1ded by the customers, remitting funds collected to the appropriate taxing authorities,
filing apphcable returns and handling related regulatory correspondence and amendments. Our tax filing
services.are pr0v1ded not only to employers who utilize our payroll processing service, but also to local and
regional payroll processors and stand alone tax services provided directly to employers. Payroll-related tax ‘
f111ng serv1ces are' typlcally priced on a feé-per-item- processed basis.

Beneﬁts Admmtstratton, Qualified Retirement and Other Plan Admmtstratwn and Regulatory Compliance
Services. We prov1de employee health and welfare benefits administration and qualified plan '
administration services to our customers. Employee health and welfare benefits administration services
include health insurance portability (i.e., the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, or
COBRA, and the! Health Insurance Portab1hty and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA) compliance
services. Health and'welfare benefits administration services also encompass benefits provided to active
employees, such as annual health plan enrollment, ongoing employee enroliment and eligibility services,
tuition. refund plans transportation reimbursement under the Transportation Equity Act, and Internal
Revenue Code Sectlon 125 plans including fully administered and self-administered flexible spending
accounts and premmm only plans. We also provide administration services for benefits provided to retired .
and 1nact1ve employees, including retiree healthcare, disability, surviving dependent, fam1ly leave and
severance beneflts

Our quahfled plan adm1mstrat10n services include 401(k) plan administration, profit sharing plan
administration, defmed benefit plan .administration, employee stock ownership plan adm1mstrat10n and
Qualified, Domestlc Relations Order and medical support order administration.

Work-Life and Employee Assistance Programs. We provide customérs and their employees (and the
U.S. military) with.a sihgle source for fully integrated work-life and employee assistance programs to
clients of all sizes. Services are delivered through on-line access and telephomcally, and through face-to-
face meetmgs pr0v1ded by referral resources. ‘

~ The services ‘and programs we prov1de rnay be customlzed to meet an individual customer’s particular
needs. Qur portfolio of products allows a customer to choose the mix, level and mode of access to services
that best meet its needs. These products range from “high touch technology” capabilities allowing
employees to access specific information on-line to comprehensive “person-to-person” consultation and
referral services. Also included are specialized service options, such as assistance with college selection,
elder care assessment and facility review services, and health and wellness services. These services address
employee, effectlveness issues and seek to improve employee retention and productivity, and to reduce
absenteexsm as well as increase the customers’ recruitment success. Consultants provide confidential
assistance 24 hours a day to customers’ employees to help them address issues ranging from everyday
matters to crisis, 51tuat10ns Supporting these consultants are research and subject matter experts who
provide spec1ahzed expertise or referrals in areas such as parenting/child care, elder care, disabilities,
addiction dlsorders mental health, health and wellness, financial, legal, managerial/supervisory and
educatlon/schoohng issues. We have also entered into. arrangements with some service and product
prov1ders to prowde addltlonal leading edge services and expertise to our customers.

Interriational Operations

Our international HRS operations are primarily conducted in the United Kingdom, through Ceridian
Centrefile Limited, and in Canada, through Ceridian Canada Ltd. Ceridian Centrefile Limited provides
human resource services, payroll processing services, HRIS solutions, work-life and employee assistance




programs and recruitment services primarily in the United Kingdom. Ceridian Centrefile’s services
generally do not involve the handling or transmission of customer funds. In a very few instances, Ceridian
Centrefile holds client funds for a short period of time in non-interest bearing segregated accounts prior to
disbursement pursuant to Ceridian Centrefile’s client’s instructions.

Ceridian Canada’s operations provide payroll processing services, HRIS solutions, tax filing services,
work-life and employee assistance programs and recruitment services to its customers. Ceridian Canada
handles payroll as well as tax filing funds for our Canadian customers. These Canadian operations collect
payroll and payroll tax amounts from customers and remit tax amounts to applicable governmental
authorities and make direct deposits of payroll amounts to employees’ bank accounts. As a result, revenue
from our payroll processing services in Canada includes investment income received in lieu of fees from
temporarily holding these amounts in trust. We also charge fees for services to our Canadian customers
that are similar in nature to those provided in the United States.

We have begun to expand our international payroll services into other countries, principally in
Europe, by engaging partners within a country to provide us with payroll administration and processing
services for that country. We in turn have contracted with multinational customers for their international
requirements, and deliver a fully outsourced payroll service to these customers.

There are risks associated with operating internationally. We refer you to our “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in Part II, Item 7 of
this report, and specifically to the section of that discussion entitled “Cautionary Factors That Could
Affect Future Results.”

Customers

"Our existing customer base covers a wide range of industries and markets. Our products and services
are generally provided under written license or service agreements, with contracts for repetitive services
generally terminable upon relatively short notice. ,

Customer retention is an important factor in the amount and predictability of revenue and profits in
our HRS businesses. The length of time it takes for a contract to become profitable depends on a number
of factors such as the pricing of the contract, the number of employees covered by the contract, the
complexity of the services involved, the amount of customization of services required and the number of
locations in which the customer’s employees are located. The longer we are able to retain a customer, the
more profitable that contract will likely be.

Sales and Marketing

Payroll processing, tax filing and human resource management services are marketed in the United
States through our direct sales force operating throughout the country. We currently utilize, and seek to
develop other, cooperative marketing relationships with other companies offering products or services that
complement our businesses as well as informal and formal marketing alliances with human resource
consulting firms and other outsourcing firms. The most significant source of customer leads for these
transaction-based products and services are referrals from these marketing relationships and existing
customers, and other direct marketing efforts, such as web marketing, telemarketing, direct mail and trade
shows. Our international operations located in the United Kingdom and Canada utilize their own direct
sales forces. Customer leads for the products and services of these businesses are generally obtained
through referrals, trade shows, product demonstration seminars, third party resellers and direct sales
efforts.




We utilize cooperative marketing relationships with other companies offering products or services
that complement our businesses as well as informal marketing alliances with human resource consulting
firms. We'are exploring similar cooperative arrangements with other software, broker and human resource
services providers. We are also seeking to further integrate and coordinate the sales and marketing efforts
of our businesses and:to sell a greater varrety of our products and services to the customers of our various
busmesses :

Competition‘ -

The human resource solutions industry is highly competitive. Competition comes from national,
regional and‘lo‘cal;third party transaction processors, as well as from software companies, consulting firms,
governments, enterprise wide providers of financial services, complete enterprise outsourcing providers,
1nclud1ng 1nformat10n technology providers, and internally developed and operated systems and software.

We belleve that the major1ty of all payroll processing and tax filing in the United States, Canada and
the United Kingdom is sipported in-house, with the remainder supportéed by third party providers. In the
United States, Automatic Data Processing, Inc. (“ADP”) is the largest third party provider of payroll
processmg in terms$ of revenue, with Paychex, Inc. and Ceridian comprising the other two large, national
providers in terms of revenue. ADP serves all sizes of employers, while Paychex generally focuses on small
employers. Other third party payroll and tax filing providers are generally regional and local competitors,
although larger, national providers of benefits administration, 401(k) processing services or financial
institutions may expand further into outsourced payroll processing. In the United Kingdom, we believe
that our Ceridian Centrefile subsidiary is the second largest outsourced payroll processing provider in
terms of revenue, competing with several other national providers, including a subsidiary of ADP and a
division of Northgate Information Solutions, and local providers. In Canada, we believe that our Ceridian
Canada subsidiary is the second largest outsourced payroll processing provider in terms of revenue, facing
a similar competitiye environment as in the United Kingdom. Competition in both the payroll processing
and HRIS areas also comes from a number of large, national software companies that provide both payroll
processing software for in-house processing as well as HRIS software, often in conjunction with other
enterprise management software applications.

Apart from payroll processing and tax filing, our other human resource solutions generally compete
with a varrety of national and regional application software companies, consulting firms, financial services
companies and’ human resource services providers. Generally, the market for these products and services is
evolving and is not dominated by a small number of competitors.

Currently, we belreve the principal competitive factors in the human resource solutions industry are:
* customer servrce ‘

. l‘eadershlp in technology applications;

. cholce of seryicesj | ‘

s 'integrated platforms; o |

. nerformance; :

. price;

e funcnonalrty,

. ease and flexibility of use; and

. expertrse in HR processes.




We believe that the ability to integrate human resource management solutions with customers’ other
acquired services and in-house applications and the ability to provide solutions delivered through the
- Internet are increasingly important competitive factors. While we believe our businesses will be able to
compete effectively in the overall human resource solutions market, our ability to compete effectively will
depend in large measure on our ability to timely develop and implement the appropriate technology
solutions, particularly those which incorporate industry standard architecture and Internet-based solutions,
and provide leading-edge customer service.

Research and Development

We intend to continue to invest resources to extend the functionality of our proprietary payroll
processing systems and further develop a comprehensive and fully integrated suite of employee
administrative services.

The table below reflects the amount of research and development expenses for our HRS businesses
for the periods indicated.

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)

Research and development. ...............ovvineenn. $22.4 $163 $126
Percentofrevenue............cooviiiiiiii i 23% 18% 15%

Comdata

Our Comdata subsidiary (which we refer to in this report as “Comdata”) provides transaction
processing, financial services and regulatory compliance services primarily to the transportation and retail
industries. Comdata’s revenue from products and services for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was as follows: '

2004 2003 2002
$356.0 million $319.7 million $313.0 million

Approximately 72.2% of Comdata’s revenue for 2004 was attributable to Comdata’s transportation
business and 27.8% was attributable to Comdata’s retail services business.

Principal Markets

The trucking segment of the transportation industry is comprised of both long haul fleets and local
fleets. Private fleets predominate in the local fleet segment, but play a lesser role in the long haul fleet
segment. Common carriers, which provide trucking services to companies that do not have fleets of trucks
of their own, predominate in the long haul fleet segment, which is comprised of less-than-truckload and
truckload components. The less-than-truckload component, which involves trucks that make multiple stops
to load and unload, is characterized by large capital requirements. The truckload component involves the
transportation of full loads directly from shipper to final destination without going through any sorting
terminals.

The majority of Comdata’s trucking company customers are common carriers serving the truckload
component of the long haul segment. Many of these carriers use a combination of company-employed
drivers and drivers contracted with individual owner-operators. These owner-operators usually settle their
expenses with the common carrier after the completion of each trip. Drivers for truckload carriers often
spend weeks on the road at a time, creating a number of unique conditions and business opportunities.
Truckload carriers are challenged to monitor and control fuel purchases, provide driver services to aid in
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recru1tment and improve retention, obtain necessary hcenses and permlts, and effectively manage the
routing and loglstrcs of the long-distance trips.

- In addmon to provrdmg services to long drstance truckmg compames Comdata also offers card-based
payment and transactron processing services to companies and organlzanons which operate local fleets.
Customers 1n ‘this segment include, by way of example,, local delivery ¢ compames home maintenance
compames and local and state government agenc1es

Stored Value Systems Inc., a wholly owned subsrd1ary of Comdata and a part of Comdata s retail
services, d1v1s10n (referred to in this report as “SVS”), provides electronic private label cards that can be
assrgned a cash value The market for these private label cards includes merchants, such as retailers, who
) use tradmonal paper gift certificates or gift cards, (2) give store credtts in connection with the return of
products and (3) ‘make, jmonetary or stored-value-based loyalty promotions. SVS markets its private label
cash card to these merchants namely major retailers, for use with their customers, both as “gift cards” and
loyalty bulldmg tools Addltlonally, SVS markets ancillary support services including card inventory
management and assistance in designing and supervising the productlon of plastic cards. Comdata’s retail
services' d1vgs1on also prov1des a card-based funds transfer system for use by employers and others for,
among other’ thmgs eexpense reimbursements, payroll delivery and termination pay. Comdata markets this
card- based funds transfer system to a variety of employérs, such as temporary staffing companies,
professronal employment organizations, custodial companies, the restaurant and hospitality industries, and
retallers mc]udlng the customers of SVS. :

Servtces o E

Comdata provrdes transactron processing, fmancral semces and regulatory complrance services
prlmarrly to the transportatlon industry. Comdata also prov1des transaction processing services to other
industries, mcludlng the retail, temporary staffing, oil company, restalirant and grocery store sectors.
Comdata provrdes serv1ces to trucking companies, truck stops and truck drivers in the long haul segment of
the’ truckmg mdustry, and to the local fleet segment. These services prlmanly involve the use of a
propr‘letary funds transfer card that facilitates truck driver transactions and prov1des transaction control
and trip mformatron for truckrng firms. Addmonally, Comdata markets “co-branded” cards and
transactron processmg in association with MasterCard networks. Corhdata also provides assistance in
obtarnmg regulatory permlts pilot car services, and other compliance services, such as fuel tax reporting
and dnver log audmng, local fuehng services and discounted telecommunications services.in its markets.
Through Comdata s retail services division (which 1ncludes SVS), Comdata provides its specialty card
products and services to customers outside of the transportation 1ndustry Comdata operations are located
substantlally in the United States with some operations in Canada and prospects for expanding operations

into Latm and South Amerrca and Europe. :

BusmessLmk Comdata s BusinessLink product is a payment transactlon services card with credit
and debit’ capapllmes prlnc1pally designed to provide businesses with control over payments to and
spending by employees The BusinessLink card allows businesses to authenticate and authorize individual
employee purchases and'provide payroll to employees. Through BusinessLink a business can review
reports of- transactlons made by its ‘employees over the Internet, as well as request the issuance of new
employee cards. ‘BusinessLink offers businesses the capability of performmg these services on a single,
customizable employee card. The BusinessLink card may be customized for each individual employee
within'a business. Comdata intends to expand the services currently available under the BusinessLink card.
BusinessLink has béen initially introduced to Comdata’s principal markets, transportation and retail.
Comdata believes, that the BusinessLink card has apphcatron to busmesses in other. mdustrles In 2004,
more than 2,050 customers used BusinessLink.




Trucking Company Services (The Comdata card). Comdata’s funds transfer system, most commonly
initiated through the use of Comdata’s proprietary Comdata card, is designed to enable truck drivers to
obtain funding for purchases and cash advances at truck stops and other locations en route to their
destination. Drivers may use the Comdata card to purchase fuel, lodging and other approved items, obtain
cash advances from ATM machines or through the use of Comchek drafts, make long distance phone calls
and make direct deposits of pay, settlements (for non-employee owner-operators) or trip advances to
personal bank accounts. In 2004, Comdata processed approximately 88.3 million funds transfer
transactions involving approximately $17.0 billion for the transportation industry.

Use of the Comdata card allows the trucking company customer greater control over its expenses by
allowing it to set limits on the use of the cards, such as by designating locations where the cards may be
used, the frequency with which they may be used, phone numbers which may be called and the amount of
authorized use. Use of a Comdata card also enables Comdata to capture and provide transaction and
trip-related information to trucking company customers (usually within 24 hours after the completion of a
given trip). This information greatly enhances a customer’s ability to track and plan fuel purchases and
other trip expenses and settle with drivers. Comdata also provides trucking companies with a
Windows-based software application that provides trucking companies with on-line access to Comdata’s
computer system for data on fuel purchases and other trip information, and facilitates pre- and post-trip
planning functions. Comdata’s iConnectData and MOTRS (Modular Over The Road System) web-based
applications enable customers to go on-line for local dial-up access, interactive reporting capabilities, the
latest diesel fuel prices and related information from their computer.

Use of a Comdata account, in many instances, generates a Comchek draft, which is payable through a
Comdata bank account. Comdata funds the underlying transaction when the truck stop (or other payee)
negotiates the draft by depositing it in its bank account. Comdata bills the trucking company for the
amount of the draft plus a portion of the service fee, and collects from the truck stop the balance of the
service fee. The trucking company remits payment to Comdata by wire transfer or check, typically within
six days, although Comdata may bill trucking companies in advance for all funds transfers authorized for
any purpose in connection with a particular trip. Risks associated with fraudulent or unauthorized
transactions are allocated between Comdata and its customers based upon which party may be at fault
under a specific circumstance and based upon which party is in the better position to control or eliminate
these types of transactions. Comdata believes that historically the number of fraudulent or unauthorized
transactions attributable to this aspect of its business has been minimal compared to the aggregate dollar
amount of funds Comdata has transferred annually. Comdata is licensed by 41 states as a seller of checks
or money transmitter and, pursuant to these licenses, undergoes annual examinations by several states with
respect to the integrity of its funds transfer methods and procedures.

When a truck driver makes a request at a truck stop for a funds transfer, Comdata verifies that the
driver’s company has established sufficient credit. Upon presentation of valid identification, the truck stop
obtains an authorization number from Comdata and issues a Comchek draft. Comdata also provides
information gathering and processing services in connection with fueling transactions that Comdata does
not fund, but instead are billed directly by the truck stop to the trucking company. Fees for these “direct
bill” transactions are substantially lower. Comdata also provides fuel price tracking reports and
management within a network of truck stops, including cost/plus fuel purchase programs.

Comdata’s regulatory compliance division assists in determining the permits needed for a designated
trip, truck and load; purchases those permits on behalf of the customer; and delivers them by facsimile
machine to a truck stop where they can be picked up by the driver. Comdata also provides regulatory
compliance services, such as processing and auditing of driver trip logs, reporting of fuel taxes, annual
licensing and motor vehicle registration verification. Vehicle escort services for oversized loads are also
provided.
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Truck Stop Services. Comdata maintains a nationwide electronic data network with 24-hour
independent truck. stop service centers that utilize point-of-sale devices and other computer equipment to
facilitate communication with Comdata’s database and operations centers. The service centers act as
Comdata’s agents pursuant to a service center agreement and typrcally also offer the funds transfer
services of other companies.

Comdata’s merchant services division provrdes fueling centers with PC based, point of sale systems
that automate the various transactions that occur at a fuel purchase desk, systems which enable customers
to transact card-based fuel purchases at the fuel pump. These systems accept many types of fuel purchase
cards currently used by drivers. The merchant services division additionally offers point-of-sale systems for
use at’' prrvately owned truck terminals and unattended fuel sites.

Local Fuelmg Comdata is a provider of fuel management and payment systems for local
transportation fleets. Comdata provides local fleet operators with Comdata MasterCard corporate fleet
cards that offer the fleet operators transaction control and trip-related information gathering features
similar to those of the Comdata card.

Fmancml Servwes Comdata operates a factoring business known as Financial Services. Generally,
Finan¢ial Serv1ces purchases accounts receivable due to truckmg companies from manufacturers and
shippers at a discount and with recourse back to the trucking company in the-event of non-payment. This
permits trucking companres to receive payment on shipping invoices sooner than they may otherwise
receive payment from shippers. While the majority of the Financial Services’ portfolio relates to trucking
company operations as described above, Comdata may, on occa510n enter into a factormg arrangement
with a busmess outsrde the trucking mdustry : :

Retatl Servzces. Comdata’s retail services division, which is comprised of SVS and Comdata’s
payment services dlvrsron, provides stored value cards and employer pay cards to customers principally in
the retail mdustry SVS provides, among other services, debit card programs to major retailers that are
used as gift. cards, grft certificates, credits for returned product, loyalty promotions and retail promotions.
SVS believes that its cards, transaction rehabrhty, card mamtenance/mventory programs and reporting
capability provrde benefrts to retailers and their customers, mcludmg ease of use and controls previously
difficult to realize..

Comdata’s payment services division provides pay cards used by its customers to pay their employees.
Comchek eCash is a card-based service allowing employers to post or load payment of wages and other
payments, 'such as expense reimbursements, to cards issued to employees and other recipients.
Cardholders, in turfi, may access these funds i ina number of ways, including withdrawal of cash from
ATMs, point of—sale purchases at stores or issuance of a Comdata negotiable draft. Long distance
telephone service is also available through the card.
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Sales and Marketing

Comdata markets its card-based financial and data management services, delivered through both
proprietary and branded payment networks, to several industries, the largest of which is the transportation
industry. Comdata markets its services to the transportation industry through a direct sales force located at
its headquarters in Brentwood, Tennessee, and operating throughout the United States and Canada.
Comdata provides services to more than 20,000 over-the-road and local trucking fleets with more than
900,000 active fuel cards. Comdata also provides services to more than 8,500 truck stops, travel centers and
repair facilities nationwide. Contracts generally range from one to three years in duration.

Through SVS, Comdata markets its private label cash cards, electronic payroll cards and ancillary
services through a direct sales force located in Louisville, Kentucky, operating throughout the United
States, Canada, and expanding to Europe, most notably in the United Kingdom. In 2004, SVS provided
cash cards and/or payroll distribution services to more than 400 customers. The contracts with these
customers are generally three years in duration.

Competition

The principal competitive factors relevant to funds transfers are marketing efforts, pricing, reliability
of computer and communications systems and time required to effect transactions. The major credit and
debit card associations and companies, such as Visa, MasterCard, American Express and Discover, are
significant competitors of Comdata since they make cash available to, and facilitate purchases of fuel and
other products by, holders of their cards on a nationwide basis. Several other companies also offer similar
funds transfer services, including First Data Corporation (as a result of First Data’s merger with Concord
EFS, Inc. on February 26, 2004), T-Chek Systems, Inc., TransPlatinum Service Corp., Fleet One, LL.C,,
Fleet Cor and Wright Express Corp. In addition, truck stops often negotiate directly with trucking
companies for a direct billing relationship. Some of Comdata’s competitors, such as Transportation
Clearing House, LLC, an affiliate of Flying J, Inc., are under common ownership with entities that operate
or franchise nationwide truck stop chains. In addition, Comdata competes with service centers, such as
truck stops, that offer similar products and services. Comdata also faces increasing competition in the
funds transfer area from ATM:s that participate in national networks.

While the majority of regulatory services continue to be performed in-house, at least one other
nationwide company, Xero-Fax, Inc., and several regional companies, including The Permit Company,
provide permit services similar to those provided by Comdata. Competition in this market is influenced by
price, the expertise of personnel and the ease with which permits may be ordered and received. In
addition, Comdata believes that technological advances, such as the Internet, will impact the way
regulatory services are delivered. These advances may give rise to new competitors of change the way this
service is offered. '

Comdata believes that its competitive strengths include its:

¢ ability to provide services to trucking companies and drivers at a large number of locations in the
continental United States and Canada;

« ability to offer a variety of ser\}ices, frequently tailored to an individual customer’s needs;
e proprietary databases regarding funds transfers and fuel purchases;

¢ long-term relationships in the transportation industry;

¢ high quality of customer service; and

¢ long-time reputation in the transportation industry.
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Comdata s retail services division (which principally.includes SVS) competes with a number of
national companies in providing private label cards, including ValueLink, a division of First Data
Corporation. Comdata’s retail services division competes on the bases of breadth of services offered,
systems, technol‘ogy‘fand price. Comdata believes that one of the competitive weaknesses of its retail
services division is that' most of its competitors have established relationships with many of the potential
customers of Comdata’s retail services division because these competitors provide additional and unrelated
products and services to these customers, such as credit card processing and check authorization services.
By providing these other services which Comdata’s retail services division does not provide, these
competitors have an advantage of being able to bundle their products and services together and present
them to existing customers with whom they have established relationships. Another competitive weakness
of Comdata S retarl services division is that its competitors have greater financial, sales and marketing
resources and better brand name recognition than Comdata’s retail services division.

Comdata believes the competitive strengths of Comdata’s retail services division are: -

¢ leading edge information and communications systems which provide real-time connectivity with
retarlers exrstmg platforms;

. breadth of solutions offered; and

'

L experrence in transactron processing and related services providing for high quality control and
reduced trme of 1mplementatron of cash'card solutions.

Network and Data Processmg Operattons

Comdata operates two communications and data processing facrhtres one located in Brentwood,
Tennessee and the other in Louisville, Kentucky. All internal data processing functions for Comdata’s
transportatron business, mcludmg its payment processing systems, and SVS are conducted in one of these
two facrlrtres dependrng on the applrcatlon process or transaction berng performed These dual sites
operate in tanderh with one another to execute certain functions. Moreover, each facility serves as a
back-up facility for the other in connection with various activities. Comdata receives telecommunications
services from Sprint Corporation and MCI, Inc.

‘Ri{gulation

Many states require persons engaged in the business of selling or issuing payment instruments, such as
the Comchek‘ draft, or in the business of transmitting funds to obtain a license from the appropriate state
agency. In some'states, Comdata is required to post bonds or other collateral to secure its obligations to its
customers in those states. Comdata believes that it is currently in compliance in all material respects with
the regulatory requirements applicable to its business. The failure to comply with the requrrements of any
particular state could significantly harm Comdata’s business in that state.-

Research and Development

Comdata s résearch and development dctivities prrncrpally include applications development to
enhance exrstmg products and services, and the new product development around the BusinessLink
initiative. Comdata anticipates a continuing need to develop apphcatrons to enhance its products and
services to meet the needs of its customers. Further, Comdata expects to develop applications to bring
addmonal features to 1ts products and servrces thus enhancmg their use m new segments and industries.

'
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The table below reflects the amount of research and development expenses for Comdata for the
periods indicated.

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)
Research and development. ............coovviiiniien.n. $4.4 $3.1 $2.4

Percentofrevenue ... i i e 1.2% 1.0% 0.8%

Other Investments and Divestitures

In addition to the spin-off transaction and the sale of our SourceWeb Assets described previously
under the heading “General”, we refer you to Note D, Supplementary Data to Statement of Operations, and
Note H, Investing Activity, to our consolidated financial statements for further information on our investing
and divesting activities. This information may be found in Part II, Item 8 of this report.

Intellectual Property

We own or license a number of trademarks, tradenames, copyrights, service marks, trade secrets and
other intellectual property rights that relate to our products and services, including several mentioned in
this report. U.S. trademark and service mark registrations are generally for a term of 10 years, renewable
every 10 years as long as the trademark or service mark is used in the regular course of trade. Although we
believe that these intellectual property rights are, in the aggregate, of material importance to our
businesses, we believe that none of our businesses is materially dependent upon any particular trademark,
tradename, copyright, service mark, license or other intellectual property right. We believe, however, that
the “Ceridian” and “Comdata” names, marks and logos are of material importance to us.

We have entered into confidentiality agreements with most of our employees and consultants. In
addition, we have entered into license agreements with customers of our businesses, which agreements
impose restrictions on these customers’ use of our proprietary software and other intellectual property
rights.

Employees

As of March 31, 2005, we employed approximately 9,464 people on a full- or part-time basis, including
7,350 full-time and 493 part-time employees of HRS, 1,455 full-time and 69 part-time employees of
Comdata, and 97 full-time corporate employees.

We are currently negotiating a first collective bargaining agreement relating to approximately 108
employees at our Eagan, Minnesota, work-life service center facility. None of our other employees are
covered by collective bargaining agreements. We have never experienced a work stoppage and we believe
our employee relations are good.

Backlog

Although our businesses are typically characterized by long-term customer relationships that result in
a high level of recurring revenue, a substantial portion of our customer contracts used by our businesses
are terminable by our customers upon relatively short notice periods, including contracts that have been
extended beyond their original terms. In addition, orders for products and services are terminable by our
customers, and no order for one of our products or services is considered firm until it is delivered. The
timing of the delivery of our products and services is largely dependent upon the customer. As such, we do
not have backlog information that can be provided for our businesses.

In our HRS business, we do, however, track the estimated dollar value of a year’s worth of product or
service orders from our customers that have not yet been billed or installed. Although not a reported
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number, this metric is used by management as a planning tool relating to resources needed to install
products and services, and a means of assessing our performance agamst installation timing expectations of
us and our customers.

Avallable Informatlon

‘Our Internet webSIte is http:/fwww.ceridian.com. You may access, free of charge, through the “Investor
Relations” pOI‘t]OI] of our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to such reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material w1th or furnish it to, the SEC.

We also: post other documents containing mformatlon about our corporate governance on our
website, including information relating to our corporate governance policies and practices, charters of our
committees of the Boatd of Directors, codes of conduct and other corporate governance matters. These
documerits are located in the “Corporate Governance” section of our website. Copies of all of our charters
for each of our committees of the Board of Directors, corporate governance policies and guidelines, code
of conduct and cher corporate governance documents contained in the Corporate Governance section of
our website are available in print without charge to any stockholder by writing Ceridian Corporation,
Attention: Corporate Secretary, 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425-1640. Our
Internet website and the information contained on or connected to the website are not intended to be
incorporated by reference into this report.

Item 1A, Exec‘u‘tive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers as of March 31, 2005 are:

Name (Age) g ’ ‘ Current Position
Ronald L. Turner (58) . .. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Gary A. Krow (50) ...... Executive Vice President and President of Comdata
Gary M. Nelson (53)...... Executive Vice President, Chief' Administrative Officer, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary
'Douglas C. Neve (49) Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Our executive officers are annually elected by our Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure of the
Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. There are no immediate family relationships between
or among any of our executive officers.

_Upon the completlon of our spin-off from Ceridian’s predecessor on March 31, 2001, with the
exception of Mr. Neve, each of our executive officers resigned as an executive officer from Ceridian’s
predecessor and was thereafter reappointed to the equivalent position within Ceridian. In,connection with
this spin-off, Mr. Turner resigned as a director of Ceridian’s predecessor and became a director of
Ceridian. Except as'specifically noted, our executive officers have held the following positions with
Ceridian, Ceridian’s predecessor and certain other entities for the past five years:

Ronald L. Turner has served as a director since July 1998; Chairman since May 2000; Chief Executive
Officer since January 2000; and President since April 1998. Mr. Turner was Chief Operating Officer from
April 1998 to ] anuary 2000.

Gary. A Krow: has served as Executive V1ce Pre51dent and President of our Comdata subsidiary since
November 1999.
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Gary M. Nelson has served as Executive Vice President since October 2001; Chief Administrative
Officer since January 2005; General Counsel since July 1997; and Corporate Secretary since October 1998.
Mr. Nelson was Vice President from July 1997 until October 2001. .

Douglas C. Neve has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since
February 2005. Mr. Neve was a senior audit partner with Deloitte & Touche LLP, an international public
accounting firm, from June 2002 until February 2005 and an audit partner with Arthur Andersen, an
international public accounting firm, from September 1989 through May 2002.

Item 2.  Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota
55425. As of March 31, 2005, the principal computer and office facilities used in our businesses were
located in the metropolitan areas of Minneapolis, Minnesota; Atlanta, Georgia; Los Angeles, California;
Chicago, Illinois; East Hanover, New Jersey; Louisville, Kentucky; Nashville, Tennessee; Dallas, Texas;
Boston, Massachusetts; St. Petersburg, Florida; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Manitaba, Ontario, and
Quebec, Canada; and London, England.

The following table summarizes the usage and location of our facilities as of March 31, 2005:

Facilities
(in thousands of square feet)

U.S. Non-U.S.  Total

Type of Property Interest ' ‘ 4
OWNEd. ..o e s 393 0 393
Leased. ..o i 1970 391 2361
Total ... ..o 2,363 391 2,754
Property Interest by Segment
HRS. L e e 1,687 375 2,062
Comdata. .. ..o e e e e 441 16 457
COTPOTALE . . ettt e e 2335 0 235
Total ..o e e e e e 2,363 391 2,754
Utilization of Property
Office, Computer Center & Other ...................... e 2,199 391 2,590
Leased or Subleased to Others. . ..., _164 0 164
Total e 2,363 391 2,754

We conduct a substantial portion of our operations in leased facilities, including our 211,000 square
feet Minneapolis headquarters complex in Minneapolis, Minnesota. Most of these leases contain renewal
options and require payment for taxes, insurance and maintenance. '

None of our owned facilities is subject to any major encumbrances. We believe that our facilities are
adequate for their intended purposes, are adequately maintained and are reasonably necessary for current
and anticipated output levels of those businesses.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

Ceridian and its subsidiaries are involved in a number of judicial and administrative proceedings
considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related
disputes, contract disputes, government proceedings, customer disputes, and tort claims. In some
proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial
expenditures on our part.
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Some of these matters raise difficult and complex factual and legal.issues, and are subject to many
uncertainties, including the facts and circumstances of each particular action, and the jurisdiction, forum
and law under which each action is proceeding. Because of this complexity, final disposition of some of
these proceedings may not occur for several years. As such, we are not always able to estimate the amount
of our possible future liabilities. There can be no certainty that we may not ultimately incur charges in
excess of presently established or future financial accruals or insurance coverage. Although occasional
adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, it is management’s opinion that the final disposition of these
proceedings will not, considering the merits of the claims and available reserves and i insurance and based
upon the facts and circumstances currently known, have a material adverse effect on our financial position
or results of operations.

Securities Class Actlons )

Since. August 6 2004 six shareholder lawsults have been filed against Ceridian Corporatlon and
certain executive officers in United States District Court, District of Minnesota. Edmund Biancarelli v.
Ceridian Corp et al., filed August 16, 2004; Garco Investments v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed September 2,
2004; Ellen Lear v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 26, 2004; Bruce Valentine Mzckan v. Ceridian Corp.,
et al., filed September 24, 2004; Richard Shaller v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 6, 2004; and Sharon
Zaks v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 25, 2004. The complaints for these actions are virtually identical.
In an order dated March 7, 2005, the Court consolidated the cases into a case captioned In re: Ceridian
Corporatzon Securities Litigation. These consolidated actions purport to be class actions filed on behalf of
all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired common stock of the company between April 17, 2003
through and including July 19, 2004, and allege claims against the company and certain of its officers under
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Plaintiffs challenge the accuracy of
certain public disclosures made by Ceridian regarding its financial performance, and in particular
Ceridian’s accounting for revenue at its Stored Value Systems business unit and accounting for
capltahzatlon and expensing of certain costs in Ceridian’s U.S. Human Resource Solutions business.

Ceridian believes these claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself in all of these
actions. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from these matters.

Derivative Actions

Since August 13, 2004, two shareholders have filed derivative suits on behalf of Ceridian against
Ceridian, as nominal defendant, its directors and certain of its executive officers in United States District
Court, District of Minnesota. James Park, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L.
Turner, et al., and-Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et
al., both served August 19, 2004. These complaints have been consolidated. The consolidated lawsuit
alleges that the Ceridian Board of Directors and certain executive officers breached fiduciary duties,
through abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. These

complaints rely on the same factual allegations as the purported class action shareholder lawsuits as
described above. ‘

Ceridian is awamng the filing of an amended complaint. Ceridian intends to appropriately defend
itself in the consolidated action. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from these matters.

SEC Investigation |

On January 22,2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, under Item 5, stating that we
announced that we are responding to a document request from the Securities and Exchange Commission,
and that we have been advised that the SEC has issued a formal order of investigation. In February 2004,
we provided documents responsive to the SEC. In July 2004, we advised the SEC of an investigation the
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Audit Committee of the Board of Directors was directing (the “Audit Committee Investigation™). We kept
the SEC advised on a regular basis of the Audit Committee Investigation. On December 10, 2004, we
received a further formal confidential document request from the SEC. The second request has broadened
the areas of inquiry to include, among other things, Ceridian’s restatement, revenue recognition,
capitalization, expense recognition, how we respond to any internal ethics complaints, and Ceridian’s
accounting policies and procedures. The formal document requests state that the SEC investigation is a
non-public, fact-finding inquiry, and that the investigation and document requests do not mean that the
SEC has concluded that we have violated any securities laws. We are cooperating with the SEC and are in
the process of responding to the SEC’s additional document request.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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PART I1

Item “5 Market For Reglstrant’s Common Eqmty, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securltles . . |

Our common stock is listed and trades on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CEN”.
The number of holders of record of our common stock on March 30, 2005 was 11,029. We have not
declared orpaid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception, and our Board of Directors
presently intends to retain all earnings for use in the business for the foreseeable future. The transfer agent
and reglstrar for our common stock is the Bank of New York.

The followmg table sets forth the high and-low sale prices of our common stock as reported on the
NYSE Comp051te Tape for each quarterly perlod during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003 :

L2004 v“’?;' ".- ‘ 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q

High /. olie. . ST %2256 $2341  $2257 $19.42
Low |\ oo, PP 1669 1970 1705 1625
T2003 0 | 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q
High Jooi ©$1605  $17.99  $2035  $21.85

Low.. «....ooooiiii e e 12.58 13.30 16.71 18.70

We did not repurchase any of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2004.
On July 24, 2002,'0our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program, pursuant to which up to
12,500,000 shares'of our common stock may be repurchased. We disclosed this repurchase program in our
penodrc reportsfiled with the SEC, including the Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to dur Annual
Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2003. The repurchase program is being effected
from time'to tlme dependlng on market conditions and other factors, through open market purchases and
privately negotrated transactions. The total remaining authorization under the repurchase program was
6,350,500 shares as of January 1, 2005. The repurchase program has no set expiration or termination date.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following information has been restated for 2003 and prior years to reflect adjustments that are
further discussed in Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements” to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.
You should read the selected consolidated historical financial information set forth below along with
Part I1, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
Revenue.............c.coviiiiiniinnn... $1,3204 $1,2139 $1,1603 $1,167.0 §$1,174.8

Earnings from continuing operations(1)... $ 369 § 988 § 1115 § 545 § 700

Discontinued operations of Arbitron(2). .. — — — 5.2 20.7
Netearnings. ......ooveveneenneninenn.. $ 369 § 988 $§ 1115 $ 597 § 907
Earnings Per Common Share
Basic
Continuing operations . ............. $ 025 $ 066 $ 075 $ 037 $ 048
Netearnings........oooovvivnavinnn. $ 025 $§ 066 $ 075 $ 041 $ 062
Diluted
Continuing operations .. ............. $ 024 §$§ 066 $ 074 $ 037 § 048
Netearnings. .........ooovneueennn.. $ 024 $§ 066 S$ 074 $§ 040 § 062
Shares used in calculations (in thousands) .
Basic ...t e 149,074 148,634 148,029 146,069 145229
Diluted ..................coelt e 151,079 150,197 149,633 147,669 146,182
Balance Sheet Data at end of year
Working capital . ... $ 3450 $ 3026 $ 2466 $ 1896 § 2377
Total assets before customer funds .. ..... $2,1109 $2,0281 $20069 $1,8589 §2039.5
Customerfunds........................ $4,0960 $3152.7 $24466 $2,1776 $2,984.1
Total assets. . ovvniiir e $6,2069 $5,180.8 $44535 $4,0365 $5,023.6
Debt obligations ...........ovvviuennn.s $ 1007 $ 1635 $§ 1935 § 2379 § 5006
Stockholders’ equity ...........oovunnn.. $1,2957 $12452 $1,1023 $1,0493 § 9346
Equity Per Common Share .............. $ 867 $ 830 $ 742 §$§ 716 §$ 641
Common shares outstanding at end of
year (in thousands) . .................. 149,423 150,022 148,541 146,485 145,754
Number of Employees at end of year(3) ... 9,517 9,349 0,412 9,546 9,667

(1) Earnings from continuing operations include unusual losses of $68.2 ($42.9 after-tax) in 2004, unusual
gains of $3.1 (82.0 after-tax) in 2003 and unusual losses of $33.6 ($21.4 after-tax) in 2002, $50.9 (833.4
after-tax) in 2001 and $30.5 (818.7 after-tax) in 2000. The unusual gains and losses in 2004, 2003 and
2002 are further described in the section entitled “Unusual Items” in Part II, Item 7 of this
Form 10-K.

(2) Includes earnings, net of costs related to the Arbitron spin-off, as further described in Note D,
“Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations,” to the consolidated financial statements
contained in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(3) Continuing operations only.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of;Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
the notes related to those consolidated financial statements contained in Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements'and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K. Any reference to a “Note” in this discussion
relates to the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements unless otherwise indicated. All
apphcable disclosures i in the followmg discussion have been modified to reflect the Restatement, as
descrrbed below.

The Company has not amended and does not intend to amend its previously frled Amendment No. 1
on Form 10-K/A to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 or its
prev1ous]y filed Annual Reports on Form 10-K or Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods
affected by the Restatement that ended prior to December 31, 2003. For this reason, the consolidated
f1nanc1al statements auditors’ reports and related financial information for the affected periods contained
in such reports should no longer be relied upon.

The Company does plan to amend its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each of the first three
quarters in the year ended December 31, 2004. : ‘

Restatement

We have restated iour consohdated financial statements for the years 2000 through 2003 and for the
first nine months of 2004 (the “Restatement”). The determination to restate these financial statements was
made after errors were discovered in March and April 2005. In addition, certain disclosures in the notes to
our consohdated financial statements have been restated to reflect the Restatement adjustments. In the
Restatement we: have

e recorded dccelerated amortization of the CobraServ trademark

e corrected the accountmg for certain leases

t

J»'w'

) corrected errors in the accounting for 1nternat10nal acqursrtlons ‘
. corrected other accountmg errors re]ated to the accrual of costs and expenses
e Areduced income tax reserves .
. | corrected balance sheet amounts for customer funds and employee benefits

The Restatement reduced our earnings before income taxes for the years 2000 through 2003 and the
first nine months of 2004 by $37.8 million consisting of $30.6 million related to the CobraServ trademark
amortization, $7.2 million related to leases and $0.1 million related to the accrual of costs and expenses,
partlally offset by a $0.1 million expense reduction related to international acquisition accounting. The
impact of the Restatement on the consolidated statements of operations for these perrods is shown in the
table below Further information on the nature and impact of these adjustments is provided in Note B,
“Restatement of Financial Statements.” In addition, the quarterly 1rnpact of the Restatement for 2003 and
2004 is presented 1n Note O, “Supplementary Quarterly Data.”

\’!\

I I (I RO : o
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Earnings Adjustments Related to the Restatement
(Dollars in millions)

First Nine
Months For Years Ended December 31,

of 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Trademark amortization ..............c..oun.. $306 $— $— $— § —

Lease accounting............covivuiviiininn., 1.5 2.1 1.1 1.6 0.9

International acquisition accounting............. (0.6) (0.8) 1.3 (0.5) 0.5

Accrual of costs and expenses. .. ................ (0.3) — 0.3 0.1 —

Costs and expenses increase .. ................ 31.2 13 2.7 1.2 1.4
Total pretax earnings decrease . ................... (31.2) (1.3) 2.7 (1.2) (1.4)
Tax effect of restatement(1) ...............coviut. (10.8) (1.4) (1.0) (0.4) (0.4)
Total net earnings increase (decrease) ............. $(204) $01  $(1.7) $(0.8) $(10)

(1) 2003 includes a $0.9 million tax reserve adjustment in addition to the $0.5 million tax effect of the
pretax earnings decrease of $1.3 million.

Adjustments for periods prior to 2000 of $2.2 million before income taxes decreased opening retained
earnings as of January 1, 2000 by $1.6 million, net of tax. The $2.2 million pretax decrease consisted of
$0.3 million for leases and $2.4 million for international acquisition accounting, partially offset by a
$0.5 million increase related to accruals of costs and expenses.

The primary impact of the above adjustments on the December 31, 2003 consolidated balance sheet
was to intangible assets due to international acquisition adjustments, customer funds, and other noncurrent
liabilities due to lease adjustments. The impact of the Restatement on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2003 is shown in tables accompanying Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements.”

The Restatement had no impact on historical cash balances or total cash flows from operating,
investing or financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The only impact on the
consolidated statements of cash flows was to reclassify certain amounts within operating cash flows.

Overview

Ceridian Corporation provides human resource solutions to employers through our Human Resource
Solutions business segment operations located primarily in the United States, Canada and the United
Kingdom. We also provide transaction processing and related services primarily to the transportation and
retail industries through our Comdata business segment operations located principally in the United
States. Our businesses are more fully described in Part I, Item 1, “Business” and in Note E, “Segment
Data.”

This discussion presents our views on our earnings and cash flow performance over the most recent
three-year period and our financial condition at the end of the two most recent years in the following
manner:

¢ We begin this discussion with a management summary in which we provide a context for a review of
our financial performance over the past three years and highlight those factors that we believe are
most meaningful in assessing that performance. This includes highlights of our results of operations
for the past three years and changes in our financial condition during 2004, as well as a discussion of
a number of events or arrangements that had or will have a significant effect on our financial
condition and performance.

o We then address our earnings performance in a section entitled “Results of Operations.” There we
compare our performance from 2004 to 2003 and 2003 to 2002 on a consolidated basis for the whole
company as well as for our Human Resource Solutions and Comdata business segments.
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' Transactrons affecting earnings that we constder unusual or nonrecurring are discussed in a
subsection entitled “Unusual Items.” .

o We contine by discussing our balance sheets and cash flow performance in further detail. There we
descrlbe the impact of particular developments that affected our cash balance through our
operatrng, 1nvest1ng and financing activities. In‘a subsection entitled “Liquidity and Capital

) Resources we also discuss our plans for funding future major expenditures and any financial
" commltments 1nclud1ng those that are not reported on our consolidated balance sheet under
current accountrng rules.

o We conclude our-discussion by describing what we believe to be the most critical accounting policies
in, determmmg our financial condition and results of operatlons and the most significant risks and
r uncertamtles facing our businesses.

In the followrng tables and text, we use certain abbreviations described below
¢ SG&A expense > represents selling, general and administrative expense
y “R&D expense represents research and development expense
. “HRS” represents our human resource solutions business segment
e “Comdata” represents our transportation and retail services business segment

o “Other” relates tothe results of our corporate center operations that were not allocated to our
" HRS and Comdata business segments

v"" l“NM” represents percentage relatronsh1ps in the tables that are not meaningful
- o “US” represents the United States

‘ TR : <
Management’s éummary

. ‘Ceridian Corporatron is an information services company prrnc1pally in the human resource,
transportatronland retail markets, Our human resource solutions business enables customers to outsource
a broad range of employment processes, from recruitment and applicant screening, to payroll, tax filing,
human resourcel‘information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits
administration; employee assistance and work-life programs, to post-employment COBRA, HIPAA and
retirement plan administration. We have HRS operations in the United States, Canada and the United
Kingdom. Our'Comdata business provides transaction processing, financial services and regulatory
compliance services primarily to the transportation and retail industries. Comdata’s products and services
include payment processing and the issuance of credit, debit and stored value cards.

The period covered‘ by this discussion featured a number of events or arrangements that had or will
have a significant effect on our financial condition and performance. You will find the following matters
described in this discussion or through a reference to the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

¢ Phase-Out of CobraServ Trademark. + As a result of the determination to rename the CobraServ
~ ¢ product offering, we began phasing out use of the CobraServ trademark over the course of 2004.
We concluded that the economic life of this trademark as of January 1, 2004 was one year and that
. the originally scheduled amortization for 2005 and beyond of $40.9 million should be amortized
| ratably over the year ended December 31, 2004. This accelerated amortization is reported in
“general and administrative expense in HRS U.S. operations and is discussed further in the “Results
of Operatrons .and “Unusual Items” sections of this discussion and in Note B, “Restatement of
. F1nanc1al Statements ” Note G, “Capital Assets” and Note o, “Supplementary Quarterly Data.”

o Our software‘ development arrangement with Ultimate Software.  In March 2001, we entered into an
- agreement with The Ultimate Software Group, Inc. (“Ultimate”), amended in August 2001 and
February 2002, that provided us with a non-exclusive license to use Ultimate’s software as part of a
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Web-enabled integrated payroll/HR/self-service offering to our small business customers. Pursuant
to the February 2002 amendment, the license agreement provided for a monthly royalty
commencing in January 2003, based on the number of our customers’ employees paid by using the
software and subject to minimum and maximum amounts. The minimum obligation required
monthly payments of $0.5 million per month from January 2004 until January 1, 2006, when the
per-employee monthly charge escalates at a rate of 5% per annum until the end of the
noncancelable term in March 2008. On December 31, 2004, we sold certain customer relationships
and other assets associated with our SourceWeb payroll platform and ceased use of this contractual
relationship. We remained obligated to make future minimum royalty payments totaling $20.7
million as of December 31, 2004. A further description of this contract arrangement is presented in
the section of this discussion entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and in the section entitled
“Contracts” of Note L, “Commitments and Contingencies.” A description of the SourceWeb Assets
sale is presented in Note D, “Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations.”

o Derivative instruments. Our interest rate derivative instruments contributed significantly to the
variability of earnings during the reported periods in this Form 10-K as further discussed in the
“Results of Operations™ section of this discussion, the section in Note A, “Accounting Policies—
Cash and Investments, including Derivatives,” and in Note H, “Investing Activity—Derivative
Instruments.”

e QOur principal defined benefit pension plan. Declines in equity securities market values and in
interest rates resulted in our principal pension plan becoming an under-funded plan. This change in
funded status required that we reclassify the amount formerly reported as a pension asset into a
combined reduction of our equity and an increase in our liabilities. As a further result of this change
in funded status, the additional net periodic pension cost reduced earnings before income taxes by
$12.3 million in 2003 compared to 2002. In December 2004, we determined that the measurement
date for this plan, and for our other defined benefit plans, should be changed from September 30 to
December 31. The later measurement date would permit the use of more current data and coincide
with the end of our reporting year. The change in measurement date resulted in a reduction in 2004
net periodic pension cost of $4.9 million for this plan. We made cash contributions to this plan
during 2003 of $103.7 million. We made no additional contributions to this plan in 2004 and do not
anticipate making additional contributions in 2005 although subsequent investment performance,
interest rate changes or regulatory actions may require a reconsideration of this position. We
discuss our pension and postretirement obligations in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section
of this discussion and in Note I, “Retirement Plans.”

e The effect of changing currency exchange rates. The strength of the Canadian dollar and British
pound sterling against the U.S. dollar in 2004 and 2003 significantly increased revenue and costs
and expenses for our Ceridian Canada and Ceridian Centrefile subsidiaries during those periods.

o New services offerings. New offerings have contributed significantly to revenue growth in 2004 and
2003 in our HRS segment (including eSource) and in our Comdata segment (examples include
BusinessLink and eCash). These service offerings are more fully described in Part I, Item 1 of this
Form 10-K.

o Acceleration of W-2 information delivery. In 2003, we advanced the processing, delivery and billing
of W-2 information for our customers. This resulted in the recognition of $9.2 million of revenue in
December 2003 that otherwise would have been recognized in January 2004, Because the costs
associated with W-2 activities are reported as incurred throughout the year, essentially all of this
amount was reflected in 2003 earnings before income taxes. This means that 2003 revenue included
two contributions for W-2 activities; one in the first quarter of 2003 relating to 2002 annual W-2s
and another in the fourth quarter of 2003 relating to 2003 annual W-2s. The 2004 results included
only the W-2 revenue recognized in the fourth quarter relating to 2004 W-2s.
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‘Compafison of Annual Periods Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Operations Highlights
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

. . ) (restated) (restated)
CRevenue:.. ... e . $13204 $12139 §$1,1603
Net earnmgs ....... e e e $ 369 $§ 988 $ 1115
Diluted shares used in calculations (in thousands)......... 151,079 150,197 149,633
Net earnings per dilutedshare .. ........................ $ 024 § 066 $§ 074

Results of Operations Overview for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004

Revenue of $1,320.4 million increased by $106.5 million over 2003 revenue of $1,213.9 million and by
$53.6'million over. 2002 revenue of $1,160.3 million as both HRS and Comdata contributed to the
improved results. Net earnings of $36.9 million in 2004 (24¢ per diluted share) decreased by $61.9 million
from 2003 net earnings of $98.8 million (66¢ per diluted share). Net earnings in 2003 decreased by $12.7
million to $98.8 million (66¢ per diluted share) from $111.5 million (74¢ per diluted share) in 2002.
Unusual losses (gains or recoveries), net of income taxes, amounted to $42.9 million (28¢ per diluted
share) in 2004, $(2.0) million (1¢ per diluted share) in 2003 and $21.4 million (14¢ per diluted share) in
2002. Further information on results of operations is presented in the following section of this discussion
entitled “Results of Operations” and in the subsection of that section entitled “Unusual Items.”

Results of Operations

2004.Compared to 2003
BRI ' Statements of Operations
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)
' Increase
‘ Amount (Decrease) % of Revenue
2004 2003 $ %o 2004 2003
; . ' (restated) .

Revenue ........... el 813204 $1,2139 1065 8.8 100.0 100.0
Costof revenue ... ... T .748.3 693.8 54.5 79 567 572
SG&A EXPENSE i v v vut v e 4755 3651 1104 © 303 36.0 301
R&D expense. :v.....ovvviiiiniininn.., 26.8 19.4. 74 382 2.0 1.6
(Gain)loss on derivative instruments . ........ 03 . (147y 150 NM 0.0 (1.2)
Other expense (1nc0me) ..................... 26.5 (2.5) 290 NM 20 (0.2)
Interest (income)....... e (2 6) ~(20)  (06) 316  (02) (02)
Interest expense. B e 4.6 02y 67 03 0.4
Total costs'and expenSes .................... 1,279.2 ‘1,063.7 2155 203 96.9 87.6
Earnings before i mcome taxes.......o... .. P 41.2 150.2  (109.0) - (72.6) 3.1 124
Income taxes ... ... oo 43 514  (47.1) (91.6) 0.3 4.2
Net earnings. . ... .. S e .o % 369 $ 988 (619) (627) 28 8.1

Diluted earnings per common share .......... $ 024 § 066 (042) (63.6) NM NM

Consolldated Results——Overvzew

The fol]owmg factors which significantly influenced the revenue or costs and expenses performances
of our busmess segments in 2004, are discussed briefly below and further in the following section of this
discussion entltled “Business Segment Results.”

Révenue Factors

¢ Growth in Comdata’s retail cards in use and processing transactions
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o New customers and service offerings in both business segments

» Impact of currency rate changes on HRS international results of operations

Higher levels of HRS invested customer funds balances and yields
e Acceleration of annual W-2 processing, delivery and billing beginning in December 2003

Costs and Expenses Factors
Accelerated amortization of the HRS CobraServ trademark in 2004
SourceWeb exit costs, net of recoveries

Gains and losses on interest rate derivative instruments

¢ Accounting compliance costs

Revenue from the return on invested customer funds increased by $13.4 million in 2004 compared to
2003 including $10.9 million for U.S. payroll and tax filings, $1.2 million for U.S. benefits services and $1.3
million for Ceridian Canada. The benefit of a higher average invested balance contributed $8.4 million to
the total increase while a higher average yield increased revenue by $5.0 million. The average balance of
invested customer funds increased by $289.3 million, or 13.5%, to $2,435.2 million in 2004 from $2,145.9
million in 2003 largely due to growth in a new direct deposit payroll service, higher levels of customer tax
obligations and, to a lesser extent, the effect of the strengthening Canadian dollar on Ceridian Canada
invested customer funds. We do not include the average balances of Comdata customer funds since these
amounts were not interest-bearing. The average yield on invested customer funds increased to 3.10% in
2004 from 2.90% in 2003.

(Gain) loss on derivative instruments included both realized gains or losses from cash settlements and
unrealized gains or losses from revaluation of the future expected cash flows associated with these
instruments over their remaining terms, The valuation of the interest rate derivative instruments is based
upon future expected interest rates as determined from LIBOR futures prices in effect at the end of the
reporting year. As further discussed in Note H, “Investing Activity,” we sold our interest rate derivative
instruments in February 2005. The valuation of fuel price derivative instruments is based on a national
average of diesel fuel purchase transactions involving Comdata customers correlated with the U.S.
Department of Energy national average price for diesel fuel. The gains and losses from derivative
instruments are discussed in the following section entitled “Business Segment Results.”

Other expense (income) includes the results of transactions that are not appropriately classified in
another costs and expenses category and that generally are not recurring. The results of these transactions
are discussed in the following section entitled “Business Segment Results.”

Our 2004 interest income increased by $0.6 million compared to 2003 due to both a higher average
level of cash and equivalents and higher interest rates.

Our 2004 total financing cost for debt obligations was unchanged compared to 2003 as a lower level of
outstanding debt offset the effect of rising interest rates. This total financing cost comparison included a
$0.2 million decrease in interest expense and a $0.2 million increase in capitalized interest. Our average
outstanding borrowings under U.S. credit facilities decreased from $174.5 million for 2003 to $125.2
million for 2004. Our average effective interest rate on these facilities increased from 2.64% for 2003 to
3.51% for 2004. A further discussion of our financing arrangements can be found in Note K, “Financing”
and in the sections of this discussion entitled “Cash Flows-Financing Activities” and “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” _

Income taxes decreased by $47.1 million from 2003 to 2004 primarily due to the decrease in earnings
before income taxes, the realization of a valuation allowance and favorable tax settlements. The reported
effective tax rate was 10.4% for 2004 and 34.2% for 2003. Income taxes decreased by $48.5 million from
2003 to 2004 primarily due to the decrease in earnings before income taxes, the realization of a valuation
allowance and favorable tax settlements.
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Busmess Segment ‘Results

‘m‘ ll
1 DR .

Segment Comparisons
(Dollars in millions)

Amount o Increase (Decrease). % of Revenue

A o 2004 3003 3 % 30042003
S (restated)
Revenue - RN ‘
HRS... .0l ieeenns. [N PR $ 9644 § 8942 70.2 7.9 73.0 73.7
Comdata.”..................cooiinne B 356.0 319.7 36.3 11.4 270 263
Total . .'li........ e e e $1,3204 $1,2139 1065 8.8 100.0  100.0
Earnings before mterest and taxes . .
HRS......... 0 L p § (726) § 485 (121.1) NM: (7.5) 5.4
Comdat_a,.,,-:. L , . 1156 1043 113 10.9 325 32,6
Total..‘,;...'.51.1;’.‘..‘..v ........... feeeneto. 8430 0§ 1528 (109.8) (71.9) 3.3 12.6

We measure the frnancral performance of our business segments by reference to earnings before
interest and taxes smce consolldated interest income and interest expense are not allocated to those
segments ¥

[

HRS. Thei 1ncrease of $7O 2 million in HRS revenue in 2004 compared to 2003 reflected increases of
$43.8 mllllon from U.S. operations, $13.9 million from Ceridian Canada and $12.5 from Ceridian
Centreflle As descnbed in the section entitled “Management’s Summary earlier in this discussion, the
acceleratlon of W 2 information delivery to customers of U.S. operations, made possible by technological
advances first accomplrshed at the end of 2003, resulted in the recognition of $9.2 million of revenue in
December 2003 that would otherwise not have been recognized until the first quarter of 2004. This
resulted in revenue related to two W-2 years (2003 and 2002) being recognized in 2003 while the 2004
revenue mcludes only the W-2 revenue recognized in the fourth quarter relating to 2004 W-2s.

Strengthenmg of the Canadian dollar and British pound sterlmg agamst the U.S. dollar added $21.6
mrllron to: 2004 revenue for our international operations.

Revenue from U.S. operations benefited in 2004 from increases of $16.1 million in payroll and tax
filing services, $10.2 million in benefits services and $17.5 million from our work life and employee
assrstance programs (“LifeWorks”). Without regard to the $9.2 million of additional W-2 revenue in 2003,
the 2004 increase in payroll and tax filing revenue amounted to $25.3 million including $10.9 million
resultmg from a greater return on invested customer funds as described earlier in this discussion. The
additional i mcrease of $14.4 million resulted from net additions of customers receiving repetitive services
and growth in sales 'of add-on services offset in part by price concessions and lower non-repetitive revenue.
Employee populat10ns for our continuing customers stabilized during 2004 and were little changed from
2003, The $10.2 m11110n increase in beneflts services revenue in 2004 over 2003 related primarily to the
addrtlon of customers and higher levels of individuals being served. The $17.5 million increase in
LifeWorks revenue reflected an additional $22.6 million from a full year and a higher level of service
deliveries under a U.S. Department of Defense contract that commenced during the last half of 2003,
offset in ‘part by a reduction in revenue from commercial ‘customers. ‘

Cer1d1an Canada revenue 1ncreased by $13.9 million in U.S. dollar terms in 2004 including an increase
of $11.9 million due to changes in currency exchange rates. The remaining $2.0 million increase in revenue
at Ceridian Canada reflected increases from small business services, managed payroll services and
employee assistance services, which more than offset the decrease in revenue resulting from lower
non-repetitive revenue and investment income from customer funds. Ceridian Centrefile reported $12.5
million more revenue in 2004 compared to 2003 in U.S. dollar terms. Without regard to an increase of $9.7
million from currency rate changes, Ceridian Centrefile revenue increased by $2.8 million in 2004 over
2003 due primarily to growth in small business services and managed payroll services.
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HRS costs and expenses, excluding net interest, increased by $191.3 million in 2004 compared to 2003
including $40.9 in accelerated amortization charges in 2004, a $14.4 million reduction in the gains from our
interest rate derivative instruments, a net increase in other expense (income) of $30.1 million and an
increase in other costs and expenses of $105.9 million. As a result of the determination to rename the
CobraServ product offering, we phased out use of the CobraServ trademark over the course of 2004. We
concluded that the economic life of this trademark as of January 1, 2004 was one year and that the
originally scheduled amortization for 2005 and beyond of $40.9 million should be amortized ratably over
the year ended December 31, 2004. This accelerated amortization is reported in general and administrative
expense in HRS U.S. operations for 2004. The reduction of $14.4 million in gains from interest rate
derivative instruments in 2004 compared to 2003 included a decrease in realized gains of $1.2 million from
cash settlements and a decrease in unrealized gains of $13.2 million from revaluation of the future
expected benefit from these instruments over their remaining terms. These results reflected the rise of
interest rates during 2004. Other expense (income) for HRS in 2004 included a loss of $28.5 million
associated with the sale of the SourceWeb assets described earlier in this discussion. In addition, we also
recognized gains on sale of marketable securities of $4.5 million offset in part by asset write-downs. Other
expense (income) for HRS in 2003 reflected income of $4.4 million largely from a net gain from the sale of
marketable securities and land not used in our business. Further information on HRS other expense
(income) is provided in a following section of this discussion entitled “Unusual Items.”

Cost of revenue for HRS increased by $37.7 million in 2004 compared to 2003. In U.S. operations,
cost of revenue increased by $28.4 million in 2004 over 2003. Cost of revenue for U.S. payroll and tax filing
operations increased by $15.1 million as implementation costs increased by $6.8 million. Staff additions
and compensation added $4.9 million in 2004, which offset in part cost reductions of $6.0 million resulting
from reassignment of staff from production to selling activities. The remaining increase in 2004 over 2003
of $9.4 million in U.S. payroll and tax filing operations cost of revenue related primarily to higher costs
associated with the amortization of internally developed software. The acceleration of 2003 W-2 revenue
into December 2003 did not have a material effect on the cost of revenue comparison, since the timing of
incurrence of related costs was largely unaffected. Cost of revenue for benefits services increased by $4.7
million in 2004 over 2003 largely as a result of increased revenue. Cost of revenue increases for benefits
services reflected staff additions, compensation increases and higher levels of contracted services and
software amortization. Cost of revenue for LifeWorks increased by $8.6 million in 2004 due largely to
support of the U.S. Department of Defense contract for a full year in 2004 compared to the last five
months of 2003 and a higher level of activities under this contract in 2004,

Cost of revenue in Ceridian Canada operations increased by $3.1 million in 2004 compared to 2003 as
currency exchange rate changes contributed $5.3 million to the comparison. Without regard to the
currency effect, Ceridian Canada cost of revenue declined by $2.2 million due to cost reduction efforts,
which more than recovered $1.5 million of severance cost recorded in the first quarter of 2004. Cost of
revenue in Ceridian Centrefile operations increased by $6.2 million as currency exchange rate changes
added $4.8 million and additional costs, primarily associated with geographic market expansion and new
customer implementations, added $1.4 million.

The 2004 increase in SG&A expense for HRS compared to 2003 amounted to $103.2 million including
the $40.9 million charge for accelerated amortization of the CobraServ trademark. Without regard to this
charge, the increase amounted to $62.3 million of which $24.8 million related to selling and $37.5 million
related to general and administrative.
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‘Sélling expense in HRS grew by $24.8 million in 2004.over 2003 with an increase of $19.2 million in
U.S. operations and $5.6.million in international operations. The increase of $19.2 million in U.S.
operations included $9.4 million from staff additions including $6.0 million for staff reassigned from
production to selling. The remaining increase in U.S. HRS selling expense of $9.8 million in 2004 over
2003 related primarily to higher occupancy costs, royalties and contracted services. Ceridian Canada selling
expense incteased by $4.9 million from 2003 to 2004 including a $1.1 million impact from currency
exchangeirate changes and $3.8 million resulting from additions to the sales staff, higher commissions and
increased advertlsmg Ceridian Centrefile selling expense increased by $0.7 million in 2004 compared to
2003 1ncludmg $1.2 million due to currency exchange rate changes. -

General andiadministrative expense for HRS increased in 2004 over 2003 by $78.4 million including
the CobraServ trademark-accelerated amortization charge of $40.9 million. Without the accelerated
amortization charge, the increase for HRS would have been $37.5 million of which $28.5 related to U.S.
operations.and $9.0 million to Ceridian Canada and Ceridian Centrefile operations. The $28.5 million
increase for U. S. operations resulted primarily from an increase in allocated expenses of $9.4 million for
accounting compliance costs and $7.1 million from higher technology support costs. The remaining $12.0
million primarily reflected additional staff compensation as well as higher expenses for business meetings
and management reorganization efforts. The $6.4 million increase for Ceridian Canada included $2.2
million related to currency exchange rate changes with the remaining increase due largely to higher
compensation expense and management reorganization costs in 2004. The $2.6 million increase for
Ceridian Centrefile included $4.0 million for currency exchange rate changes that was more than offset by
reduced pensron expense

R&D expense for HRS in 2004 increased by $6.1 mllhon compared to 2003 due entirely to a higher
level of software development efforts in U.S. operations.

Comdata Comdata revenue increased by $36.3 million in 2004 compared to 2003 as revenue from
retail services grew sby $21.2 million and revenue from transportation services grew by $15.1 million.
Revenue from retail services grew in 2004 over 2003 due to higher levels of cards in use, greater
transaction volume'and the addition of new customers. As described in the “Revenue Recognition” section
of Note A, f‘Accouritrng Policies,” revenue from retail services is generally deferred and recognized largely
over a six-month period following the activation of a card, which typically takes place about seven months
after the shipment of the card to the retailer. The amount of gross billable fees for retail services added to
deferred revenue during 2004 increased by $23.0 million, or 29%, over the amount added in 2003. The
$15.1 million increase in transportation services revenue in 2004 6ver 2003 related primarily to revenue
from the over-the- road business, which increased by $12.2 million including $5.5 million resulting from
higher fuel prrces ‘A higher level of transactions in 2004 over 2003, including the impact of the growing
acceptance of the BusinessLink card, provided the remaining $6.7 million increase in over-the-road
revenue. Business fleet revenue grew by $3.5 million in 2004 over 2003, including $2.3 million from higher
fuel prices, as major local fueling customers increased their utilization of Comdata products and services,
mcludmg the. Busmesernk card. The remaining net decrease in transportation services revenue in 2004
compared to 2003 of $0.6 million reflected lower revenue from phone services and point of sale terminal
equipment sales that were offset in part by modest increases in revenue for financial services and
regulatory compliance services. :

Comdata costs and expenses, excluding net interest, increased by $25.0 million in 2004 compared to
2003. Cost of revenue increased by $16.8 million in 2004 over 2003 including an increase of $17.5 million
from retail services due to the higher revenue level. The remaining decrease in cost of revenue included
increases totaling $1.6 million in bank fees and costs related to point of sale terminal equipment sales,
which were more than offset by cost savings from restructuring and other cost reduction actions.

Comdata SG&A expense increased by $7.3 million in 2004 compared to 2003. Selling expense
increased by $1. 7 mrlhon as a result of increases in staffing, compensation and advertising, largely related
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to retail services and regulatory compliance. General and administrative expense increased $5.6 million in
2004 over 2003 due primarily to an.increase of $4.6 million in compensation expense and an increase of
$3.7 million in contracted services. The increase of $4.6 million in compensation expense in 2004 over 2003
included incentives related to improved operating performance and an addition to the executive staff. The
increase of $3.7 million in contracted services included $2.9 million for accounting compliance efforts in
addition to legal and other professional services. These increases were offset in part by a reduction of $2.7
million in the provision for doubtful accounts. The reduction in the provision for doubtful accounts
reflected improved credit checking and collection performance as well as the impact of a $1.2 million
provision for a particular doubtful account in the first quarter of 2003.

R&D expense increased in 2004 over 2003 by $1.3 million due primarily to a higher level of product
enhancement activities. The loss on derivative instruments related to. the diesel fuel price contracts
increased to $1.4 million in 2004 from $0.8 million in 2003 and offset in part the favorable impact of higher
fuel prices reported in revenue. Other expense (income) decreased by $1.1 million in 2004 as compared
with 2003 due primarily to a $1.9 million charge in 2003 to settle a dispute with a vendor as further
described in the section below entitled “Unusual Items.” '

2003 Compared to 2002
Statements of Operations
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)
Increase
Amount (Decrease) % of Revenue
2003 2002 $ % 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)
Revenue ...........coiiiiiiiiiiniii .. $1,2139 $1,1603 53.6 46 1000 100.0
Costofrevenue ..............cooviiiviunnn. 693.8 6542  39.6 6.0 572 564
SGE&AEXPENSE ... vvvviiiciiicii i 3651 - 3538 113 31 301 305
R&Dexpense.........covviiviiiinianenn.. 19.4 15.0 44 295 1.6 1.3
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments .......... (14.7) (73.3) 586 (80.0) (1.2) (6.3)
Other expense (income). ..................... (2.5) 331 (356) NM (02) 29
Interest (income)..........c.oooiii .. (2.0) 21y 01 (4 02 (02
Interestexpense. .........cooiiiiii i, 4.6 63 (1.7) (26.5) 0.4 0.5
Total costs and expenses ... .. e 1,063.7 987.0  76.7 78 876 851
Earnings before income taxes................. 150.2 1733 (23.1) (133) 124 149
INCOME tAXES o .vvvreenrneanerannn. e , 51.4 61.8 (104) (16.8) 42 53
Netearnings. .. .....ooveenvninerennnannn. .. % 988 $ 1115 (127) (11.3) 81 9.6
Diluted earnings per common share ........... $ 066 $ 074 (0.08) (10.8) NM NM

Consolidated Results—Overview

The following factors, which significantly influenced the revenue and profitability performances of our
business segments in 2003, are discussed in the following section of this discussion entitled “Business
Segment Results.”

e Lower yields on invested customer funds

¢ Gains and losses on interest rate derivative instruments

Contributions from businesses acquired for HRS in 2002

Impact of currency rate changes on HRS international results of operations

Growth in Comdata’s retail cards in use and processing

New customers and service offerings in both business segments




» Hrgher levels of HRS invested customer funds
.. Acceleratlon of annual W-2 processing, delrvery and billing begmmng in December 2003
. Lower sales of equipment and permitting services by Comdata

K Increased expenses related to technology support

(Gam) loss on derivative instruments included both realized garns or losses from cash settlements and
unrealized gains or losses from revaluation of the future expected cash flows associated with these
1nstruments over their remaining terms. The valuation of the interest rate derivative instruments is based
upon future expected interest rates as determined from LIBOR futures prices in effect at the end of the
reportrng year. The valuation of fuel price derivative instruments is based on a national average of diesel
fuel purchase transactrons involving Comdata customers correlated with the U.S. Department of Energy
national average: prrce for diesel fuel. The gains and losses from derivative instruments are discussed in the
followrng sectron entrtled “Business Segment Results

Qur 2003 interest income decreased by $0.1 million compared to 2002 as the benefit of a higher
average level of cash and equivalents was more than offset by lower interest rates.

Our 2003 total financing cost for debt obligations declined by $1.8 million compared to 2002 as a
result of a lower level of outstanding debt and lower interest rates. This decrease included a $1.7 million
decrease in interest expense and a $0.1 million decrease in capitalized interest. Our average outstanding
borrowings under U.S. credit facilities decreased from $207.3 million for 2002 to $174.5 million for 2003.
Our average effective interest rate on these facilities declined from 3.04% for 2002 to 2.64% for 2003. A
further discussion of our financing arrangements can be found in Note K, “Financing” and in the Cash
Flows sections of this dlscussron entitled “Cash Flows—Financing Activities” and “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” \

Income taxes decreased by $10.4 million from 2002 to 2003 due largely to the decrease in earnings
before i mcome taxes ‘The reported effective tax rate decreased to 34. 2% for 2003 from 35. 7% for 2002.

Business: Segment Results

Segment Comparisons
(Dollars in miilions)

Increase
Amount (Decrease) % of Revenue

2003 2002 $ 3 2003 2002

(restated) (restated)

Revenue :

HRS................ e e $ 8942 § 8473 469 55 73.7 73.0
Comdata......... e 1 319.7 313.0 6.7 21 1263 27.0
Total \........ e e e $1,213.9 $1,160.3 * 53.6 4.6 100.0 100.0

Earmngs before interest and taxes ‘ S
HRS.. e e e $ 485 § 819 (334) (40.7) 5.4 9.7
Comdata............... e e 104.3 91.5 . 128 141 32,6 29.2
Other..;......‘...‘.;.{L.; ...................... o — 41 (41) NM NM NM
Total ..... SRR ST $ 1528 § 1775 . (247) (139) 126 15.3

We measure the fmancral performance of our business segments by reference to earnings before
interest and taxes srnce consohdated interest income and interest expense are not allocated to those
segments R
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HRS. The increase of $46.9 million in HRS revenue in 2003 compared to 2002 reflected increases of
$31.9 million from U.S. operations, $14.3 million from Ceridian Canada and $0.7 million from Ceridian
Centrefile. Businesses acquired during 2002 contributed $18.2 million of post-acquisition revenue growth
to U.S. operations in 2003. The accelerated processing, delivery and billing of 2003 W-2 forms in
December 2003, described in the section entitled “Management’s Summary” earlier in this discussion,
contributed $9.2 million to the revenue increase from U.S. operations. Strengthening of the Canadian
dollar and British pound sterling against the U.S. dollar added $19.7 million to 2003 revenue for our
international operations.

Revenue from the return on invested customer funds decreased by $2.4 million in 2003 with the
benefit of a higher average invested balance contributing $7.6 million while a lower average yield reduced
revenue by $10.0 million. The average balance of invested customer funds increased by $214.0 million, or
11.1%, to $2,145.9 million in 2003 from $1,931.9 million in 2002 largely due to growth in a new direct
deposit payroll service and the effect of the strengthening Canadian dollar on Ceridian Canada invested
customer funds. The average yield on invested customer funds declined to 2.90% in 2003 from 3.34% in
2002.

Revenue from U.S. operations benefited in 2003 from increases of $18.8 million in payroll and tax
filing services, $11.1 million in benefits services revenue and $2.0 million from LifeWorks. In addition to a
decrease of $5.5 million in the return on invested customer funds and $9.2 million of additional W-2
revenue, the 2003 increase in payroll and tax filing revenue included an additional $17.2 million from net
additions of customers receiving repetitive services and growth in sales of add-on services. The net benefit
to payroll and tax filing revenue from price increases in 2003 amounted to $5.3 million. Employee
populations for our continuing customers declined about 1% from the 2002 level, reducing payroll and tax
filing revenue by $8.0 million in 2003. The $11.1 million increase in benefits services revenue in 2003
substantially related to the contribution of Great Lakes Strategies, a business that we acquired in
December 2002. The $2.0 million increase in LifeWorks revenue reflected an additional $6.1 million from
the commencement of service deliveries during the last half of 2003 under a U.S. Department of Defense
contract, which largely offset the revenue decrease from customer losses.

Ceridian Canada revenue increased by $14.3 million in U.S. dollar terms in 2003 and by $1.9 million
without regard to changes in currency exchange rates. Increased revenue at Ceridian Canada from small
business customers, add-on services and employee assistance services more than offset the decrease in
revenue resulting from a reduced number of customer employees. Ceridian Centrefile reported $0.7
million more revenue in 2003 in U.S. dollar terms. Without regard to currency changes, Ceridian
Centrefile revenue declined by $6.6 million in 2003. Major factors contributing to Ceridian Centrefile’s
revenue decline included 2002 non-repetitive services for a major customer that was not replaced, lower
levels of customer employees, and slippage of installations from late 2003 to 2004.

HRS costs and expenses, excluding net interest, increased by $80.3 million in 2003 compared to 2002
including a $57.9 million reduction in the gains from our interest rate derivative instruments, a net
reduction in other expense (income) of $29.4 million and an increase in other costs and expenses of $51.8
million.

The reduction of $57.9 million in gains from interest rate derivative instruments in 2003 compared to
2002 included an increase in realized gains of $4.9 million from cash settiements and a decrease in
unrealized gains of $62.8 million from revaluation of the future expected benefit from these instruments
over their remaining terms.

Other expense (income) for HRS in 2002 included unusual items that resulted in a net expense of
$25.0 million that included write-downs of marketable securities and software, severance and other exit
costs. We discuss these items in a section of this discussion entitled “Unusual Items.” In 2003, HRS other
expense (income) reflects income of $4.4 million largely from a net gain from the sale of marketable
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securities and land not used in our business. Factors generally affecting the comparison of 2003 HRS costs
and expenses to 2002 included costs associated with businesses acquired in 2002, the effect of currency
exchange rate changes'in 2003, and hrgher 2003 employee beneﬁt costs and software development expense,
including SourceWeb. . ‘ :

Cost of revenue for HRS increased by $34.5 million in 2003. In U.S. operations, cost of revenue
increased by $26.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002. Cost of revenue for U.S. payroll and tax filing
operations increased by $24.8 million due largely to higher costs associated with the introduction and
continued development of internally developed software. Costs associated with the development and
implementation of the 2003 offering of SourceWeb added $16.0 million to cost of revenue. Other
technology support and implementation costs added $12.3 million, to cost of revenue in 2003 compared to
2002: Acqursrtrons completed in 2002 added $4.4 mrlhon Lower productron and supplies costs and external
contract and consultmg costs reduced cost of revenue by $7.9 million. The acceleration of 2003 W-2
revenue into December 2003 did not have a material effect on the cost of revenue comparison, since the
timing of i mcurrence of related costs was largely unaffected. Cost of revenue for benefits servrces increased
by $2.1 m11110n The additional cost of revenue for Great Lakes Strategies, acquired in December 2002, and
the unpact of staff increases were offset in part by a reduction of external consulting costs incurred in
connection with the transfer of certain bernefits services operations begun in 2002 and completed in 2003.
Cost of revenue for ereWorks decreased by $0.5 mrlhon in 2003 prrmarrly due to staff reductions.

Cost-of revenue in Ceridian Canada operations increased by $4.1 million in 2003 as currency exchange
rate changes added $6.4 million to the 2003 amount. Without regard to the currency effect, Ceridian
Canada cost of revenue declined by $2.3 million due to changes in services mix and cost reduction efforts,
particularly in the last, half of 2003. Cost of revenue in Ceridian Centrefile operations increased by $4.0
million as currency exchange rate changes added $3.4 million, whilé the remaining increase was primarily
the result of revenue growth and geographic market expansion.

The 2003 iricrease in SG&A expense for HRS amounted to $13.5 million over the 2002 amount.
Selling expense in HRS grew by $7.0 million in 2003 of which $1.5 million occurred in U.S. operations and
$5.5 million in international operations. The increase of $1.5 million in U.S. operations primarily related to
incremental costs associated with businesses acquired in 2002. The $5.5 million increase in selling expense
for Ceridian Canada and Ceridian Centrefile operations included a $1.7 million impact from currency
exchange rate changes and $3.8 million related in large part to increased marketing efforts and small
business development.

General and administrative expense for HRS increased in 2003 over 2002 by $6.5 million including
increases of $3.1 million for U.S. operations and $3.4 million for Ceridian Canada and Ceridian Centrefile
operations. The $3.1 million increase for U.S. operations resulted primarily from an increase in allocated
expenses of $9.3 million for pensions and other employee benefit programs, which more than offset the
effects of staff reductions and reduced provisions for incentive payouts in 2003. The $2.2 million increase
for Cerldran Canada included $2.4 million related to currency exchange rate changes and the $1.2 million
mcrease for Cerrdran Centreflle included $2.4 million for currency exchange rate changes.

R&D expense for HRS in 2003 increased by $3.8 million compared to 2002 due to a higher level of
software deyeloprnent efforts in U.S. operations.

‘Comdata. Comdata revenue increased by $6.7 million in 2003 compared to 2002 as revenue from
retail services grew significantly and improving general economic conditions began to benefit
transportation revenue performance. Revenue from retail services increased by $14.8 million in 2003 over
2002 due to a higher level of cards in use, greater transaction volume and the addition of new customers.
Revenue in the over-thé-road business in 2003 increased by $1.5 million compared to 2002 as additional
revenue from card services more than offset the effect of lower revenue from fuel transactions. Revenue
from sales of equipment to truck stops decreased by $6.6 million in 2003 and truck stop service fees
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decreased by $0.7 million. Business fleet revenue grew by $2.8 miilion in 2003 over 2002 as major local
fueling customers increased their utilization of Comdata products and services. Phone services revenue
declined by $2.9 million in 2003. Regulatory compliance revenue, including permitting and pilot services,
declined by $2.0 million compared to 2002 as cooperative efforts by permit issuers continued to reduce the
volume of transactions.

Comdata costs and expenses, excluding net interest, decreased by $6.1 million in 2003 compared to
2002. Cost of revenue increased by $5.1 million in 2003. Costs related to SVS card sales and processing
increased by $9.2 million. The change in cost of revenue included a $4.1 million reduction for equipment
sales to truck stops and an increase in bank fees of $1.7 million.

Comdata SG&A expense decreased by $1.8 million in 2003 compared to 2002. The decrease related
primarily to a reduction of $4.3 million in the provision for doubtful accounts and $3.7 million due to the
conclusion of certain contracted services and amortization on certain intangible assets in late 2002. The
reduction in the provision for doubtful accounts reflected continued improvement in the quality of
receivables in 2003 and a bankruptcy filing by a major customer in 2002, These decreases were offset in
part by higher compensation and benefits expense including $3.9 million of allocated corporate costs
related to increased employee benefits costs. The loss on fuel derivative instruments in 2003 was $0.8
million. Comdata held no derivative instruments in 2002. Other expense (income) decreased by
$11.0 million in 2003 due primarily to the 2002 factoring receivables loss of $9.8 million and a
September 2003 payment of $1.9 million to settle a dispute with a vendor. These costs are further
described in the section below entitled “Unusual Items.”

Other. The reported other income of $4.1 million for 2002 results from reduction of a previously
established accrual for environmental cleanup, based on a periodic review that took place in the first
quarter of 2002.




Unusual Items

The comparison of our earnings from continuing operatlons is significantly affected by a number of
unusual events and transactions. We also have presented information on this subject in the Notes to our
Consohdated Financial Statements including Note D, “Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations.”

Unusual Losses (Gams or Recovenes)
(Dollars in millions) '

Years Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002

By transaction typé'."

SourceWeb exit'costs, net of recoveries ...............: S $285 $§ — § —
Litigation and contract settlement COStS . .. .... .. v.iivuivieresseineeinnns — 1.9 0.8.
Gainonsale 0f assets ... .. .oovuii i iiiiiiieniinns D - (0.6) (1.6) —_
(Gain) loss on marketable securities . ............... S N 45 (34 6.3
Accrued exit costs, net of recoveries . ............... e SRR 0.3 — 135
Factoring receivablesloss ..................oo.oL, e e — — 9.8
Asset write-downs . ... .. P [ PR e 3.6 — 7.3
Reduction 1h environmental accrual . ................. e e — — (4.1)
Total unusual losses reported in other expense (income) ..................... $273 $(3.1) $33.6
Acceleration of trademark amortization (SG&A expense) e i 40.9 — —
Total unusual losses (gams O TECOVETIes). . .o .ovvu ... FURT e $682 . $(3.1) $33.6
By segment Co ) : ‘ o : 3
HRS....,....... e e e $67.9 $(5.0) $25.0
Comdata........ e S frerieen 03 19 127
Other............oooiin, PP e — — (4D
Total unusual los‘ses“(gains OF TECOVETIES). . ..ot [P $68.2 $(3.1) $33.6

SourceWeb extt costs, net of recoveries

" On December 31 2004 we sold the SourceWeb Assets to RSM for $4.0 mlllron pursuant to the terms
and condmons of an' Asset Purchase Agreement. In accordance with the provisions of Statement of ‘
Findncial Accountmg Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” we recorded a $9.1 million pre-tax impairment charge on assets associated with this platform
representing the excess of net book value of the SourceWeb Assets over sale proceeds. The impaired assets
pnmanly cons1sted ofa purchased software license from Ultrmate and capitalized software development
costs. In’ addmon to’ tlns asset impairment, we also recorded a $19.4 million pre-tax loss on disposal which
comprlsed the fair value'of the future minimum royalty obllgatlons to Ultlmate of $19.2 million and $0.2
million of employee severance Costs.

SourceWeb was a payroll platform within the small business division of our HRS business segment.
Pursuant to the terrns of the Asset Purchase Agreement, we agreed to provide certain transitional and
third party servrces to RSM for up to mne months from December 31, 2004.

ngatxon and contract settlement costs

During the thrrd quarter of 2003, Comdata paid $1.9 million to settle out of court with a former
vendor. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we also recorded $0 8 million of other unusual costs in HRS for a
litigation settlement «

35




(Gain) loss on marketable securities

During 2004, we sold 193,289 common shares of Ultimate for proceeds of $2.4 million and a net gain
of $1.6 million. Also in 2004, we sold 582,758 common shares of USIH for proceeds of $8.7 million and a
net gain of $2.9 million.

During September 2003, we sold 785,000 common shares of Ultimate for proceeds of $5.9 million and
a net gain of $3.0 million. In addition, we sold 137,158 common shares of USIH for proceeds of $1.8
million and a net gain of $0.4 million. We further describe these transactions in Note H, “Investing
Activity.”

During the fourth quarter of 2002, HRS recorded a $6.3 million write-down of the carrying value of
certain marketable equity securities. The investment write-down related primarily to our December 2001
cost-based investment in preferred stock of USIH, which was converted to common stock as a result of an
initial public offering in October 2002.

Accrued exit costs, net of recoveries

. During the third quarter of 2004, we announced a shut-down of a Comdata facility that resulted in
accrued exit costs of $0.3 million of which $0.2 miltion was for severance and $0.1 million was related to the
lease of the facility.

During the first quarter of 2002, we announced two separate series of actions intended to consolidate
certain operations in each of our business segments and recorded accrued exit costs of $9.0 million. A plan
to consolidate certain HRS payroll and tax filing processing services, previously conducted in 25 district
offices, into four regional processing centers resulted in the accrual of $7.5 million for exit costs. Of the
$7.5 million accrual, $5.3 million related to severance costs for 317 employees all of whom were terminated
by December 31, 2002, and $2.2 million represented other exit costs, primarily related to lease
terminations: Consolidation of certain Comdata facilities resulted in accrued severance costs of $1.0
million for 76 employees, all of whom were terminated by December 31, 2003, and other exit costs of $0.5
million, primarily related to lease terminations.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, we reviewed the status of accrued exit costs and revised the estimated
amounts to reduce the severance cost provisions made in prior years by $1.4 million. The revisions by HRS
included $0.8 million related to provisions recorded in the first quarter of 2002 and $0.3 million recorded
in the first quarter of 2000. The revisions by Comdata amounted to $0.3 million related to provisions
recorded in the first quarter of 2002. We also incurred additional expense in HRS for severance costs of
$1.3 million, involving 81 employees, and other exit costs of $2.9 million and in Comdata for severance
costs of $0.6 million, involving 41 employees, and other exit costs of $1.1 million. We paid all of the
additional HRS severance costs during the fourth quarter of 2002. The other exit costs largely represented
lease commitments, net of expected recoveries.

Facrtoring receivables loss

During the third quarter of 2002, we examined purchases of receivables from a certain trucking
company by Comdata’s factoring business that had grown rapidly during 2002 and found that the debtors
could not be verified. In the meantime, the parties that had sold us the receivables declared bankruptcy.
We recorded the full amount of the loss of $9.8 million, including $0.3 million of investigative costs
incurred. Due to the unusual and non-recurring nature of the loss, we have reported the loss as other
expense (income). We also made certain modifications to our policies and procedures related to the
factoring business.
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Asset write-downs

In January 2004, we committed to the internal development of a replacement for our LifeWorks
customer management system as a result of the failure of an external contractor to meet our requirements
for such a project. We recorded an asset write-down of $2.3 million in the first quarter of 2004 representing
the carrying value of the capitalized software related to the work performed by the external contractor that
was abandoned and determined to have no future value to us. In addition, during the fourth quarter of
2004, we recorded an asset write-down of $0.9 million due to an rmpalrrnent of an internally developed
software product in HRS. :

HRS recorded a$4.9 mrlhon asset write-down of internally developed software costs in the first
quarter of 2002 as a result of the February 2002 acceptance of the software technology provided under a
March 2001 agreement with Ultimate further described in Note L, “Commitments and Contingencies.” An
addmonal software asset write-down of $0.6 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2002. Also in
the fourth quarter of 2002, HRS recorded a $1.5 million write-down of the carrying values of certain cost-
based 1nvestments and wrote off the $0.3 million carrying value of an abandoned software product

i
Reduction in environmental accrual

During the first quarter of 2002, we conducted a periodic reassessment of our environmental
obligation. This obligation relates to the 1989 sale by our predecessor (Control Data Corporation) of its
disk drive operations, which involved remediable environmental sites. The sale agreement provided terms
describing how remedial costs related to remediable environmental sites would be shared between the
buyer and us as the seller. The terms of the agreement included periodic joint reviews of the obligation by
the buyer and us. Our obligations covered only those sites identified prior to the fifth anniversary of the
sale. At the time of the sale, we established an accrual for our estimated costs that might occur as a result
of this agreement During the first 10 years following the sale, both parties incurred significant costs, which
then began to decrease as these sites entered a water extraction and monitoring stage. During the first
quarter of 2002 we participated in a periodic review of the status of this obligation with the environmental
officer of the buyer. A site visit was made by our environmental representative at that time, and it was
determined ‘that'our estimated liability was $4.1 million less than previously determined. The excess accrual
was then credited back to earnings as a component of other expense (income).

Acceleration of trademark amortization

In March 2005 we discovered that the CobraServ trademark capitalized as part of a 1999 acquisition
of our HRS: benefrts services business was no longer being used. This discovery caused us to restate the
amortization expense in our consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of 2004 as
discussed in Note_B “Restatement of Financial Statements.” It was determined that the decision to
abandon the CobraServ trademark was made in January 2004 and to stop use of the CobraServ trademark
in December 2004. As part of this abandonment, the scheduled amortization expense for 2005 and future
years of $40.9 million was accelerated and amortized ratably durmg 2004 as a change in accounting
estimate under APB No 20 “Accounting Changes.”

AR
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Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Balance Sheet Comparisons
{(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Amount Inc¢ (Dec) % of Total
Dec Dec Dec Dec
2004 2003 $ % 2004 2003
: (restated)
Cashandequivalents .............ccoveennn.. $ 2207 § 1242 96.5 777 268 184
Receivables,net. . ........coviiiiiiiiiiia, 505.7 467.3 38.4 8.2 61.4 69.1
Othercurrent assetS . ....ovvieiieenrennrnnns 97.6 84.5 13.1 15.5 11.8 12.5
Total current assets. . ...cvvviiinerrnnnrenns $ 8240 $ 676.0 148.0 21.9 100.0 100.0
Capital assets.. .. .. et $1,192.0 $1,243.0 (51.0) (41) 926 91.9
Investments, including derivatives ............ 44.5 78.6 (34.1) (434) 35 5.8
Other noncurrent assets. ........ovvevvvvnn.. 50.4 30.5 19.9 65.2 3.9 2.3
Total noncurrent assets ...........ovvvevenns $1,286.9 $1,352.1 (652) (4.8) 1000 1000
Total operating assets. . ......c.oveveennuennn. $2,110.9 $2,028.1 82.8 4.1 340 391
Customerfunds..............ccoovvvinnn... 4,096.0 3,152.7 943.3 29.9 66.0 60.9
Total asSets. o vv v v it e $6,206.9 $5,180.8 1,026.1 19.8 100.0 100.0
Currentdebt. ... $ 149 $ 6.5 84 129.2 3.1 1.7
Drafts and settlements payable............... 153.4 113.7 39.7 349 320 305
Other current liabilities ..................... 310.7 253.2 57.5 227 649 67.8
Total current liabilities. . .................... $ 4790 § 3734 105.6 283 100.0 100.0
Noncurrentdebt .............ccovvuinine... $ 858 § 1570 (71.2) (45.4) 235 383
Employee benefit plans ....... e 208.4 196.0 124 63 571 . 479
Other noncurrent liabilities. ................. 70.8 56.5 14.3 25.3 194 13.8
Total noncurrent liabilities .................. $ 3650 § 4095 (44.5) (10.9) 100.0 100.0
Total operating liabilities. ................... $ 8440 § 7829 61.1 7.8 13.6 15.1
Customer funds obligations. ................. 4,067.2 3,152.7 914.5 29.0 65.5 60.9
Stockholders’equity ........... .ot 1,295.7 1,245.2 50.5 4.1 20.9 24.0
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. . ... .. $6,206.9 $5,180.8 1,026.1 19.8 1000 100.0
TotalDebt ... $ 1007 $ 1635 (62.8) (38.4) 7.2 11.6
Stockholders’ Equity.............ocoviuntt. 1,295.7  1,245.2 50.5 41 928 884
Total Capitalization ............cccevevnnnn. $1,396.4 $1,408.7 (123)  (0.9) 1000 1000

Our consolidated balance sheets reflect operating assets and liabilities, as well as assets and liabilities
related to customer funds. Customer funds assets arise from amounts that our customers have advanced to
us to pay their employees, remit to taxing authorities, or pay for benefits services to other third parties.
Customer funds obligations represent our liability to pay the amounts due to these third parties on behalf
of our customers. Customer funds assets are held substantially in trust accounts, are invested in
high-quality short-term investments or highly-rated fixed income securities and are not utilized in our
operations except for earnings from these investments that are included in our revenue. Additional
information on customer funds assets and liabilities can be found in Note M, “Customer Funds.”

Our operating assets increased by $82.8 million during 2004 as current assets increased by $148.0
million and noncurrent assets decreased by $635.2 million. Qur current assets increase was due primarily to
increases of $96.5 million in cash and equivalents and $38.4 million in receivables. The increase in cash and
equivalents reflected to some extent our decision to suspend repurchases of our common stock during the
last half of 2004. The increase in receivables is largely related to Comdata and reflects the impact of higher
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fuel prices, which more than offset the benefit of improved collection results. We discuss changes in cash
and equivalents in a following section of this discussion entitled “Cash Flows.” Our noncurrent assets
decreased by ; $65.2 million as the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets declined by $31.1
million and- investments (rncludlng derivatives) declined by $34.1 million. The decrease in goodwill and
other intangible assets included a reduction of $40.9 million related to our decision to phase out the use of
the CobraServ trademark during 2004 as further discussed in Note B, “Restatement of Financial
Statements” and Note G, “Capital Assets.” The decrease in the carrying value of investments reflected
both the disposition of equity securities as well as settlements and revaluation of derivative instruments. As
described in Note H, “Investing Activity—Interest Rate Contracts,” we disposed of our interest rate
derivative instruments in February 2005. While the customer.funds assets balance on December 31, 2004
was $943.3 million higher than the balance on December 31, 2003, the average invested balance for the
year 2004 was $288.2 million higher than for the year 2003. The higher average balance largely reflected
1ncreasmg acceptance of our direct deposit payroll service and higher levels of customer tax obligations.

Current liabilities increased by $105.6 million during 2004 as current debt increased by $8.4 million
and Comdata drafts and settlements payable increased by $39.7 million. Higher trade accounts payable and
deferred income, related primarily to Comdata retail services, represented most of the remaining increase.
The increase in current debt largely represents drawings by Ceridian Centrefile on its bank overdraft
facility. The decrease of $44.5 million in noncurrent liabilities includes a reduction in borrowings under our
Comdata receivables securitization facility of $65.0 million, as well as an increase in the noncurrent portion
of deférred income. Customer funds obligations increased by $914.5 million together with the increase in
customer funds assets, without regard to unrealized gains added to the assets as a result of revaluing these
securities at market prices: The increase of $50:5 million in stockholders’ equity includes net earnings of
$36.9 million, unrealized gains from customer funds and marketable:securities of $18.2 million and
currency translation of $22.9 million, further increased by $58.6 million from employee stock plans and
reduced by $80.3 million representing the cost of reacquired Cerrdran common shares held as treasury
stock and a:pension lrabrlrty adjustment of $5.8 million.. : ‘

Cash Flows. ‘ o , o T
‘ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Highlights
A (Dollars in millions)
. y Yeerrs ended December 31,

o o B 2004 2003 2002
Operating actrv1t1es ............................... Sl 82529 §566 0 $ 1374
INVESHNG ACHVILIES. . . . ..ottt e e e ee e e e i (68.4) (34.4) (104.4)
Financing activities.. . ............ ..o ST O St (93.5) (37.5) (15.1)
Effect of exchangé rate on cash and-equivalents.. ... . e e o 5.5 . 5.2 0.2
Net cash flows provided (used)... ... e T vee. $965 $(101) $ 181
Cash and equivalents at end of year. ... ............ Lol $2207 81242 8§ 1343
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Reconciliation of Earnings to Cash Inflows (Outflows) from Operating Activities
(Dollars in millions)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(restated) (restated)
NEt CAIMINES . vttt et ettt e et e e iaas $ 369 § 988 $111.5
Deferred income tax provision (benefit). ............... ... L (19.8) 342 247
Depreciation and amortization. .. .........oiiii i 124.7 79.3 75.8
Provision for doubtful accounts .................. ..o 9.7 11.2 17.0
SourceWeb exit costs, net Of FECOVETIES ... vvvie i in it 28.5 — —
ASSEt WITEE-AOWINS .« 4« vt e 3.6 — 7.3
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments ................... 28.0 15.7 (47.1)
(Gain) loss on marketable securities . ...l (4.5 (3.4) 6.3
Contribution to retirement plan trusts ............c.ooiiiiia .y — (105.5) (3.3)
131> o 6.5 7.0 {10.4)
From earnings ............... S 213.6 137.3 181.8
From working capital activities. ... 39.3 (80.7) (44.4)
Cash flows provided by operating activities ........................ $2529 § 56.6 $137.4

Cash Balances and Operating Activities

During 2004, our cash and equivalents increased by $96.5 million to $220.7 million as we used
operating cash flows and cash balances to fund investing activities, repay debt and repurchase stock. In
2003, our cash and equivalents decreased by $10.1 million due largely to operating activities. The cash
flows from operating activities for 2003 included payments of $105.5 million for employer contributions to
our pension plans for employees in the U.S. and the United Kingdom. In 2002, our cash and equivalents
increased by $18.1 million to $134.3 million as cash flows from operating activities provided funds for
investing and to reduce debt.

Our operating cash flows increased $196.3 million during 2004 as compared to 2003 due mostly to
pension contributions of $105.5 million in 2003 and an increase in working capital activities of $120.0
million due mostly to an increase in accrued taxes, accounts payable and drafts settlements payable.
Although the impact of the change in receivables changed little in the comparative periods, a Comdata
effort to improve receivables management and collection processes contributed significantly to 2004
operating cash flows compared to 2003. This increase was more than offset by the effect of rising fuel
prices included in Comdata receivables.

During 2003, our operating cash flows were $56.6 million compared to $137.4 million in 2002. This
decrease of $80.8 million was due mostly to an increase in pension contributions of $102.2 million. When
comparing the working capital cash flows for 2003 and 2002, the $36.3 million additional cash usage is
largely due to decreases in accrued taxes and Comdata drafts and settlements payable.

Investing Activities

Our net cash outflows from investing activities amounted to $68.4 million in 2004, $34.4 million in
2003 and $104.4 million in 2002 as set forth in the following table.

2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)
Capital eXpenditures. .. .. o.vuenter ettt erieiananens $(66.2) $(57.5) § (54.6)
Acquisitions of investments and businesses..................... (19.3) 1.7 (50.3)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets.................... 17.1 24.8 0.5
Net cash inflows (outflows)........ ... .o, $(68.4) $(34.4) $(104.4)
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. During 2004, our capital expenditures included $32.9 million for property and equipment and $33.3
million forsoftware and-development costs. Our expenditures for acquisitions of investments and
businesses (net ofcash acquired) amounted to $19.3 million with the HRS acquisition of Recruiting
Solutions, Inc,; a: provrder of web-based recruiting products, for $11.0 million and the Comdata acquisition
of Datamark Technologres Inc., a provider of stored value and customer loyalty programs, for $4.1 million.
Our proceeds fromssales of businesses and assets amounted to $17.1 million and consisted largely of $8.7
million from the sale of 582,758 common shares of U.S.I. Holdings Corporation (“USIH”), $2.4 million
from the sale of 193 289 common shares of Ultimate and $4.0 million from the sale of the SourceWeb
Assets. . . E ‘

Our 2003 investing activities 1ncluded capltal expenditures of $30. 5 mrlhon for property and
equipment and $27.0 million for software and development costs. In March 2003, we spent $3.0 million to
acquite 750,000 shares.and a warrant to purchase an additional 75,000 shares of Ultimate. During
September, 2003, we sold 785,000 Ultimate common shares purchased on the open market in years prior to
2003 for $5 9 mrlhon and, 137,158 common shares of USIH for $1.8 million. Also during 2003, we received
$1.4 m11110n returned from an earn-out escrow related to the acquisition of GLS Benefits Services LLC, a
benefits admmrstratlon outsourcing, flrm (“Great Lakes Strategies”) in 2002, $12.1 million for assets sold
relative to, two' sale leaseback transactions, and $4.3 million for sale. of land not used in our businesses.

Durmg-2002,7 our investment in‘capital expenditures included $31.1 million for property and
equipment ‘and $23.5 million for software and development costs. The software development costs
included $4.7 million for development of SourceWeb. During 2002, we also spent $15.6 million to acquire
SYLINQ Corporation (“SYLINQ”), $8.9 million for HR Comply, $19.0 million for Great Lakes Strategies
and a total of $6.8 million for other acquisitions. We described these transactions further in Note H,
“Investm g Actrvrty

Fi mancmg Actzvzttes

Our net cash outflows from fmancmg activities amounted to $93 5 mlllron in 2004, $37.5 million in
2003 and $15 1 million in 2002 as set forth in the following table. °

s 2004 2003 2002
Lo L . ‘ (dollars in millions)
Revolvmg cred1t facilities and overdrafts,net .................... $(59.6) $(49.6) $(44.6)
Repayment of otherdebt...................... R, 4.1 (1.4) —
Repurchase Of COMMON SEOCK. . ..o vt evie e iee e anns, (80.3) (28.8) (5.4)
Proceeds from stock option exercises and stock sales ........... - 50.5 42.3 34.9

Net cash 1r1ﬂpws (OUEFLOWS) e oot e $(93.5) $(37.5) $(15.1)

Eoag ' o

Ouir financing activities for 2004 included the repurchase of 4,012,400 shares of our common stock for
$80.3'million on the‘ open:market at an average net price of $20.01 per share. We also received proceeds of
$50.5 mrllron for'exercises of stock options and employee stock plan purchases. Also during 2004, we paid
$65.0 million on our Comdata receivable securitization facility. At December 31, 2004, under our $350.0
million domestic revolving credit facility, we had $347.5 million of unused borrowing capacity. Of that
amount; we have designated $75.0 million as backup for the amount outstanding under the Comdata
Teceivables. securrtrzatron facility, which leaves $272.7 million available for other purposes.

During 2003, we repurchased 1,844,100 shares of our common stock for $28.8 million on the open
market at an'average net price of $15.60 per share. Proceeds from exercises of stock options and employee
stock plan:purchases amounted to $42.3 million during 2003 compared to $34.9 million in 2002. Also
during 2003, we entered into two capital lease arrangements resulting in an obligation of $22.2 million to -
be paid over a 60-month period. We also reduced our borrowings under our domestic revolving credit
facility by $40.0 million and our Comdata receivable securitization facility by $10.0 million.
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In June 2002, Comdata entered into a $150.0 million receivables securitization facility. The facility has
up to a three-year term and uses certain of Comdata’s trade receivables as collateral for borrowings. At
December 31, 2002, $150.0 million had been drawn against and remained outstanding under this facility.
We used those proceeds and additional payments of $45.0 million to reduce borrowings under our $350.0
million revolving credit facility to $40.0 million at the end of 2002. Proceeds from exercises of stock options
and employee stock plan purchases during 2002 amounted to $34.9 million. We purchased 393,000 shares
of our common stock on the open market during the last half of 2002 for $5.4 million at an average price,
including commissions, of $13.74 per share.

For further information on financing cash flows, see Note K, “Financing” and the following section of
this discussion entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to meet our liquidity needs from existing cash balances, cash flows from operations and
borrowings under external credit facilities. Cash balances and cash flows are discussed under the section of
this discussion entitled “Cash Flows.” Cash flows from operations are primarily influenced by the same
factors that influence revenue as discussed in a préceding section of this discussion entitled “Results of
Operations” and in several of the items in the following section entitled “Cautionary Factors That Could
Affect Future Results.” Cautionary factors of particular relevance include those that refer to the effects of
government regulations on such matters as the timing of tax payments, interest rates, employee benefits,
and funds transfer activities; our ability to attract new customers and retain our existing customers; and
general economic conditions.

At December 31, 2004, our committed credit arrangements included a domestic revolving credit
facility that provides up to $350.0 million for a combination of advances of which up to $50.0 million can be
used for letters of credit until March 2006. In addition at December 31, 2004, we had a $150.0 million
receivables securitization facility with a term ending in June 2005, which uses selected Comdata trade
receivables as collateral for borrowing. In May 2004, Ceridian Centrefile replaced its £3.0 million overdraft
facility with a £6.5 million overdraft facility available through April 2005.

As of December 31, 2004, we have unused borrowing capacity under the $350.0 million revolving
credit facility amounting to $347.5 million of which we have designated $75.0 million as backup for the
amount outstanding at that date under the Comdata receivables securitization facility. The interest rate for
borrowings under the revolving credit facility is 1% per annum over LIBOR, subject to change based on
our senior unsecured debt ratings. The revolving credit facility contains certain covenants that require that
our consolidated debt must not exceed our stockholders’ equity, as defined in the agreement, as of the end
of any quarter, and the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense on a rolling four
quarter basis to be at least 2.75 to 1 and also limit liens, subsidiary debt, contingent obligations, operating
leases, minority equity investments and divestitures, among other things. In late 2004 and early 2005, we
amended our domestic revolving credit facility to allow additional time to deliver our quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q for the second and third quarters of 2004 and this Form 10-K to our lenders without the
delayed delivery constituting a default under this agreement. We have also further amended this
agreement to apply the provisions with respect to amortization and/or impairment of goodwill as are in
effect under GAAP on March 31, 2005 for the fourth quarter 2004 and periods thereafter for the
calculation of financial ratios and other financial requirements set forth in such agreement. We are in
compliance with all covenants related to the amended credit facilities.

Our planned expenditures for capital assets in 2005 are expected to be between $80.0 million and
$85.0 million with an estimated allocation of 87% to HRS and 13% to Comdata. We also plan to continue
to grow our businesses through strategic acquisitions.
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As described in the preceding discussion of financing activities in the “Cash Flows” section of this
discussion, we have been repurchasing Ceridian common stock pursuant.to our stock repurchase program
since late 2002. We repurchased 393,000 shares in 2002 and 1,844,100 shares in 2003. In 2004, we
suspended the program in mid-year due to delays in filing our periodic SEC reports, At the time we
suspended our repurchase effort, we had repurchased 4,012,400 shares during 2004 for a total of $80.3
million. As of December 31, 2004, we were authorized to purchase up to 6,350,500 additional shares of our
common stock under the authorization from our Board of Directors. We generally use our treasury stock
to address our obligations under our stock compensation and employee stock purchase plans. We expect to
resume our é‘codk repur‘chase program following the release of first quarter 2005 results.

The table below descrlbes the annual cash payments for which we are obligated under our financing
agreements, Wthh .are reported on our balance sheet, and our operating lease agreements and significant
contractual comm1tments which are not on our balance sheet, at that date.

Lo
' Contractual Obligations at December 31, 2004
(Dollars in millions)

: Payments due by period
‘ Pl " Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
. , Total one year Years Years 3 years
Long- term debt and capxtal leases . ....ooiviiniiiin. $1007 $ 8.9 $ 90 $ 18 § —
Operatmg leases T 2942 52.7 8§74 62.6 91.5
Purchase obl1gat10ns. e e 22.9 8.2 129 .18 —
Retirement plans. e 551.0 511 1042 1096 286.1

Total ............. P $968.8 $201.9 $213.5 $175.8 $377.6

Our long‘-terrn"clebt and capital-lease obligations are described in the “Cash Flows” section of this
discussion and in Note K, “Financing.” Since we have the capability'and intention of continuing our use of
short-term borrowings under our Comdata receivables securitization facility when it matures in June 2005
and our revolving credit facility when that facility matures in 2006, the outstanding balances are reported
as noncurrent liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The table above reflects the $75.0 million due
under the Comdata receivables securitization facility according to the contractual 2005 maturity date.

We con‘dhct a'substantial portion of our operations in leased facilities. Most of these leases contain -
renewal options and require payments for taxes, insurance and maintenance. We also lease equipment for
use in our businesses. In the table above, we include our on-balance-sheet capital lease obligations with our
debt payments and our.off-balance-sheet operating lease:commitments as lease payments.

In March 2001, we entered into an agreement with Ultimate, amended in August 2001 and
February! 2002, that provrded us with a non-exclusive license to use Ultimate’s software as part of a Web-
enabled mtegrated payroll/HR/self-service offering to our small business customers. Pursuant to the
February 2002 amendment, the license agreement provided for a monthly royalty commencmg in
January 2003, wh1ch is based on the number of our customers’ employees paid by using the software and
subject to minimum and maximum amounts. The minimum obligation required monthly payments of $0.5
million per month from January 2004 until January 1, 2006, when the per-employee monthly charge
escalates at a.rate of 5% per annum until the end of the noncancelable term in March 2008, On
December 31, 2004, we sold certain customer relatlonshlps and other assets associated with our
SourceWeb payroll platform and ceased use of this contractual relationship. As of December 31, 2004 we
remained obligated to make minimum royalty payments- totaling $20.7 million, which are included in the
table above. A further description of this contract arrangement is presented in Note L, “Commitments and
Contingenciges” and a description of the sale of the SourceWeb Assets is presented in Note D
“Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations.”

43




In connection with the acquisition of certain call center assets in December 2002, we entered into
royalty and services arrangements that are noncancelable for the first 36 months. Under these
arrangements, we are obligated to make minimum payments of $2.2 million in 2005.

Our payment obligations for employee benefit plans are further described in Note I, “Retirement
Plans.”

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles requires us to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions regarding uncertainties that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Areas that require significant judgments, estimates, and
assumptions include the assignment of fair values upon acquisition of goodwill and other intangible assets
and testing for impairment, the capitalization, amortization and impairment testing of software and
development costs, the determination of our liability for pensions and other postretirement benefits, and
tax matters. We use historical experience, qualified independent consultants and all available information
to make these judgments and estimates, and actual results will inevitably differ from those estimates and
assumptions that are used to prepare the company’s financial statements at any given time. Despite these
inherent limitations, we believe that our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and consolidated financial statements and related notes provide a meaningful -
and fair perspective of our company. Further discussion of the judgments and uncertainties associated with
our business can be found in the section of this discussion entitled “Cautionary Factors That Could Affect
Future Results” and Part 11, Item 7A of this report.

Assignment of fair values upon acquisition of goodwill and other intangible assets and testing for impairment

In the event of a business combination where we are the acquiring party, we are required to assign fair
values to all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets such as customer lists,
trademarks, technology and covenants not to compete. We are also required to determine the useful life
for amortizable assets acquired. These determinations require significant judgments, estimates, and
assumptions; and, when material amounts are involved, we generally utilize the assistance of independent
valuation consultants. The remainder of the purchase cost of the acquired business not assigned to
identifiable assets or liabilities is then recorded as goodwill. Although goodwill is no longer subject to
amortization after January 1, 2002, the carrying value is subject to periodic review, at least annualily, for
impairment of that value.

We reassess the carrying value of goodwill annually, or more frequently when certain developments
occur. A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in determining the current fair
value of the reporting unit including operating cash flows, markets and market share, sales volumes and
prices, costs to produce, and working capital changes. We consider historical experience and all available
information at the time the fair values of our reporting units are estimated. However, actual fair values
that could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the impairment of
goodwill. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the reporting units to
the recorded value (including goodwill).

If the recorded value (including goodwill) of a reporting unit exceeds its current fair value, then to the
extent that the recorded value of goodwill of the reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill an impairment loss is recognized. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined
in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination is determined. That is,
the fair value of a reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities.of that reporting unit
including any unrecognized intangible assets and the excess is the implied fair value of goodwill.




We also'test long-lived assets, including other intangible assets, under the guidance of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (“FAS 144”), “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets;” whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such
an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that might indicate an
1mpa1rment of carrying value include: ‘

ea srgmfrcant decrease in the market value of the asset orasset group

a srgnlﬁcant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the asset or asset group isused or in
its physmal CO]’]d]thI’l

®a 51gn1frcant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate that could affect the value of
'the asset or asset group, including an adverse action or assessment by a regulator

e an accumulatron of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition
or constructlon of the asset or asset group

*a current-p}errod‘operatlng or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses
or-a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of the asset -
3or asset group.

-'When the need for such a test is indicated, we consider such factors as whether the amortization of the
carrying values for these assets for each operating unit can be recovered through forecasted undiscounted
cash flows over thelr remaining economic life.

T .
Capitalization, amortization and impairment testing of software and development costs

Our software and development efforts are substantially for internal use and, as indicated in Note A,
“Accounting Policies—Software and Development Costs” to our consolidated financial statements, we rely
on AICPA Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP 98-1”) for accounting guidance. Therefore, for our
modification or development efforts, we need to identify by nature and by stage of development those costs
which ‘are to be capitalized rather than charged to operations as incurred. We also need to identify the
point at Wthh the modified or developed software is ready for use, capitalization of cost will cease and
amortrzatlon of that cost will begin. Costs incurred subsequent to the ready for use date will generally be
charged to operatlons and only capitalized if Justrﬁed as a material 1rnprovement in the functionality of the
capltallzed software product. ; : ‘

With regard to the recoverability of capitalized software and development costs, we regularly perform
an assessment of our ability to recover the costs invested in these assets, The net amount of these costs
shown'on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004 was $75 7 million. The elements of
software ‘and development costs were purchased software of $23.3 miillion and internally developed
software'of'$52.4 million. These amounts represent the costs we have invested in these assets, reduced by
amortization expense charged against our earnings as the software was used in our operations and by any
write-downs as a result of our recoverability analysis. Our recoverability analysis considers projected future
cash flows from the’ utrhzatron of the underlying software in the respective components of the business.
Our pro;ectlonsof future cash flows are affected by such factors as technological change, competitive
offerings, marketplace expectations and project development. Changes in any of these factors may result in
future write-downs of the carrying value of these or other assets. The amount of the write-down, if any, is
largely dependent on our estimates of future cash flows and the selection of an appropriate discount rate.
As a result of our assessments during the past three years we recorded $3.2 million in 2004 for abandoned
software’ prOJects none in 2003 and $5.8 mrlhon in 2002 for abandoned software projects.

Determmation of our llability for pensions and other postrettrement beneﬁts

We present information about our pension and postretirement benefit plans in Note I, “Retirement
Plans” to our consolidated financial statements. The determination of the liabilities and expenses for
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pensions and other postretirement benefits are accomplished with the assistance of independent actuaries
using actuarial methodologies and incorporating significant assumptions, including the rate used to
discount the future estimated liability, the long-term rate of return on plan assets, and several assumptions
relating to the employee workforce (salary increases, medical costs, retirement age, and mortality). The
rate used to discount future estimated liabilities is determined considering the rates available at year-end
on debt instruments that could be used to settle the obligations of the plan. The impact on the liabilities of
a change in the discount rate of ¥ of 1% would be approximately $18.2 million and approximately

$0.3 million to pre-tax earnings in the following year. The long-term rate of return is estimated by
considering historical returns and expected returns on current and projected asset allocations and is
generally applied to a five-year average market value of assets. A change in the assumption for the long-
term rate of return on plan assets of ¥ of 1% would impact pre-tax earnings by approximately $1.3 million
for 2005.

Tax matters

As a company with operations in many states in the U.S. as well as in the United Kingdom and
Canada, we record an estimated liability and expense for income and other taxes based on what we
determine will likely be paid in the various tax jurisdictions in which we operate. The liabilities ultimately
realized and paid are dependent on various matters including the resolution of the tax audits in the various
affected tax jurisdictions and may differ from the amounts recorded. An adjustment to the estimated
liability would be recorded through income in the period in which it becomes probable that the amount of
the actual liability differs from the amount recorded.

Cautionary Factors That Could Affect Future Results

In connection with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, we present the cautionary statements set forth below, identifying important factors that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements made by us. You
should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information in this report. The
risks and uncertainties described below and contained in this report are not the only ones we will face.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial
may also adversely affect our businesses. If any of the risks and uncertainties develops into actual events,
our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially affected. If that happens, the
trading price of our common stock could decline significantly.

Our revenue depends in large part on our ability to retain customers.

Customer retention is an important factor in the amount and predictability of revenue and profits in
each of our businesses. Our ability to retain our customers depends on a number of factors, including:

e customer satisfaction;

¢ product and service offerings by competitors;
¢ customer service.levels;

¢ price; and

¢ customer viability.

In providing some of our services, particularly services provided by our HRS business, we incur
installation and conversion costs in connection with new customers that will need to be recovered before
the contractual relationship will provide incremental profit. Longer customer relationships are likely to be
more profitable. - ‘ '

46




Changes in.or the elimination of governmental regulations may negatively impact our revenue and earnings.

Changes in or the ¢limination of governmental regulations may adversely affect our revenue and
earnings and the way we conduct our businesses. Changes in governmental regulations are difficult to
predict and could be significant. For example, the extent and type of benefits that employers are required
to or may choose: to provide employees and the amount and type of federal or state taxes employers and
employees are required to pay will affect the associated new products or services that we may sell. As
another example, Comdata is currently licensed on the state level by the banking or financial institutions
departments of numerous states. Continued licensing by these states is subject to ongoing satisfaction of
compliance requirements regarding safety and soundness, including, for example, posting of surety bonds
to guarantee payment of funds in transit. Changes in this regulatory environment, including the
implementation of new or varying measures by the U.S. federal government, may significantly affect or
change the manner in which Comdata currently conducts some of the aspects of its business.

Our future revenue growth will depend on our ability to continue selling our products and services to our
existing customers, mtroducmg new or enhanced products and services, attractmg and retaining new customers
and selling addttwnal products and services to existing customers.

We expect that a portion of our anticipated future revenue growth in each of our business segments
will be derived from:

) the continded selling of products and services to our existing cnstomerS‘

» the mtroductlon of new or enhanced products and services in our businesses;

o the selllng of products and services to new customers; and

o the selhng of addltlonal products and services to our existing customers

How successtful we will be in these efforts will depend ona vanety of factors, including:
* the quality and perceived value of our product and service offerings;

o effective sales and marketing efforts;

¢ our ability to attract new and retain new and existing customers;

o the level of market acceptance and the avoidance of difficulties or delays in development or
introduction of new products and services;

e our ablhty to 1ntegrate technology and information systems into our products and services;
s our successful implementation of products and services for new and existing customers;
¢ the regulatory needs and requirements facing our customers; and

« ourability to meet increased customer regulatory requtrements including our customers that are
governmental agencies or entities. ‘

There'can beno assurance that we will achieve our revenue growth objectives from our cross-selling
efforts and selling of new products and services. The inability to cross-sell our products and services, attract
new and retain new and- -existing customers or successfully develop and implement new and enhanced
products and services could harm our businesses.

Economzc factors may harm our business and operating results.

Trade, monetary and fiscal policies, and political and economic conditions may substantially change,
with corrésponding impacts on the industries that we serve, particularly those more economically sensitive
industries such as trucking and retail. Approximately 72 percent of Comdata’s revenue for 2004 was
attributable to its‘transportation business. Comdata’s results of operations are, therefore, dependent on
the level of activity in the transportation industry, which, in turn, is affected by general economic
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conditions. For example, a decrease in the number of truck drivers would decrease the number of
Comchek transactions and could adversely affect Comdata’s revenues. Similarly, since a significant portion
of our fueling transactions are priced by reference to the amount spent on the transaction, our revenue can
be significantly affected by changes in fuel prices. Falling fuel prices directly reduce the amounts of
revenue and earnings related to these transactions. Rising fuel prices increase our revenue and earnings
but also increase the working capital requirements of Comdata and subject Comdata to greater credit or
bad debt risks with respect to its customers that purchase fuel using a Comdata payment method.

Changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies, and political and economic conditions could also affect
employment levels, with a corresponding impact on our payroll processing and tax filing businesses.
Decreased employment levels, as well as slowed economic conditions, could negatively affect wage and
bonus payments, orders and the timing of product installations, and negatively impact the operating results
of our HRS business.

Litigation and governmental investigations may harm our financial results.

Our future operating results may be harmed by adverse judgments, settlements, unanticipated costs or
other effects of legal and administrative proceedings now pending or that may be instituted in the future,
or from investigations by the Securities and Exchange Commission and other administrative agencies.

We are currently responding to document requests from the SEC, and we have been advised that the
SEC has issued a formal order of investigation. We are cooperating with the SEC in its investigation. We
cannot predict the outcome of the SEC’s investigation or when the investigation will be resolved. An
adverse outcome of this investigation could have a material adverse effect on us and result in:

o the institution of administrative or civil proceedings;

» sanctions and the payment of fines and penalties;

e the restatement of our financial results for the years under review;

¢ changes in personnel;

¢ stockholder lawsuits; and

s increased review and scrutiny of us by our customers, regulatory authorities, the media and others.

In February 2004, we restated our financial results for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 and the first, second and third quarters of 2003 to reflect a change in accounting relating to the
revenue recognition policy of Comdata’s Stored Value Systems unit.

In July 2004, we announced a postponement of our second quarter 2004 earnings release and the
investigation being directed by the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors focusing on the
capitalization and expensing of certain costs in our HRS business.

In August 2004, a number of shareholder class actions and derivative suits were filed against the
company. The judgment, settlement and costs of this litigation could have an adverse effect on our
financial results.

In addition, we restated our consolidated financial statements for the years 1999 through 2003 and for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004 to correct errors in accounting relating principally to the
capitalization of internally developed software, the commencement of amortization of capitalized software
development costs, accounting for interest rate and fuel price derivative instruments and the accrual of
costs and expenses. The determination to restate these consolidated financial statements was made after
errors were discovered in October 2004 and January 2005. We refer you to the note entitled “Restatement
of Financial Statements” contained in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in
Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003 for additional discussion of this restatement. Further, we restated our consolidated financial
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statements for the years 2000 through 2003 and the first, second and third quarterly periods in 2004 to
correct efrors in accounting related principally to the CobraServ trademark amortization, leases,
international acquisitions, accrual of costs and expenses, and income tax reserves. The determination to
restate these consolidated financial statements was made after errors were discovered in March and

April 2005. We refer you to Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements” and Note O, “Supplementary
Quarterly Data” contained in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” contained
in Part II; Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Form 10-K for additional
discussion of this restatement. These restatements could result in new litigation or expand existing
litigation. The judgments, settlement and costs of such htlgatlon could have an adverse effect on our
financial results ‘

 Any problems or delays we may expenence in zmplementmg system upgrades and conversions could harm

our busmess R

We expect to contmue our efforts to transmon to new or enhanced data processing systems and/or
software in several of our business units, 1nclud1ng systems that process customer data and internal
management information systems which provide enhanced data and information services. The successful
1mplementatlon of these new or enhanced systems will be critical to the effective dellvery of products and
services and the efficient operation of our businesses. Problems or delays with the installation or initial
operation of the new or enhanced systems could d1srupt or increase costs in connection with our delivery of
services and ‘with our operations planning, financial reporting and management From time to time, we
have expenenced these types of problems or delays ‘

0ur abthty to remain competitive depends on our ability to adapt to changing technology. .

As a provider of information management and data processing services, we will need to adapt and
respond to the technological advances offered by our competitors and the technological requirements of
our customers, including those related to the Internet, in order to maintain and improve upon our
competitive position. For example, Comdata’s credit, debit and cash cards could be replaced by a next-
generation payment method. There can be no assurance that we will develop and release new products and
services or product and service enhancements within the required time frames and within targeted costs.
Significant delays, difficulties or added costs in introducing new products and services or enhancements,
either through internal development, acquisitions or cooperative relationships with other companies, could
adversely affect the market acceptance of our products and services and our operating results.

o

Our strategy to make acquisitions of and investments in complementary businesses, products and

technologies involves risks that could harm our business and operating results.

~ One of our growth strategies is to make acquisitions of and investments in complementary businesses,
products and technologies that will enable us to add products and services for our core customer base and
for ad]acent markets, and to expand each of our businesses geographtcally Our ability to make these
acquisitions and investments will depend on: '

o the’ avallablhty of suitable acqu1s1t10n candidates and investments at acceptable costs,
J our ab111ty to compete effectively for these acquisition candldates and investments; and
e the ava1lab1hty of capital to complete these acquisitions and investments.

These risks could be heightened if we complete several acquisitions or investments thhm a relatively
short perlod of ! t1me The benefits of an acquisition or investment may often take considerable time to
develop, and we cannot guarantee that any acquisition or investment will in fact produce the revenue,
earnmgs (6} busmess synergtes that we ant101pated
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In addition; implementation of this strategy entails a number of risks, including:
e inaccurate assessment of undisclosed liabilities;

¢ entry into markets in which we may have limited or no experience;

potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired businesses;

difficulties in assimilating the operations and products of an acquired business or in realizing
projected efficiencies and cost savings;

reallocation of significant amounts of capital from operating initiatives to acquisitions; and
e increase in our indebtedness and a limitation in our ability to access additional capital when needed.

In addition, some acquisitions and investments may require the consent of the lenders under our $350
million revolving credit and our Comdata receivables securitization facilities, and we cannot predict
whether approvals would be forthcoming or the terms on which the lenders would approve these
transactions. Also, from an accounting perspective, acquisitions and investments may involve non-recurring
charges and significant charges from periodic reassessments of the recoverable value of goodwill and other
intangible assets arising from acquisitions that could harm our operating results.

Our $350 million revolving credit and Comdata receivables securitization facilities may restrict our
operating flexibility.

The governing documents for our $350 million revolving credit and Comdata receivables
securitization facilities contain a number of significant provisions that, among other things, restrict our
ability to:

o sell assets:

¢ incur more indebtedness;

¢ grant or incur liens on our assets;

e make im)estments or acquisitions;

¢ enter into leases or assume contingent obligations;
e engage in mergers or consolidations; and

¢ engage in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could hurt our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or make
acquisitions that may be in our best interest. In addition, our credit facilities require that we satisfy several
financial covenants. Our ability to comply with these financial requirements and other restrictions may be
affected by events beyond our control, and our inability to comply with them could result in a default under
a credit facility. If a default occurs under one of our credit facilities, the lenders under the other facility
could elect to declare all of the outstanding borrowings, as well as accrued interest and fees, to be due and
payable and require us to apply all of our available cash to repay those borrowings. In addition, a default
may result in higher rates of interest and the inability to obtain additional capital.

The markets we serve may attract new competitors or cause current competitors to focus more on these
markets, which could harm our business.

New competitors could decide to enter the markets we serve or current competitors could decide to
focus more on these markets, and thereby intensify the highly competitive conditions that already exist.
These new entrants and existing competitors could offer or introduce new technologies or a different
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service model, or.could treat the services to be provided by one of our businesses as one component of a
larger product or service offering. These developments could enable these new and existing competitors to
offer similar products or services at reduced prices. Any of these or similar developments.could harm our
business and results of operations. '

We will, be‘sitbjéct to risks related to our international operations, which may harm our operating results.

lAppr‘oximately 24 percent of HRS revenue in 2004 was obtained from our international operations.
Our Ceridian Centrefile subsidiary provides human resource services, payroll processing services and
human resource information systems software in the United Kingdom: Ceridian Centrefile is expanding its
payroll services into numerous countries by engaging a partner within a country to provide us with payroll
administration and processing services for that country. Qur Ceridian Canada operations handle and hold
payroll as well as tax filing funds for our Canadian customers. Comdata also operates in Canada, and has
prospects for expanding its business into Latin and South America and Europe. In addition to the risks
otherwise described herein, international operations are subject to further additional risks that could
adversely affect those operations or our business as a whole, including:

e costs of customizing products and services for foreign customers; |
. difficulties in managing and s‘taffing,internati‘o‘nal operations;

. ‘difficulti‘es with or inability to engage partners in Europe;

¢ reduced protect10n for intellectual property and other legal rlghts in some countries;
‘e ‘longer 9a1es and payment cycles; .

. tthe burdens of complying w1th a w1de variety of foreign laws

L exposure to legal ]urlsdlctlons which may not recognize or interpret customer contracts in
predictable ways;

1

18 exposure to local economic and political conditions; and

o unfavorable currency exchange rates.

P

‘We expect to continue to invest in and improve the performance of our U.S. HRS business, and we cannot
assure'you that our efforts and the amount we invest in these plans will i tmprove the ﬁnancuzl performance of our
U.S. HRS busmess

We have ongomg and contmued 1n1txatxves to invest in and improve the performance of our U. S. HRS
business. These 1n1t1at1ves include:

H
) transmqnmg small and medium size business customers to our Internet payroll prbducts;
e improving ouf customer service model; |
: . impfoving cuétorﬁer retentién'
e contlnumg product enhancements;

'3 1nvest1ng n our Six Sigma program, an effort that focuses on helpmg orgamzatlons design and
- produce products and services better, faster and cheaper;

s consolidating and improving efficiencies at our payroll processing centers and benefits
administration operations; and

* increasing the effectiveness of our sales efforts.
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We cannot assure you that our efforts and the amount we invest in this process will improve the
financial performance of our U.S. HRS business, and if so, by how much. If these initiatives are less
successful than planned, or the level of investment needs to be increased, our business could be harmed.

Government regulation changes on timing or amount of remittances and changes in interest rates may
reduce our investment income from customer deposits.

Our HRS business in the United States and Canada has historically derived significant revenue and
earnings from the investment of customer deposits, and this revenue and earnings are an integral part of
our HRS business. Changes in governmental regulations on the timing and amount of remittances may
reduce the period of time we are allowed to hold these remittances, as well as the amount of such
remittances, and may decrease our revenue and earnings from this source. If governmental regulations
change in this fashion, we would likely seek to require customers who permit us to retain earnings on their
deposits to pay us additional fees in lieu of a portion of this lost investment income.

In addition, changes in interest rates will affect our revenue and earnings from this source. Interest
rate changes are difficult to predict and could be significant.

Our ability to improve operating margins in our HRS business will depend on the degree to which and the
speed with which we will be able to increase operational efficiencies and reduce operating costs.

Our ability to improve profit margins in our HRS business will depend on factors that include the
degree to which and the speed with which we will be able to increase operational efficiencies and reduce
operating costs. Delays or difficulties in implementing and consolidating process improvements, such as
those designed to reduce printing, telecommunication and customer service costs, or quickly and
effectively installing new customers or new products and services, and in consolidating various functions,
including administrative functions, eliminating duplicate operations and consolidating facilities could
adversely affect the timing or effectiveness of cost reduction and margin improvement efforts.

The failure of our HRS business to comply with applicable laws could result in substantial taxes, penalties
and liabilities that could harm our business.

Our HRS customers transfer to our HRS division or its subsidiaries contributed employer and
employee tax funds. Our HRS division or its subsidiaries process the data received from its customers and
remit the funds along with a tax return to the appropriate taxing authorities when due. Retirement plan
assets are remitted directly by our customers to investment vehicles selected by the plan administrator or
plan sponsor. Tracking, processing and paying these tax liabilities and administering retirement plans is
complex. Mistakes may occur in connection with this service. Our HRS division or its subsidiaries and its
customers are subject to large cash penalties imposed by tax authorities for late filings or underpayment of
taxes or required plan contributions.

As a result of the benefits services our benefit services subsidiary provides, it may be subject to
potential legal liability as a provider of portability compliance services. As a provider of COBRA
(Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) compliance services, our benefit services subsidiary is
subject to excise taxes for noncompliance with provisions of COBRA. In addition to the excise tax liability
that may be imposed on our benefit services subsidiary, substantial excise taxes may be imposed under
COBRA on our customers. In addition, as a provider of HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996) compliance and administration services, our benefit services subsidiary may be
subject to ERISA (Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974) penalties for noncompliance with
various provisions of HIPAA.

Under various service agreements with its customers, our HRS division or its subsidiaries assume
financial responsibility for the payment of the taxes, penalties and liabilities assessed against its customers
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arising out of the failure of our HRS division or its subsidiaries to fulfill its obligations under its
agreements with these customers, unless these taxes, penalties or liabilities are attributable to the ‘
customer's failure to comply with the terms of the agreement the customer has with our HRS division or its
subsidiaries. These taxes, penalties and liabilities could, in some cases, be substantial and could harm its
business and operatmg results. Additionally, the failure of our HRS division or its subsidiaries to fulfill its
obligations under its customer agreements could harm our reputation, its relationship with our customers
and 1ts ablhty to galn new customers

:Our HRS business experiences generally htgher revenues durmg ﬁrst and fourth quarters which may cause
our operatmg results to ﬂuctuate significantly;

Our HRS busrness experiences generally higher revenues during the first quarter as a result of higher
payroll funds berng processed due to year-end bonuses being paid and additional year-end services
required during the fourth quarter as result of special reporting requirements. We expect this trend to
continue,;which cOuldj Eause our qua}rterly operating results to fluctuate significantly.

Our business and results of operations are dependent on several vendors and suppliers, the loss of whom
could adversely ajfect our consolidated results of operattons

" Qur busrness is dependent on several significant vendors and suppliers, the loss of whom could

adversely affect our consolidated results of operations. In particular, Comdata's current business relies
upon its relatlonshrps with third party suppliers, such as MasterCard, to effect and support transactions,
including access to the Cirrus ATM network and the Maestro point-of-sale debit network. The ability of
Comdata to continue to provide some of its services in the manner in which it currently delivers them may
be affected by actions taken by third party supphers, including MasterCard or other similar card
assocratlons Comdata is considering alternatives to its existing third party relationships, and is in the -
process of formrng a Utah industrial bank (“Comdata Bank”) which Comdata anticipates would likely
become a direct partrcrpant in the MasterCard credit and debit networks. The Comdata Bank application
is awartrng FDIC approval which is currently pending until the issues with the SEC investigation are
substantively resolved. Any adverse change in Comdata's relationship with these vendors or Comdata’s
1nab1hty to tlmely and effectively establish the Comdata Bank or find other timely and effective alternatives
to thesé vendor relatlonshrps could likely adversely affect Comdata's business and results of operations and
could harm our consohdated results of operatrons as well. :
i [

We have found material weaknesses in our internal controls that require remediation and concluded,
pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that our mternal controls over ﬁnanczal reporting at
December 31 2004 were not effective.

Aswe disc]ose«in our Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in Part II,
Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” and as disclosed in Part II, Item 9A, “Controls
and Procedures” of this Form 10-K, we have discovered deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in our
internal control over financial reporting. While we are taking immediate steps to correct our internal
control’ weaknesses the material weaknesses that have been discovered will not be considered remediated
until the new and improved internal controls operate for a period of time, are tested and it is concluded
that such new and-improved internal controls are operating effectively. Pending the successful completion
of such testing, we will perform mitigating procedures relating to our internal control weaknesses. If we fail
to remediate any matenal weaknesses, we could be unable to provide timely and reliable financial
information, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial
condition. Furthermore, it is uncertain what impact an adverse opinion or a disclaimed opinion would have
upon our stock price or business.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk. We invest funds held temporarily for our clients
in interest bearing instruments, earning interest income in lieu of service fees. Interest income from client
funds is recorded as revenue net of any interest credits due clients, and changes in interest rates impact
interest revenue accordingly. In addition we hold short-term investments for our own account for liquidity
purposes and issue debt instruments, with related interest income and interest expense recorded as such in
the income statement. We also purchase interest rate derivative instruments to modify our overall interest
rate risk exposure. All interest rate sensitive instruments are held in portfolios for investment purposes,
and no such instruments are held in trading portfolios. Our interest rate risk exposures are summarized in
the table below.

Invested Ceridian Variable
Customer Short-term Rate Debt Net
Funds Investments Instruments Position

Average balances
2004 . L e $2,4352  $1443 $(125.2) $2,454.3
2003 L e e e 2,145.9 1174 (174.5) 2,088.8
200 e e e -1,931.9 87.3 (207.3) 1,811.9
Abverage interest rate
2004 . e e 3.10% 1.80% 3.51% 3.01%
2003 . 2.90% 1.70% 2.64% 2.85%
200 3.34% 2.41% 3.04% 3.33%
Interest income (expense) per statement of operations
2004 . o $ 756 $§ 26 $ (4.4 $ 738
2003 L e 62.2 2.0 (4.6) 59.6
200 . e e ‘ 64.6 2.1 (6.3) 60.4

The $13.4 million increase in interest revenue from invested customer funds in 2004 over 2003
consisted of $5.0 million related to higher interest rates and $8.4 million due to higher average invested
balances. The net decrease of $2.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002 consisted of $10.0 related to lower
interest rates, largely offset by an increase of $7.6 due to higher average invested balances.

The impact of our interest rate derivative program was as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Realized gains. . .....ovverit i $ 300 §31.2 8262
Unrealized gains (losses). ..., (28.9) _(15.7) 471
Netgaim. ..ot i $ 1.1 §$155 §$733

(

We further discuss interest rate derivative contracts in Note A, “Accounting Policies—Cash and
Investments, including Derivatives” and Note H, “Investing Activity.”
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We manage our interest rate risk by modeling the impact of changes in interest rates on combined net
interest revenue, interest income, and interest expense, referred to as Net Interest Income. Interest rate
derivative mstruments may be purchased as part of our risk management program and such instruments
are modeled as part of our overall interest rate sensitivity position. Qur goal is to achieve a stable and
predlctable level of reported Net Interest Income over a Tange of expected changes in interest rates.

The table below 111ustrates the impact of changes in interest rates on our after tax Net Interest
Income.

Al

Hypothetical Change in

Change in Interest Rates : Net Interest Income
+ Expressed in Basis Points : o from Base Scenario
= T ‘ ‘ ' : (in millions of dollars)
300 INCIEASE. . ..o cvevveeearaneenes SEUIUR $ 220
200 INCT@ASE. . v v v v e ee e e e e et : 14.7
100InCrease. ..ot e 7.4
50 Increase. ....eieiiiinnnn. e 3.7
25 InCrease. . ... vovnninnnn. e 1.8
_ Base Scenario (2.25%) ' B
25 DECIBASE . . v v e (0.7
50 DECIEASE .+ e e e (2.8)
D100 DECIEASE . . vt (6.9)
' 200 Decrease........... e (15.2)

The contents of the table show the estimated impact on annual after tax net interest income of an
immediate and sustained change in interest rates from a base of 2.25% Federal Funds rates as of
December 31, 2004 Computatrons in the table are based on assumed levels of customer funds, short-term
liquidity mvestments debt instruments outstandmg, interest rate derivative instruments, and U.S. and
Canadian 1nterest rates. The impact of interest rate derivative instruments we held on December 31, 2004
is excluded' from the computations. All of these instruments were terminated on February 4, 2005, and any
impact of these 1nstrurnents is therefore excluded from results. Optronahty exists in the form of callable
securities we own, and these securities are assumed to all be ¢called in falling rate scenarios and all go to
maturity in'rising rate scenarios. The amount of prepayment risk of other securities in the portfolio is
negligible, and; therefore excluded from the table contents.

The prrncrpal change in our interest rate risk position was the termmatron of all of our interest rate
derrvatrve instruments on February 4, 2005. Interest rate risks assocrated with these instruments included
mark-to-market valuatrons and interest receipts, all of which were reported as “(gain) loss on derivative
instruments” in our.consolidated statements of operations. We have subsequently made no purchases of
interest rate derlvatrve instruments.

Fuel Price Markjet‘ Risk -

Our Co‘mdata transportation services business revenue and net income is exposed to variability based
on changes in the | prrce of diesel fuel and gasoline. For a portion of its transportation services customers,
Comdata earns fee revenue for card transactions based on a percentage of the total amount of each fuel
purchase Ani increase or decrease in the price of fuel i mcreases or decreases the total dollar amount of fuel
purchases and Comdata revenue, accordingly.

We manage our fuel price risk by modeling the impact of changes in fuel prices on transactron fee
revenue and net income. Fuel derivative instruments may be purchased as part of our risk management
program and the effects of these instruments are modeled as part of our overall fuel risk sensitivity
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position. Our goal is to achieve a stable and predictable level of reported net income through a range of
expected changes in fuel prices.

Diesel fuel prices have been rising generally, as reported by the Department of Energy which
calculates that the average price of highway diesel fuel number 2 was $1.81 in 2004, $1.51 in 2003, and
$1.32 in 2002. These rising prices increased Comdata revenue by 5.5 in 2004 and by $3.2 million in 2003
and were offset by realized losses on fuel derivative contracts of $2.7 million in 2004 and $0.8 million in
2003.

At December 31, 2004, Comdata held fuel derivative instruments that will largely offset the overall
impact of diesel fuel price changes for 2005. These instruments mature on December 31, 2005 and are not
accounted for as hedges. The hypothetical impact of changes in diesel fuel prices, including the impact of
fuel derivative instruments is shown in the table below.

Change in Change in
Change in Diesel Change in (Gain)Loss After Tax
Fuel Price per gallon Revenue On Derivatives  Net Income

(in millions of dollars)

$.30InCrease . ...o.veiiii i e $54 $ 6.7 $(0.8)
$.20INCTease . ..o v vttt 3.6 4.9 (0.8)
$.10INCIEase ..o\ vvveee e 1.8 31 (0.8)
Base Scenario ($1.99/gallon). . ...t — 13 (0.8)
$.10Decrease ...o.vviiiiii i (1.8) (0.5) (0.8)
$.20 DECIEasE . .v vttt e (3.6) (2.3) (0.8)
B30 DECIEase o v vttt (5.4) (4.1) (0.8)

The contents of the table show the estimated annual impact of an immediate and sustained change in
diesel fuel prices from a base of $1.99 per gallon at December 31, 2004. Computations in the table are
based on assumed levels of diesel fuel purchase transactions and amounts charged. Comdata does not
otherwise hold instruments sensitive to fuel price risk except for fuel derivative instruments purchased as
part of its risk management program, which are held for investment purposes. The fuel derivative
instruments contain no puts, calls or other options.

Similar to diesel fuel price risk, our Comdata transportation services business revenue and net income
are subject to variability based on changes in gasoline prices. We estimate that for each 10 cent change in
the annual average price of gasoline, our revenue and pretax income are impacted $720,000. Due to
changes in the average price of gasoline, our revenue was $2.3 million higher in 2004 than 2003. We may
use gasoline derivative securities as part of our fuel price risk management program, but no such securities
were held during 2004.

Other Market Risk

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is related to our HRS operations at Ceridian Canada and
Ceridian Centrefile, and is considered not material to our consolidated financial condition or results of
operations. These foreign operations principally serve their respective domestic markets with nearly all
revenue and expenses denominated in local currency. Other intercompany charges between U.S. and non-
U.S. based operations are not material. Translation adjustments on investments in foreign operations are
reported in “accumulated other comprehensive income” in our accompanying consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity and are not hedged.
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Item 8. " Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
1. Index.to Consolidated Financial Statements.
ffhje foIIowing financial statements and reports are filed as part of tlris report:

‘ Page
Mandgement’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reportmg .................... 58
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountmg Firm . e 61
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ......................oon, 65
Consolidated. Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 and
200, e 66
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 ........................ 67
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, ..o S DD 68
Consohdated Statements of Stockholders’ Equ1ty for the years' encled December 31, 2004
2003 and 2002 1 ..o e e e e 69

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the three years ended December 31,2004 . 70

2. Index to Financial Statemént Schedules. .

The followmg financial statement schedule and report is filed as part of this report and should be read
in con]unctlon w1th the Consolidated Flnanc:lal Statements ‘

I . e _ Page
Schedule II Valuatlon and Qualifying Accounts ...... e e e e 120
Report of. Independent Reg1stered Pubhc Accounting Firm on Fmancral Statement

sSchedule. .. P ceee. 121
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a process designed by, or under
the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by our Board of
Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies and procedures that:

e Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets;

¢ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations from our management and directors; and

¢ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004. This assessment identified deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting,
and management has determined that each of the following deficiencies individually constitutes a
“material weakness” (as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board or “PCAOB” in it’s
Auditing Standard No. 2, “An Audit of Internal Control over Financial Reporting Performed in
Conjunction with an Audit of Financial Statements”) in our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004:

1. Inadequate company-level controls. We did not maintain effective company-level controls as
defined in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQO). These deficiencies related to each of the
five components of internal control as defined by COSO (control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication, and monitoring), specifically:

¢ We did not maintain sufficient documentation supporting the application of our accounting
policies, practices and procedures;

e We did not maintain adequately trained personnel in accounting and other functions critical to
financial reporting;

¢ We did not maintain adequate mechanisms for anticipating and identifying financial reporting
risks and for reacting to changes in our operating environment that could have a material effect
on financial reporting;

e We did not maintain policies and procedures designed to ensure that we accounted for
software capitalization, revenue recognition, and expense recognition in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, and did not maintain effectively-designed preventive and detective controls to ensure
proper application of U.S. GAAP in the financial reporting process;

e We did not adequately comimunicate employees’ duties and control responsibilities; and
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. Our periodic evaluations of internal controls and monitoring of remediation activities were not
. effective. E

. Inadequate financial statement preparation and review procedures. We did not maintain adequate

1 pohcles procedures and personnel to ensure that accurate, reliable interim and annual
consohdated financial statements were prepared and reviewed on a timely basis. Specifically, we
identified the followmg deficiencies: ’ ‘

¢ Failure to document and approve journal entries at our corporate office and U.S. and UK.
payroll d1v1510ns r

e Inadequate policies and procedures to identify errors in accounts payable and various accruals
and to ensure timely recognition of costs and expenses;

0,}:Fa11nre to appropriately segregate and define certain accounting duties relating to the
- identification, calculation and recording of liabilities ‘

K ‘Inadequate cost and expense classification processes and revrew controls to ensure compliance
-with U. S. GAAP;

¢ Inadequate policies and procedures for the identification, calculation and recording of
.acquisitions and consolidation entries for international subsidiaries;

o Ineffective reconciliation of accounts; and

¢ Lack. of suff1c1ent finance and accounting personnel with approprlate U.S. GAAP expertise.

As a result of this material weakness we (1) failed to recogmze costs and expenses on a timely

. basis and misclassified costs and expenses in our consolidated statements of operations; (ii)
mcorrectly calculated and recorded acquisition and consolidation entries associated with our
subsrdlarles prmcxpally in the United Kingdom and Canada, and (iii) improperly accounted for
free rent, concessions and escalation clauses in leases.

Ihadequc‘;“te financial reporting processes and information systems in our United Kingdom subsidiary.
Our financial réporting processes and information systems at our subsidiary in the United

'Kingdom were not adequately designed or operating to effectively support our financial reporting

.. requirements. This material weakness is the result of aggregate deficiencies in internal control
_actmtles specrfrcally

+e /Access and securlty control deficiencies surroundmg the use of certain information technology
‘apphcatlons :

) Insufflment data validation controls in end—user computing apphcatrons
] Insuffrclent management oversight; and
@ Lack of adequately trained finance and accounting personnel.

These deficiencies result in more than a remote likelihood that improper accounting for
transactions could occur, and not be detected on a timely basis,  resulting in material
~ misstatements in our consolidated financial information. . -

Inadequate controls associated with the accounting for capitalized software costs and related
amortization. . Our internally developed software capitalization guidelines were not consistent
with U. S GAAP we lacked personnel with sufficient expertise in software capitalization rules
. pursuant to U.S. GAAP; we,did not adequately train employees, including financial analysts and
. project managers who performed these accounting functions; we failed to maintain sufficient
documentation for the historical capitalization of certain software development costs and for the
commencement of amortization related to such costs; and we had insufficient preventive and
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detective controls related to the capitalization of internally developed software. As a result of this
material weakness, corrections of errors in accounting were required to reduce assets and
stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheets; increase costs and expenses and reduce
net earnings in our consolidated statements of operations; and reclassify amounts between
operating activities and investing activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows.

5. Inadequate controls over complex transactions and accounting matters. 'We lacked adequately
~ trained finance and accounting personnel with appropriate U.S. GAAP accounting expertise.
Accordingly, in certain circumstances, an effective secondary review of technical accounting
matters could not be performed. As a resuit of these deficiencies, errors in accounting for certain
complex transactions occurred in.the following areas:

o [nadequate revenue recognition procedures and controls. We did not have adequate policies
and procedures in place related to revenue recognition; we lacked personnel with adequate
expertise in revenue recognition rules under U.S. GAAP; and we failed to consistently include
finance and accounting personnel in the analysis of the impact revenue arrangements would
have on consolidated financial reporting. As a result, accounting errors were identified related
to revenue recognition. These errors in accounting were corrected by increasing deferred
income and deferred costs and reducing stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance
sheets; and reducing revenue, cost of revenue and net earnings in our consolidated statements
of operations in 2003 and 2004.

o Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and. Hedging Activities.” Our interest rate and fuel price derivative instruments did not satisfy
the requirements of FAS 133 and, as such, did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. The
correction of this accounting error impacted revenue and (gain) loss on derivative instruments
in our consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2001 through 2004. The unrealized gains
and losses on these derivative instruments that were originally accounted for in accumulated
other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheets
were restated and correctly reported in (gain) loss on derivative instruments in our
consolidated statements of operations.

e Application of FAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Our
processes were insufficient to ensure the timely identification of business events impacting the
useful life of our long-lived assets. As a result, we failed to timely identify the need to shorten
the estimated useful life of a trademark asset resulting from a strategic marketing decision
made in January of 2004. This accounting error was corrected by increasing expenses and
reducing net earnings in our consolidated statements of operations and reducing other
intangible assets in our consolidated balance sheets.

As a result of the aforementioned material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting,
material misstatements of our current and previous consolidated financial statements occurred and were
identified. To correct these errors in accounting, we restated our annual and interim consolidated financial
statements for fiscal 1999 through fiscal 2003 and the fiscal quarters of 2004.

In making our assessment, management used the criteria set forth by COSO in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework. Because of the material weaknesses described above, management concluded that,
as of December 31, 2004, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on those
criteria.

KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on our
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. This audit report appears on the next page of
this Form 10-K. o
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Dlrectors and Stockholders of
Ceridian: Corporatron

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (page 58), that Ceridian Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company ’) did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
because of the effect oof material weaknesses identified in management’s assessment, based on criteria
establrshed in Intemal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organrzatlons of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Ceridian Corporation’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of intérnal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over
fmancral reportmg based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
OversxghttBoard (Umted States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all matenal respects Our audit included obtaining an understandrng of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performmg such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
crrcumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company s internal control over financial reportmg is a process desxgned to provide reasonable
assurance r_egardmg the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that in reasonable detail, accurately and falrly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company;.and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detéction of unauthorized acqulsmon use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its 1nherent limitations, internal control over f1nanc1a1 reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the pohcles or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in
more than a‘'remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements
will not be prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in
management J assessment as of December 31, 2004:

1. “Inadequate company-level controls. The Company did not maintain effective company-level
»controls as defined in the COSO criteria. These deficiencies related to each of the five
‘components of internal control as defined by COSO (control environment, risk assessment,

control activities, information and communication, and monitoring), specifically:

o' The Cornpany did not maintain sufficient documentation supporting the application of
accounting policies, practices and procedures; ‘ !
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¢ The Company did not maintain adequately trained personnel in accounting and other functions
critical to financial reporting;

e The Company did not maintain adequate mechanisms for anticipating and identifying financial
reporting risks and for reacting to changes in the Company’s operating environment that could
have a material effect on financial reporting;

e The Company did not maintain policies and procedures designed to ensure that it accounted
for software capitalization, revenue recognition, and expense recognition in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, and did not maintain effectively-designed preventive and detective controls to
ensure proper application of U.S. GAAP in the financial reporting process;

e The Company did not adequately communicate employees’ duties and control responsibilities;
and.

¢ The Company’s periodic evaluations of internal controls and monitoring of remediation
activities were not effective.

Inadeéuate financial statement preparation and review procedures. The Company did not
maintain adequate policies, procedures and personnel to ensure that accurate, reliable interim
and annual consolidated financial statements were prepared and reviewed on a timely basis.
Specifically, the following deficiencies were identified:

» Failure to document and approve journal entries at the Company’s corporate office and U.S.
and U.K. payroll divisions;

¢ Inadequate policies and procedures to identify errors in accounts payable and various accruals
and to ensure timely recognition of costs and expenses;

e Failure to appropriately segregate and define certain accounting duties relating to the
identification, calculation and recording of liabilities;

» Inadequate cost and expense classification processes and review controls to ensure compliance
with U.S. GAAP;

¢ Inadequate policies and procedures for the identification, calculation and recording of
acquisitions and consolidation entries for international subsidiaries;

o Ineffective reconciliation of accounts; and
¢ Lack of sufficient finance and accounting personnel with appropriate U.S. GAAP expertise.

As a result of this material weakness, the Company (i) failed to recognize costs and expenses on a
timely basis and misclassified costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of operations; (ii)
incorrectly calculated and recorded acquisition and consolidation entries associated with the
Company’s subsidiaries, principally in the United Kingdom and Canada, and (iii) improperly
accounted for free rent, concessions and escalation clauses in leases.

Inadequate financial reporting processes and information systems in the Company’s United Kingdom
subsidiary. The financial reporting processes and information systems at the Company’s
subsidiary in the United Kingdom were not adequately designed or operating to effectively
support financial reporting requirements. This material weakness is the result of aggregate
deficiencies in internal control activities, specifically:

e Access and security control deficiencies surrounding the use of certain information technology
applications; :
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e Insuff1c1ent data validation controls in end -user computmg applications;

'
'

) Insuff1c1ent management over51ght and
* Lack of adequately trained finance and accounting personnel.

These deficiencies result in more than a remote likelihood that improper accounting for

- transactions could occur, and not be detected on a timely basis, resulting in material

misstatements in the Company’s consolidated financial information.

. Inadequate controls associated with the accounting for capitalized software costs and related

amortiz'ation The Company did not have internally developed software capitalization guidelines

- consistent with U.S. GAAP; lacked personnel with sufficient expertise in software capitalization
' rules pursuant to U.S. GAAP; did not adequately train employees, such as financial analysts and

project managers, who performed these accounting functions; failed to document sufficient
support for the historical capitalization of certain software development costs and for the
commencement of amortization related to such costs; and preventive and detective controls
related to the capitalization of internally developed software were insufficient. As a result of this
materlal weakness, corrections of errors in accounting were required to reduce assets and

. stockholders equlty in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets; increase costs and expenses

and reduce net earnings in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations; and reclassify
amounts between operating activities and investing activities in the Company’s consolidated

‘ statements of cash flows.

Inadequaze cantrols over complex transactions and accounting matters. The Company lacked
adequately trained finance and accounting resources with appropriate U.S. GAAP accounting
expertise. Accordingly, in certain circumstances, an effective secondary review of technical
accounting matters could not be performed. As a result of these deficiencies, errors in accounting

- for certainicomplex transactions occurred in the following areas:

o Inadequate revenue recognition procedures and controls. The Company did not have adequate
policies and procedures in place related to revenue recognition; lacked personnel with
adequate expertise in revenue recognition rules under U.S. GAAP; and failed to consistently
include finance and accounting personnel in the analysis of the impact revenue arrangements
would have on consolidated financial reporting. As a result, accounting errors were identified
related to revenue recognition. These errors in accounting were corrected by increasing
‘deferred income and deferred costs and reducing stockholders’ equity in the consolidated
balance sheets; and reducing revenue, cost of revenue and net earnings in the consolidated
'statéments of operations in 2003 and 2004,

* Staterr}ent of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities.” The Company’s interest rate and fuel price derivative instruments did
not satisty the requirements of FAS 133 and, as such, did not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment. The correction of this accounting error impacted revenue and (gain) loss on

. derivative instruments in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2001
through 2004. The unrealized gains and losses on these derivative instruments that were
originally accounted for in accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders’
equ1ty in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets were restated and correctly reported in
(gam) loss on derivative instruments in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

e Applzcatzon of FAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The

Company’s processes were insufficient to ensure the timely identification of business events
impacting the useful life of long-lived assets. As a result, the Company failed to timely identify
the need to shorten the estimated useful life of a trademark asset resulting from a strategic

'
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marketing decision made in January of 2004. This accounting error was corrected by increasing
expenses and reducing net earnings in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations
and reducing other intangible assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

As a result of the aforementioned material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting,
material misstatements of the Company’s current and previous consolidated financial statements occurred
and were identified. To correct these errors in accounting, the Company restated it’s annual and interim
consolidated financial statements for fiscal 1999 through fiscal 2003 and the fiscal quarters of 2004.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements of Ceridian Corporation and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004. The aforementioned material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the December 31, 2004 consolidated financial statements, and
this report does not affect our report dated April 20, 2005, which expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Ceridian Corporation and subsidiaries did not
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material
weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Ceridian
Corporation and subsidiaries have not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 20, 2005




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the! Board of Directors and Stockholders of

) T
Cerrdlan Corporatron

We have audlted the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ceridian Corporation and
subsrdlarres as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash
flows-and stockholders equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsrblhty is to express an oplmon on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversrght Board (Umted States). Those standards require that we plan-and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes exammmg, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audrt also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits prov1de a reasonable basis for our opinion.

- Inour, oplnron the consolidated financial statements referred to above present falrly, in all material
respects the fmanma] position of Ceridian Corporation and sub51d1ar1es as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, afid the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31,2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As dlscussed m Note B to the consolidated financial statements the Company has restated its
consolidated f1nanc1al statements as of December 31, 2003 and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002.

As drscussed in-Note A to the consolidated financial statements, the ‘Company adopted the provisions
of Statement of Fmancral Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and other Intangrble Assets,” on January 1, 2002.

We also have audrted in accordance with the standards of the Pubhc Company Accounting Oversrght
Board (Umted States), the effectiveness of Ceridian Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Commlttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated
April 20, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an adverse opinion
on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMGLLP . .

Minneapolis, Mihnesota
April 20, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
. (restated) (restated)
Revenue ...... e e e e $1,3204 $1,213.9 $1,160.3
Costs and Expenses ‘
Costofrevenue......... ..., 748.3 693.8 654.2
Selling, general and administrative ...................... 475.5 365.1 3538
Research and development. ..o, 26.8 194 15.0
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments . .......... e 0.3 (14.7) (73.3)
Other expense (income) ...........ccviiiiiiieeiinn... 26.5 (2.5) 33.1
INterest iNCOME ..ot vettt i e e eae e (2.6) (2.0) (2.1)
INterest eXpense ..ot e 4.4 4.6 6.3
Total costs and €Xpenses .. ....oovvveenveieennnaan. 1,279.2 1,063.7 987.0
Earnings before income taxes.. ... S 41.2 150.2 1733
Income tax provision .......... ... ... ool 4.3 51.4 61.8
Net €arnings. . .o .vvveeriitn e $ 369 $ 988 $ 11135
Earnings per share
Basic ..o $ 025 $ 066 $ 075
Diluted ... .o $ 024 $ 066 $ 074
Shares used in calculations (in thousands)
Weighted average shares (basic) ........................ 149,074 148,634 148,029
Dilutive SeCUIItieS . . ..o i i e et 2,005 1,563 1,604
Weighted average shares (diluted)....................... 151,079 150,197 149,633

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

1
t
i

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and eqUIVAIBILS . . . ...ttt
Trade and other receivables, net .............o i i
Current deferred TNCOME TAKES . . . . vt v e ot e e e e e e e e
Other CUTTENEASSEES. . ottt i et s e e e s et e e
TOtAl CUTTENE ASSELS . 't . .\t ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e
Property,plantandequlpment MEL ot e
GoodwWill ... e
Other intangible assets, Nt . .. ....ovvernernerneenn.n. e e e
Software anid development COSES, ME . . . .iv .. v\ e et ee ettt e et iieeeeieeeaanns
Prepaid pension cost . .............. e
Deferred income taxes................ e e I
Investments. .. .. D e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities . ‘
Short- term-debt and current portion of long-term obligations . .. ....................
Accounts payable ........ P e
Drafts and settlementspayable. . ... o
Customer advances - . ... . P
Deferred INCOME . ... vv vttt et et .
ACCTUEd TAXES ..ot e et F e
Employee compensat10n AN DENEEILS - .+ o\ ev ettt
Other accrued exXpenses. . ..........ooovvviie i, P S
Total current labilities .. . .. ........uueunnsennn .. .
Long-term obligations, less current portion. . ... ... P B,
Deferred MNCOME TAXES . . v i v e vt ettt et ettt e
Employee benefitplans. ... e
Othernoncurrenthablhtxes.....A..............,........., .......................
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations ...................... P
Customer funds obhgatlons .............................. EP S
Total habxlmes T
Stockholders’ equity ©
Common stock, $.01 par, authorlzed 500,000,000 shares, issued 151,073, 244 and
150,028,289. ... ... e e e e e
Addmonalpald 1ncap1tal .......................... O S
REtaINEd ATIINES & . v vv v ve vt vt et ettt e e e e et et et e
Treasury common stock at cost, 1,650,117 and 5,848 shares . . ..o,
Accumulated other comprehenswe income ... e
Total StockhoIders’ €QUILY. . . v .\ .\ vt sttt sete s e e e b
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. .. oo\ vur it

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2004 2003

(restated)

$ 2207 $ 1242
505.7 467.3
27.2 28.5
70.4 56.0
824.0 676.0
140.9 148.0
931.8 918.6
43.6 90.2
75.7 86.2
13.1 12.2
26.7 9.6
16.4 229
28.1 55.7
10.6 8.7
2,110.9 2,028.1
4,096.0 3,152.7
$6,206.9 $5,180.8
$ 149 $ 6.5
62.8 39.1
153.4 113.7
311 31.0
87.4 66.9
28.7 25.5
53.0 55.3
47.7 354
479.0 3734
85.8 157.0
32.5 38.6
208.4 196.0
383 17.9
844.0 782.9
4,067.2 3,152.7
4911.2 3,935.6
1.5 1.5
936.6 925.2
565.5 528.6
(33.2) (0.1)
(174.7) (210.0)
1,295.7 1,245.2
$6,206.9 $5,180.8




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions)
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

INETEAITIIES « . o\t ottt ettt et et e e vt e et e e e et e et et e e re e $369 § 988 $ 1115
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)............ ... ..o oo (19.8) 34.2 24.7
Depreciation and amortization. . .......... ... o i i 124.7 79.3 75.8
Provision for doubtfulaccounts . .......... ... i 9.7 11.2 17.0
SourceWeb exit COStS, TIET .+ . v v vt et st e e ettt e s 28.5 — —
ASSEEWIIEE-AOWIIS . .. .ottt it e 3.6 — 7.3
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments .. .........ooovivinneaa... 280 15.7 (47.1)
(Gain) loss on. marketable securities . ... 4.5) (34) 6.3
Reduction of environmental accrual ........... o oot — — (4.1)
Contribution to retirement plan trusts. ...........o.ooiiiii i i — (103.5) (3.3)
Other....... et e e e e e e 6.5 7.0 (6.3)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables .......................L. (42.4) (48.1) (43.2)
Increase (decrease) inaccountspayable ................ . o ool 22.6 2.5 3.4
Increase (decrease) in drafts and settlementspayable. ...................... 39.7 (7.1) 52
Increase (decrease) in employee compensation and benefits . . ............... (4.3) (6.0 (8.7)
Increase (decrease) inaccrued taxes . ... 70 (24.9) 44
Increase (decrease) in other current assets and liabilities.................... 16.7 2.9 (5.5)
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities . .................. ... 2529 56.6 1374
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Expended for property, plant and equipment . . ........ ... oo (32.9) (30.5) (31.1)
Expended for software and development costs.................. e (33.3) (27.0) (23.5)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets. .................. P 17.1 24.8 0.5
Expended for acquisitions of investments and businesses, less cash acquired. .. ... (19.3) an (50.3)
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities. . .................. ... (68.4) (34.4) (104.4)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts,net............. ... .. . ... L (59.6) (49.6) (44.6)
Repaymentofotherdebt......... ... . ... ool PP (4.1) {1.4) —
Repurchase of common stock. .. ..o e (80.3) (28.8) 54
Proceeds from stock option exercises and stock sales. ........ ... ... .l 50.5 42.3 34.9
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities ...................... (93.5) (37.5) (15.1)
Effect of Exchange Rate ChangesonCash ............... ... ... ... . ..., 55 5.2 0.2
Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) ..ot 96.5 (10.1) 18.1
Cash and equivalents at beginningof year. ............... ... . oo 124.2 1343 1162
Cash and equivalentsatend of year. .. ......cvv vt er i iiieeeneen, $220.7 $ 124.2 $ 1343
Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Interest and Income Taxes Paid (Refunded). ............... ... ... ...........
Interest paid .. ..ottt e $ 45 $ 47 $ 7.0
Income taxes Paid. . . ...ttt e e 332 $47.4 $32.0
Income taxes refunded. . ...... ..o i (17.1)  $(1) (LD

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Dollars in millions) -

Common Shares Issued |

Beginning balance. . .'. ... ... . oL
Exercises of stock options. .. .............
Restricted stock awards net..............
Employee stock purchase plans. e
Ending’ balance——lssued .................
Treasury Stock—Commbhn Shares

Beginning balance. . . /.ol
Repurchases . ‘

Exeréises of stock options.. ... ........... )

Restricted stock awards, net.. . ... ... .....:
Employee stock purchase plans............
Ending balance—treasury. . ..............
Common Shares Outstanding. . ...........

Additional Paid-In Capital

Beginning balance ..... R e .
Exercises of stock options’. ./ ... ... .. A
Tax benefit from'stock options ... .........
Restrlcted stock awards, net,. .............
Empl oyee stock purchase plans. e
Endmg balance.:...... . . 0

v

Retained Earnings v
Beginning balance (Note, B) oo
Net eammgs
Arbitron spin-off ad]ustment. e
Ending balance . RUESRTEIN .
Accumulated Other Comprehenswe Income
(Loss)
Foreign currericy translatlon )
Beginning balance .. 0. oo
Rate changes net....... e e
Endmg balanice .. R e
Unrealized gain, (loss) of chistomer funds
Beginning DAIANCE . 1 e
Change in unreallzed gam (loss), net of
incomie taxes of $10.6, $0.0 and $0.0 . . .
Less realized net (gain),loss, net of income
taxes of $(0.3),$0.0and $0.0.........
Endingbalance .....................
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities

Change in unrealized gain (loss), net of
income taxes of $1.5,$3.2 and $0.3 .
Less reallzed net (gam) loss net of income
taxes'of $(177), $(1.4)and $0.4. ... .. ..
Ending balance .. ;.. o
Pension llablllty adjustment
Begmmng balance ... Ll
Pension’ 1ab|l1ty chdnge, net of income taxes
of 2.7, $5.0 and $55 O(NoteI).......
Ending balance .. o ; e
Total endmg balance ..... e
Total Stockholders’ Equlty ...............

Total Comprehensive Income. . .. ........ ...

Amount

Shares
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)
$ 1.5 $ 1.5 $ 1.5 150,028,289 148,657,541 146,487,624
— — — 849,273 1,040,523 2,008,932
— — — 194,271 208,270 27,184
— — 1,411 121,955 133,801
$ 1.5 $ 1.5 $ 15 151,073,244 150,028,289 148,657,541
$ @@L § (16 $ — (5,848) (117,001) (2,662)
(80.3) (28.8) (5.4) (4,012,400) (1,844,100) (393,000)
44.5 26.3 1.6 2,246,762 1,684,502 113,206
(L5) — (0.1 (87,706) 2,943 (1,790)
42 . 4.0 23 209,075 267,808 167,245
$ 3y 8 0n 5 (19 (1,650,117) (5,848) (117,001)
‘ 149,423,127 150,022,441 148,540,540
$ 9252 $ 9063 $ 8701
25 10.7 28.8
6.1 5:6- 4.6 -
35 . 13 . 0.6
0.7 13 2.2
$ 936.6 $ 9252 $ 9063 :
B Comprehensive Income
2004 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)
$ 5286 $ 429.8 $ 3240 ‘
36.9 98.8 1115 3 369 3 988 § 111.5
— — (5.7 '
$ 35655 $ 528:6 $ 4298
$ 212 0§ (85 % (126).
229 29.7 41 22.9 29.7 4.1
44,1 212 _ (8.5)
$ 0~ 0§ = .3 —
18.9 — — 18.9 — —
0.4) — — 0.4 — —
18.5 — —
$ 39 $ 10 $ . (03).
2.4 4.9 0.7 24 4.9 0.7
@7 Q0 0.6 (2.7) (2.0) 0.6
3.6 39 1.0
$(2351) . $(2262) § (1334
(5.8) (89) . (928 (5.8) (8.9) (92.8)
(2409) . __(235.1).,.. _(226.2)
$ (1747) 8 (2100) $ (2337
$1,295.7 $1,2452' - '$1,102.3 _
3 722§ 1225 % 24.1

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(For the three years ended December 31, 2004)

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

A. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidation

As presented in these consolidated financial statements, we are Ceridian Corporation, which includes
subsidiaries and investments in which we have a majority interest. We provide human resource solutions to
employers through our Human Resource Solutions (“HRS”) business segment operations primarily
located in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. We also provide transaction processing and
related services primarily to the transportation and retail industries through our Comdata business
segment operations located primarily in the United States. Our products and services and business
segments are more fully described in Note E, “Segment Data.”

We include in our consolidated financial statements grantor trusts that hold funds provided by our
HRS payroll and tax filing customers pending remittance to employees of those customers or tax
authorities in the United States and Canada. The customer funds held in trust and customer deposits
related to our HRS benefits services and Comdata retail services businesses are separately identified as
“customer funds” in our consolidated balance sheets. Further information on our accounting for these
funds is provided in the section “Revenue Recognition” later in this Note A and in Note M, “Customer
Funds.”

When we acquire between a 20% to 50% equity interest in another entity, we generally account for
that investment under the equity method and record our share of its earnings or losses. During the
reporting period, we held no investments representing an equity interest between 20% and 50%. Our other
investments may include debt or equity securities that may or may not be marketable securities. We discuss
these other investments in the section entitied “Cash and Investments, including Derivatives™ later in this
Note A and in Note H, “Investing Activity.” We review our less-than-20%-owned investments to
determine whether we exercise a degree of significant influence over their management that would require
the application of the equity method through one or more of the following factors: (a) our representation
on the investee’s board of directors; (b) our participation in the investee’s policy making decisions;

(c) material intercompany transactions with the investee; (d) interchange of managerial personnel with the
investee; or (e) technological dependency.

All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated from our consolidated financial
statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation
No. (“FIN”) 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” which the FASB further amended during
2003. FIN 46 is intended to provide guidance on whether a beneficiary of a variable interest entity should
include that entity in its consolidated financial statements. FIN 46 became effective for our quarterly
report for the period ended March 31, 2004. The FASB has issued five Staff Positions (“FSP”) to provide
further guidance on FIN 46 including FSP FIN 46(R)-5, “Implicit Variable Interests under FASB
Interpretation No. 46” issued on March 3, 2004 and effective for periods beginning after that date. We
currently believe that the trusts would be considered variable interest entities that will continue to be
included in our consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO'CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
’ (For the three years ended December 31, 2004) (Continued)

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

On J anuary 12 2004 the FASB issued FSP 106-1, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirement Related
to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“Medicare Act”).” The
Medicare Act introduced a Medicare prescription drug benefit, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of
retire¢ health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare
benefit. FSP106-1 allowed companies to recognize or defer recognizing the effect of the prescription-drug
provisionslor" the new Medicare Act, signed into law on December 8, 2003, on their accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation in 2003 financial statements. We elected to defer the recognition of this
effect. On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-2, which addressed certain accounting and disclosure
issues raised by the Medicare Act and became effective for the first interim or annual period beginning
after June, 15,2004 or upon earlier adoption if elected. We elected to adopt FSP 106-2 effective for the
second quarter of 2004 and describe the effect of this adoptron in the accompanying Note I, “Retirement
Plans.”

In December 2004, the FASB issued a Statement of Financial Accounting Standards entitled
“Shatre-Based Payment, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95” (“FAS 123R”). The principal
effect of FAS 123R will be to require the inclusion in our earnings of a compensation expense for stock
option grants and employee stock plan purchases that previously was only reported as a disclosure in a
note to our consolldated financial statements. FAS 123R will become effective for our quarterly report for
the perrod ended. March 31, 2006. We are presently studying FAS 123R and believe that the compensation
expense that would be determined as a result of adoption of its provisions would not differ materially from
the amounts prev10usly presented in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accountlng Standards No. 153
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets” (“FAS 153”), which is effective for transactions occurring after
June 15, 2005 We do not expect that adoptlon of FAS 153 will have a rnaterlal effect on our investing
activities. ‘ :

Stock-Based Compensatlon

We account for stock-based compensation under the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting
Principles' Board Opinion No. (“APB”) 25 “Accountrng for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB 25”) and
related mterpretatlons Therefore, we generally do not record compensation expense with respect to grants
to employees or'directors under our fixed stock option plans, since the exercise price is set at the market
price on the date of grant, or for our employee stock purchase plan, which is noncompensatory.
Compensanon expense for our outstanding restricted stock awards, none of which is performance-based, is
recognized by charging the fair value of the award at the time of grant to operations ratably over the
vesting period. Grants of stock options to consultants or independent contractors are accounted for under
the fair value method. We also report under the disclosure-only provisions of FAS 123, “Accountmg for
Stock-Based Compensation” and FAS 148 “Accounting for-Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure——'an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123” as presented in Note J, “Stock Plans.”

Use of Estnmates

The preparation of financial statements in conformrty with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(For the three years ended December 31, 2004) (Continued)

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

financial statements and our reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates that could significantly affect our results of
operations or financial condition involve accounting for software and development costs, goodwill and
other intangible assets, pensions and postretirement benefits, economic hedging of interest rates on payroll
and tax filing fund investments, actions to restructure or discontinue operations, and the assessment of
contingencies. Further discussion on these estimates can be found in related disclosures elsewhere in our
Notes.

Changes in Presentation

We have reclassified certain prior year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Cash and Investments, including Derivatives

We classify investments that are readily convertible to cash within three months of purchase as cash
equivalents in our consolidated balance sheet and report those amounts at amortized cost (which does not
differ materially from fair market value). We account for our investments in marketable securities under
FAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and investments other than
marketable securities or derivative instruments under APB 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for
Investments in Common Stock.” Qur investments of customer funds in marketable securities were
classified as held-to-maturity, carried at amortized cost until May 2004, when we reclassified these
investments as “available for sale.” Customer funds and other investments in marketable equity or debt
securities are considered available-for-sale and reported in the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in
fair value reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as further discussed in Note H, “Investing
Activity.”

We account for derivatives in accordance with FAS 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities,” as amended and interpreted. FAS 133 requires that all derivatives be measured at fair
value on the balance sheet. The treatment of changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the
character of the transaction, including whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging
relationship as defined under FAS 133. Derivatives that do not meet the FAS 133 criteria for hedge
accounting are designated as economic hedges and changes in the fair value associated with these
instruments are included in the consolidated statement of operations as (gain) loss on derivative
instruments. In those cases where the derivative meets the FAS 133 hedge accounting criteria for a cash
flow hedge, the change in fair value of the derivative that is effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of
the designated risk being hedged is reported, net of related taxes, as accumulated other comprehensive
income in stockholders’ equity until realized. The change in fair value of the derivative that is associated
with ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship is reported in current earnings. We enter into interest rate
and fuel price derivative instruments for the purpose of economically hedging revenue risk and not for
speculative activity. Our economic hedging activities may include the use of contracts such as swaps,
collars, caps and floors, as economic hedges of variable income from investments of customer funds and
corporate cash, in the case of interest rate derivatives, and, in the case of fuel price derivatives, from
transportation revenue based on a percentage of the dollar value of the transaction processed. We further
discuss derivative instruments in Note H, “Investing Activity.”
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" NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{(For the three years ended December 31, 2004) (Continued)
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Property, Plant andrEquipment

Ouy- property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost and deprecrated for financial statement
purposes using straight-line and accelerated methods at rates based on the estimated lives of the assets,
which are generally as follows

‘Bui‘ldings ..... e e P 40 years
Building improvements ........... e PP ~ 5-15 years
Machmery and equipment ................ P TN R 3-8 years
Computer equipment............ L [P PP 3-6 years

N
at

We charge repairs and maintenance to expense as the costs are incurred. We include gains or losses
on dispositions in other expense (income) when realized. Capitalized interest included in software and
development costs was not material.

We review the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances such as
market value asset utilization, physical change, legal factors or other matters indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable When the review indicates that the carrying value of the asset or group of
assets representmg the lowest level of identifiable cash flows exceeds the sum of the expected future cash
flows (undrscounted and without interest charges), we recognize an asset write-down charge against
operatlons The amount of the impairment loss is the amount by whrch the carrying value exceeds the fair
value of the 1mpa1red asset or group of assets

[

Earmngs Per Share

Basic earnmgs per share represents earmngs drvrded by the weighted average number of common
shares outstandmg for the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share represents earnings divided by the -
sum of the werghted average number of common shares outstanding plus shares derived from other
potentially dilutive securities. Our other potentially dilutive securities include “in the money” fixed stock
options outstandmg The numbers of shares added for stock options is determined by the treasury stock
method, whreh assumes exercise of these options and the use of any proceeds plus related tax benefits to
repurchase a portion of these shares at the average market price for the period. The option shares
excluded from the calculation of our other potentially dilutive securities (because the exercise price
exceeded the average market price for the year) at each December 31 were 6,455,760 for 2004, 9,051,000
for 2003 and 9,847,000 for 2002. - .

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwrll which represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets of businesses
acquired, is assxgned tor operatmg units based on the benefits derived from the acquisition. Goodwill is not
amortized agamst earnmgs but instead goodwill balances.are subject to impairment review on at least an
annual, basis. The reporting units identified for this assessment are our'U.S.-based HRS operations, the
HRS operatlons of 'Ceridian Centrefile and Céridian Canada, Comdata—Transportation, and Comdata—
Retail. After consrderatron of the factors prescribed in FAS 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” that mrght,mdrcate a risk of impairment, we found.no indication of goodwill impairment at
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Our other intangible assets represent amounts assigned to specifically identifiable intangible assets at
the time of an acquisition. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Customer lists and relationships ... ..o i 5-15 years
Trademarks .. .o .v it e e e 30 years
Technology ... vv i e 7-8 years
NoOn-COmMPELe agIeemeENtS. . ...ttt ittt ettt eeneeeaeees 2-5 years

We regularly review these recorded amounts and assess their recoverability along with our other long-
lived asset groups. Our review considers factors such as whether the amortization of other intangible assets
for each operating unit can be recovered through forecasted undiscounted cash flows over their remaining
economic life. We discuss the results of current reviews in Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements”
and Note D, “Supplementary Data to the Statement of Operations.”

Software and Development Costs

Our software and development efforts are substantially for internal use. Under the provisions of
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1,
“Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” we capitalize costs
associated with software developed or obtained for internal use when both the preliminary project stage is
completed and our management has authorized further funding for the project which it deems probable of
completion and use for the function intended. Capitalized internal-use software costs include only:

(1) external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining the software;

(2) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to
the project; and (3) interest costs incurred, when material, while developing the software. Capitalization of
these costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready for its
intended purpose. We do not include general and administrative costs and overhead costs in capitalizable
costs. We charge research and development costs and other computer software maintenance costs related
to software development to operations as incurred.

We amortize software development costs using the straight-line method over a range of three to seven
years, but not exceeding the expected life of the product.

We regularly review the carrying value of software and development costs in connection with our
impairment analysis of other long-lived assets and recognize a loss when the value of estimated
undiscounted net cash flow benefit related to the asset group falls below the unamortized cost.

Income Taxes

We base our provision for income taxes on income recognized for financial statement purposes, which
includes the effects of temporary differences between financial statement income and income recognized
for tax return purposes. We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return for our parent company and
its eligible subsidiaries. We currently have undistributed earnings in our international subsidiaries of
approximately $81. Currently, we are examining the impact of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 in
order to determine the tax impact of declaring a dividend on a portion of such earnings. Based on our
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

current analysis, it is possible to remit between $50 and $81, wrth the respective tax liability ranging from
$3 to $5. We will finalize our assessment after issuance of further regulatory guidance.

Revenue Recogmtlon

We recogmze revenue from sale of our products and services when the following critetia are met:
(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,;
(3) the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured.
Generally, we rely on-a signed contract between us and the customer as the persuasive evidence of a sales
arrangement, We address these and the other criteria for revenue recognition in the following discussion
of types of revenue within our business.

HRS

:Repeir'tr'ué Business ,

The nlajt)rity of our HRS revenue is generated by recurring rnonth]y or quarterly fees from our payroll
processmg, tax filing services, benefit administration services, work-life and employee assistance services,

and human resource’ ‘outsourcing products. This revenue is generated by service fees, income from
investment of customer funds in lieu of fees, software maintenance and subscnpt]on fees.

Payroll Processing and Tax Filing Services. Generally, service fees for HRS payroll transaction
processing are contracted on a per transaction basis and recognized as revenue when transaction services
are provided and the amount is billable. We also recognize payroll services revenue from customer funds
held temporarrly pending remittance to the customer’s employees. These payroll deposits are primarily
invested through grantor trusts. We derive and recognrze investment income in lieu of fees as a component
of revenue as earned

Our payroll tax frlmg services consist primarily of: (1) collectmg funds for federal, state and local
employment taxes from customers based on payroll information provided by the customers; (2) remitting
funds collected to the appropriate taxing authorities; (3) filing applicable returns; and (4) handling related
regulatory correspondence and amendments for customers. Revenue from these tax filing services is billed
and recogmzed as the services are provided, generally on a monthly basis. We hold our customers’ tax
filing dep051ts for the period between collection and remittance of the funds to the applicable taxing
authorrty These tax filing deposits are invested through a grantor trust. We derive and recognize this
mvestrnent 1ncome 1n lreu of fees as a component of revenue as earned

Payroll processing’ and tax filing services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence
of standalone value for each service. Separate sales also establish the fair value of each of the services sold
in the event a customer contracts with us for multiple services.

Benefits Administration Services. We provide employee health and welfare benefits administration
and qualified’ adnnmstratron services to our customers. Employee health and welfare benefits
administration serv1ces incliide health insurance portability compliance services related primarily to
COBRA (Consohdated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act). Health and welfare benefits administration -

“services also encompass benefits provided to active employees, such as (1) annual health plan enrollment,
(2) ongoing employee enrollment and eligibility services, (3) tuition refund plans, (4) transportation
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reimbursement under the Transportation Equity Act, and (5) Internal Revenue Code Section 125 plans
(Flexible Spending), which include fully administered and self-administered flexible spending accounts and
premium-only plans.

We also provide retirement planning services that include: (1) administration services for benefits
provided to retired and inactive employees, which include retiree healthcare, disability, surviving
dependent, family leave and severance benefits; and (2) qualified plan administration services which
include 401(k) plan administration, profit sharing administration, defined benefit plan administration,
ESOP administration and Qualified Domestic Relations Order administration.

Revenue for COBRA services is earned and recognized as the services are provided. Revenue
associated with other health and welfare benefits administration and retirement planning services is
recognized monthly based on the number of employees that receive or participate in the benefit.

Benefits administration services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence of
standalone value for each service. Separate sales also establish the fair value of each of the services sold in
the event a customer contracts with us for multiple services.

Work-Life and Employee Assistance Services. We provide work-life and employee assistance programs
(“LifeWorks”) to our clients. LifeWorks are delivered through on-line access and telephonically, and
through face-to-face meetings provided by referral resources. Contracted fees for these services are
generally billed monthly. Revenue is earned and recognized over the term of the contract based on the
number of customer employees served and the level of service.

Human Resource Outsourcing. 1n 2003, we began marketing comprehensive human resource
outsourcing (“HRO”) solutions to our customers. HRO services can provide an entire suite of any of the
HRS services outlined above, but to date typically involve: (1) conversion and implementation consulting
services; (2) processing and hosting services related to payroll, tax filing services and benefit needs; and
(3) administration of payroll or benefits functions.

HRO services are sold separately by us or by our competitors; accordingly, there is evidence of
standalone value for the repetitive deliverables. In certain arrangements, a qualified stated renewal rate in
the contract provides evidence of the fair value for the undelivered repetitive processing services. In those
situations where a qualified stated renewal rate is included in the arrangement, the use of the residual
method afforded by Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables” allows us to recognize revenue on the delivered elements, generally consisting of
non-repetitive conversion and implementation services. Where fair value cannot be established on the
undelivered element, revenue (and the related costs of revenue) for the delivered elements are deferred
and recognized ratably over the repetitive processing period.

Non-Repetitive Business

Less than 5% of our consolidated revenue in 2004 was generated from the sale and installation of
software and data conversion services in our HRS businesses (including non-repetitive HRO services
discussed above). These services may also include training and other consulting.
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For our non:HRO business, the fees for these non-repetitive services are based upon published hourly
rates that are considered competitive with other providers and are consistent with hourly rates billed for
customization and consulting services performed by us en a standalone basis. Revenue from consulting
services is non-refundable; is primarily determined on a time and materials basis; and is recognized over
the installation and conversion period, generally two to four months. -

Comdata -
Transpartauon B

Comdata s funds transfer system is des1gned to enable truck drrvers to obtain funding for purchases
and cash advances at truck stops and other locations en route to their destinations. Drivers may use
Comdata’s proprietary Comdata card to purchase fuel, lodging and other approved items, obtain cash
advances from automated teller machines or through the use of Comchek drafts, make long distance
phone call$ and make direct deposits of pay, settlements or trip advances to personal bank accounts.
Revenue from funds transfer transactions is based on a per transaction fee that is based on either a fixed
amount.or a percentage of the face Value of the transaction and is recogmzed when the transaction takes
place. iidioa o : S i

In connectron ‘with 1ts transportatron services business, Comdata purchases accounts receivable due to
truckmg companles from manufacturers and shippers at a discount and with recourse back to the trucking -
company in the event of non- payment. The servrce that Comdata provides permits trucking companies to
receive payment on shipping invoices sooner. The non-refundable discount represents adequate '
compensation charged for servicing the receivables over a 30-day period. If the collection period extends
beyond 30 days, a non-refundable additional fee is charged for each month of servicing. After 90 days, an
uncollected receivable can be returned to the seller for its face value. Comdata recognizes revenue from
the discounted fee in the month of the purchase and the additional fees for servicing as we become entitled
to collect the fee, . . .

Comidata a]so provrdes fueling centers with:(1) PC-based, pomt of sale systems that automate the
various transactrons that occur at a fuel purchase desk; and (2) “pay at the pump” systems which enable
customers to, transact. card-based fuel purchases at the pump. Revenue from the sale of PC-based point of
sale equipment and pay at the pump equipment is recognized at the time the equipment is received and
accepted by the, customer. Recurring service revenues for these activities are recognized as earned.

Support. and maintenance contracts are generally for 12 month periods and are invoiced annually with the
revenues recogmzed on a straight- -line basis over the maintenance period. These products and services are
all sold separately; accordlngly, we have standalone value for each product and service. Separate sales also -
establish the fair value of each of the products and serv1ces sold in the event a customer contracts with us
for multrple products and/or servrces

Retazl S ervwes -

‘

Comdata sells stored value cards and provrdes subsequent activation, reporting and transaction
processmg servrces (“services”). Customers may also choose to purchase cards alone, without a contmumg
obligation for services from SVS. SVS recognizes revenue for card sales without services upon shipment.
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For card sales with services, revenue on both the card sales and services are deferred and reported on
the consolidated balance sheets as deferred income. Costs of the cards sold is deferred and reported on the
consolidated balance sheets as prepaid expense. Costs on the services are recognized as incurred. The
deferred income and prepaid expense on the card sale are recognized in earnings over the transaction
processing period (up to approximately 30 months), which begins upon activation of the card. The deferred
income on the services where we charge a fee for unlimited transactions processed on a card is recognized
in earnings over the same transaction processing period which begins upon activation of the card. The
deferred income on the services where we charge a fee each time a transaction is processed on a card is
recognized in earnings over the same transaction processing period which begins each time a transaction is
processed. Our history of providing services to our customers indicates that (1) we can expect activation of
a card within approximately seven months following card shipment, and (2) during the six months
following the activation of a card, approximately 90% of the services have been performed.

Sales of cards under either arrangement do not include a right of return of the cards shipped.

'Gross Versus Net Revenue

We include in revenue amounts that we bill for and remit to third-party vendors for associated
products and services as required on a gross basis as a principal rather than net as an agent when the
following conditions are met: (1) we are the primary obligor in the arrangement with the customer; (2) we
have credit risk and inventory risk; (3) we have latitude in the establishment of pricing, subject to general
economic restraints; and (4) we have full discretion in vendor selection.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenue

We assign to cost of revenue those costs that directly benefit the delivery of our revenue-producing
products and services. Most of these costs are recognized as incurred, that is, as we become obligated to
pay for them. Some costs of revenue are recognized in the period that a product is sold and delivered.
Other costs of revenue are recognized over the period of use or in proportion to the related revenue.

For HRS, a substantial portion of the costs included in cost of revenue are recognized as incurred and
the remaining costs are recognized over the period of use. The costs recognized as incurred consist
primarily of customer service staff costs, customer technical support costs, consulting and purchased
services, delivery services and royalties. The costs of revenue recognized over the period of use are
depreciation and amortization of tangible and software assets, rentals of facilities and equipment, and
direct and incremental costs associated with deferred implementation service revenue.

For Comdata, the principal types of costs included in cost of revenue that are recognized as incurred
include customer service staff costs, banking fees and telecommunications costs. The principal Comdata
cost of revenue that is recognized when the product is delivered is equipment sold to customers. The
principal Comdata costs of revenue that are recognized over the period of use include depreciation and
amortization of tangible and software assets, and rentals of facilities and equipment. The purchase cost of
retail card stock is deferred and recognized in proportion to and over the same period as the related
revenue.
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*‘Selling; General and Administrative Expense

We mclude in sellrng expense costs related to maintaining a direct marketing infrastructure and sales
force and other direct marketrng efforts such as advertising, telemarketing, direct mail and trade shows.

General and administrative expense includes the cost of maintaining the infrastructure of the
company that is not drrectly related to delivery of products and services or selling efforts. Also included in
this category are the provision for doubtful accounts receivable, amortization of other intangible assets and
net perrodrc pensron costs.

Research and Development Expense

We 1nclude in research and development expense those costs related to maintaining a technical
workforce to the extent that their activities principally involve the following software development
activities: ‘ :

. Conéeprual formulation and design of possible product or process alternatives

‘ e Testrng in search for or evaluation of product or process alternatives

ot
i

. Modlﬁcatron of'the formulatron or design of a product OT process

. Engmeerrng actlvrty requrred to advance the de51gr1 of a product to the point that it meets specific
funct1ona1 and econom1c requirements and is ready for production

( Gain ) Loss on Derivative Instruments

We mclude in (gam) loss on derivative instruments the change in the fair value of derivative
instruments desrgnated as economic hedges, which are derivatives that do not meet-the FAS 133 criteria
for hedge accounting treatment. We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The
effective portion‘ of changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that meets the FAS 133 hedge
accounting requirements is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. We discuss our policy
on derlvatrve instruments earher in this Note A under the caption “Cash and Investments, including
Derivatives.”

Other Expense (Income )

We 1nclude in-other expense (income) the results of transactions that are not appropriately classified
in another'costs and expenses category and that generally are not recurring. Those transactions might
relate to litigation and contract settlements, currency exchange, asset sales, exit activities, and impairment
of ass‘etrVa]ues (asset write-downs) :

Translatlon of Forelgn Currencies

We have determmed that local currencies serve as functional currencies for our international
operations. We translate foreign currency balance sheets at the énd-of-period exchange rates and earnings
statements at the weighted average exchange rates for each period. We report the effect of changes in the
U.S. dollar carrying values of assets and liabilities of our international operations that are due to changes

in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and their functional currency as “foreign currency translation” in
“accumulated other comprehensive income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders’
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equity. Gains and losses from translation of assets and liabilities denominated in other than the functional
currency of the international operation are recorded in results of operations as “other expense (income).”

Receivables Securitization

We maintain a credit facility under which we sell Comdata receivables to third parties through a
consolidated subsidiary of Comdata. The subsidiary is consolidated since Comdata owns 100% of the
equity, the subsidiary’s activities are virtually all on Comdata’s behalf, and the substantive risks and
rewards of the assets rest directly with Comdata. Additionally, the subsidiary has a unilateral right to
reclaim all of the transferred assets. Therefore, we account for the outstanding advances as secured
borrowings under FAS 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities” and the sold receivables and borrowings remain in our consolidated
balance sheet. We further explain our policy and the operation of this facility in Note K, “Financing.”

B. RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have restated our consolidated financial statements for the years 2000 through 2003 and for the
first nine months of 2004 (the “Restatement”). The determination to restate these financial statements was
made after errors were discovered in March and April 2005. In addition, certain disclosures in other notes
to our consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect the Restatement adjustments. In the
Restatement, we have:

o recorded accelerated amortization of the CobraServ trademark

corrected the accounting for certain leases

o corrected errors in the accounting fof international acquisitions

e corrected other accounting errors related to the accrual of costs and expenses
¢ reduced income tax reserves

¢ corrected balance sheet amounts for customer funds and employee benefits

The Restatement narrative below includes only the 2003 and 2002 audited amounts as well as the
impact of prior period Restatement amounts on beginning retained earnings at January 1, 2002. The
accompanying consolidated statement of operations table includes an unaudited column for the first nine
months of 2004 to show the total impact of the Restatement on our 2004 quarterly periods.

The Restatement reduced our earnings before income taxes for 2002 and 2003 by $4.0 consisting of
$3.2 related to leases, $0.5 related to international acquisition accounting and $0.3 related to the accrual of
costs and expenses. All of the 2002 and 2003 pre-tax statement of operations Restatement entries were
classified as selling, general and administrative expense except for $0.3 in 2003 related to leases that was
charged to cost of revenue. The impact of the Restatement on the consolidated statements of operations
for these periods is shown in an accompanying table. This consolidated statement of operations table also
contains the unaudited amounts for the first nine months of 2004. The quarterly impact of the Restatement
for 2003 and 2004 is presented in Note O, “Supplementary Quarterly Data.”
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The Restatement decreased beginning retained earnings for: the year ended December 31, 2002
presented on our consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity from $327.4 as previously reported to
$324.0 as restated. This $3.4 decrease, net of tax of $1.4, consisted of $2.0 for leases and $1.7 for
international acquisition accounting, partially offset by a $0.3 increase related to accruals of costs and
expenses.-

The primary impact of the above adjustments on the December 31, 2003 consolidated balance sheet
was to intangible assets due to international acquisition adjustments, customer funds, and.other noncurrent
liabilities due to lease adjustments. The impact of the Restatement on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2003 is shown in an accompanying table.

The Restatement had no impact on historical cash balances or total cash flows from operatmg,
investing or fmancmg activities for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The only impact on the
consolidated statements of cash flows was to reclass certain amounts within operating cash flows.

The following is a more detailed description of the six classes of Restatement adjustnients:

CobraServ trademark amortization

In March 2005, we discovered that as a result of the determmat10n to rename the CobraServ product
offering, the CobraServ trademark capitalized as part of a 1999 acquisition of our benefits services division
was no longer being used. It was determined that the decision to abandon the trademark was made in
January 2004 and to stop use of the CobraServ trademark in December 2004. As part of this abandonment,
we began phasing out use of this trademark over the course of 2004, and the scheduled amortization
expense for 2005 and future years of $40.9 was accelerated and amortized to selling, general and
administrative expense in equal amounts of $10.2 over the four quarters of 2004. This treatment was
apphed asa change in accountmg estimate under Accountmg Principles Board Opinion No. 20,
“Accountmg Changes The impact on our consolidated balance sheets was a $10.2 reduction of other
intangible assets in each of the four quarters in 2004.

Lease accounting

In Apr1\1 2005 e discovered errors in our accounting for certain operating leases. Rent obligations
were not being expensed on a straight-line basis in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standard’s
Board Technical Bulletin 85-3, “Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases.” The
correction to a straight-line basis increased costs and expenses by $32 during 2002 and 2003. This $3.2 was
charged to selling, general and administrative expense, except for $0.3 in 2003 that was charged to cost of
revenue. The pretax impact for periods prior to 2002 was an expense of $2.8, which was recorded as a
reduction of retained earnings at January 1, 2002 of $2.0, net of tax.

International acquisition accounting

As part of a March 2005 review of international purchase accounting entries for acquisitions in the
United Kingdom and Canada in 1995 and 1998, errors were discovered in the initial entries as well as the
ongoing accounting treatment. The net impact of these adjustments was an increase in selling, general and
administrative expense of $0.5 during 2002 and 2003. The pretax impact for periods prior to 2002 was an
expense of $2.4, which was recorded as a reduction of retained earnings at January 1, 2002 of $1.7, net of
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tax. The company also made errors in the application of certain foreign currency translation impacts for
the international operations which impacted the balance sheet accounts for goodwill, other intangible
assets, capitalized software and accumulated other comprehensive income—foreign currency translation.

Accrual of costs and expenses

As part of the ongoing review of our financial statements, we discovered certain other errors related
to the accuracy and timeliness of the accrual of costs and expenses. These errors generally related to the
timing of expense recognition and offset each other within annual reporting periods; however, the expense
recognition timing between quarters had a larger impact as disclosed in Note O, “Supplementary Quarterly
Data.” These adjustments increased selling, general and administrative expense for 2002 and 2003 by $0.3.
The pretax impact for periods prior to 2002 was a reduction of expenses of $0.4, which was recorded as an
increase in retained earnings at January 1, 2002 of $0.3, net of tax.

The adjustments consisted of:

Casualty loss reserves

Accrual of commissions and incentives

Prepayment of expenses originally recorded as an investment

Payroll taxes on third party contractors in the United Kingdom

Income tax reserves

It was determined that as a result of an error in the recording of a reduction in our income tax
reserves, our liability was overstated by $0.9 as of December 31, 2003. Accordingly, a tax benefit was
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003 as part of the Restatement. This adjustment is in addition to the tax
impact of the corrections to pretax earnings listed above.

Balance sheet corrections for customer funds and employee benefits

In reviewing our customer funds assets and liabilities we discovered that an $11.4 correction needed to
be made at December 31, 2003 related to amounts due from customers and taxing authorities. We also
determined that a $2.0 employee benefits accrual should have been recorded as a current liability rather
than long-term and reclassified it at December 31, 2003.
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The followmg table presents the effect of the Restatement on the consolidated statements of
operatlons

First Nine  For Years Ended

Months December 31,
of 2004 - 2003 2002
(unaudited)
As Previously Reported ‘ ‘
Revenue .. ..., ... e e e e e $959.1 $1,2139 $1,160.3
COSEE AIA ERPEISES . & -« L2t e e e et et e e 888.3 1,062.4 984.3
Earnings before Income taxes. . .. ..o e 70.8 1515 176.0
Income tax provision. ... .. .. ... e e 245 52.8 62.8
Earnings from continuing OPErations. - . . ... vt ottt ot e ettt e et et 46.3 98.7 113.2
" Discontinued operat:ons ......................................................... — ‘ — —

Nt GAITIZS 13 1 . oo it ettt et ettt e e e i $ 463 $ 987 § 1132
Basic earnings; per share

Continuing OPETALIONS . ... ..o ot iitt ittt $031 § 066 8 076

NETCAMINZS. .ot T, $031 8§ 066 § 076
Diluted earnings per share ‘

CONUNUING OPETATONS . . ..+ o\t ettt ettt e e e et e e $ 031 $ 066 3 076

Neteammgs ..... e e e e e e $031 § 066 $ 076
Restatement’ Summary
Trademark amortization. . . ... o e $36 & —8% —
Lease aCCoUntINg . ... e e 15 2.1 1.1
International acquisition accounting .. ............... e (0.6 (0.8) 1.3
Accrual 0f costs and EXPENSES. . .ot v it e L (0.3) — 0.3

Costs and EXPENSES IMCTEASE « ...t voe e tte ettt et e e s et et et 312 1.3 2.7
Total pretax earnings deCrease. . ...ttt eut ettt e (31.2) S (13) 27
Tax effect of restatement(1). . .. .. o i e e e (10.8) (1.4) (1.0)
Total net earnings increase (decrease). . .........ooovt oo, e $(204) $§ 01 & (1.7
As Restated . , ' '
Revenue ................ e e e $959.1 $1,2139 $1,160.3
Costs and eXpenses. ... ... v S P 918.5 1,063.7 987.0
Earnings before incomie taxes. . .................... e 39.6 150 2 173.3
INCOME tAX PIOVISION. L . .'s ot o\t ettt et et et e e et et e e e e eas 13.7 51.4 61.8
Earnings from continuing 0perations. .................o. il 259 98.8 1115
Discontinued operations. . . . . . P - — —
NEt@AITNGS oot e e et e e PN $259 § 988 3 11135
Basic earnings per share ‘

Continuing OPErations . . ...ttt e $017 $ 066 § 075

Net earnmgs. e e e $ 0.17 $ 066 $ 075
Diluted earnings per share

Continuing OPETALIONS . . . v ot vttt et et it e e e e et et e $017 $ 066 % 074

Net @arnings. . ..o vt e e e $017 $ 066 § 074

(1) 2003 includes a $0.9 tax reserve adjustment in addition to the $0.5 tax effect of the pretax earnings decrease of $1.3.

Please refer to Note O for the impact of the Restatement on our 2004 and 2003 quarterly information.
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The following table presents the effect of the Restatement on the consolidated balance sheet:

December 31, 2003
Prev?(fusly As
Reported Adjustments Restated
Assets
Cashandequivalents ..............c.ooiiiiiiiiirinennn... $ 1242 $ — $§ 1242
Trade and other receivables,net ..........civiiiiinineinn.. 467.3 — 467.3
Current portion of deferred income taxes ....................... 285 — 28.5
Other current assets .. ...t ii i e e 56.0 — 56.0
Total current assets. . . ... vt e 676.0 — 676.0
Goodwill . ... e 904.8 13.8 918.6
Other intangible assets, net......... ..o vviiiiii i, 101.1 (10.9) 90.2
Software and development costs,net............. ... ..ot 85.8 04 86.2
Deferred income taxes, less current portion. . .................... 6.0 3.6 9.6
INVESTMENITS ..\ttt ettt ittt e e 232 (0.3) 22.9
Other noncurrent assets. . ......ovuur it iinens 224.6 — 224.6
Total assets before customer funds . .................... . ..., 2,021.5 6.6 2,028.1
Customer funds . .....oov i i e 3,141.3 114 3,152.7
T OtAl ASSEES. v v v ettt et ettt et et e e $5,162.8 $ 18.0 $5,180.8
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term obligations . .. . .. $ 65 $ — $ 65
Accountspavable ... ... .. e e 39.1 — 39.1
Drafts and settlements payable. ........... ... ... ... L 113.7 — 113.7
Customer advanCes . ... v v vni i e 31.0 — 31.0
Deferred income . ...t 66.9 — 66.9
ACCTUEA LAXES. . . v it e 26.4 (0.9) 25.5
Employee compensation and benefits............... ... ... ..., 539 1.4 553
Other accrued EXpenses. . ..ot 35.2 0.2 35.4
Total current liabilities. .. ......... o o i 3727 0.7 373.4
Long-term obligations, less current portion...................... 157.0 — 157.0
Deferred inCome taxes . . ....c.ovvvrnirnereinntnuranairsanens 37.8 0.8 38.6
Employee benefitplans . ... 198.0 (2.0 196.0
Other noncurrent liabilities. ............ ... ... ..o .. 12.0 5.9 17.9
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations.............. 777.5 5.4 782.9
Customer funds obligations. . ... ...ttt 3,141.3 11.4 3,152.7
Total liabilities. . .. ...t 3,918.8 16.8 3,935.6
Common stock and additional paid-in capital ........... AR 926.5 0.1 926.6
Retained earnings. ..ot 533.6 5.0) 528.6
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ..................... (216.1) 6.1 (210.0)
Total stockholders’ equity . .........coo i 1,244.0 1.2 1,245.2
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity....................... $5,162.8 $ 18.0 $5,180.8
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The followmg table presents the Restatement effects by reason and line item on the consolidated
balance sheet

Balance sheet accouht\ o December 31, 2003

Increase (decrease)

Summarﬁ' by Reétaﬁemént Group by Balance Sheet‘Account
Lease accounting:'

Other noncurrent liabilities increase . ....... D e e $§ 59
Internatlonal ,acquisition accounting: .
Goodwill . ... .. e e ‘ 13.8
Other mtanglble assets, net........ e e ‘ (10.9)
Softwareanddevelopmentcosts T S S 0.4
Accumulated other comprehensive i income (currency translatlon) ....................... © 61
Net liability/equity inctease ... .... T A O T $ 28
Accrual of ¢osts and expenses: B
INVESMEITS. . o it e e s R (0.3)
Employee compensation and benefits (short -term hab1hty) ............................. (0.6)
Other accrued eXpenses. ............ oo - 02
Net liability T P $ (0.1
Income tax impact of adjustments: .
Deferred income taxes (long-term asset) .......ouvrtiiiiiin i ‘ 3.6
Accruedtaxes(currentmcometaxespayable)..................,...................‘.. ‘ 0.9)
Deferred income taxes (long -term liability) .................. [, e 0.8
Net 8SSCt INCTERASE © ... v vt es e eene s SR $ 37
Balance sheet reclassifications:
Customer funds (8SS€1) .. .......oovii i PO 114
Customer funds Obligations . ... ...iii e P 11.4
Employee compensation and benefits (short-term liability) .. ..............0..c.ooeie.. ‘ 2.0
Employee benefit plans (long-term liability). . ........coocivi e e f (2.0)
Net balance sheet impact ...........ooooovinvanns e TP $ —
Line item summary of above adJustments and reclass:ﬁcatlons
Assets ‘
GOOAWILL L oottt e e ‘ 13.8
Other intangible-assets,net. ..o, S H " (10.9)
Software-and development costs, net........ ey N vt e e 0.4
Deferred income taxes (Jong-term) . ... 3.6
THVEStMENES. . o ettt e e e e P ‘ (0.3)
Customer fUnds .. .. ... e e 11.4
Netincrease in assets .......oovvernirevneonenn.. T $18.0
Liabilities ‘
ACCTUEA TAXES . . o . et i st e et et e e e st e e e e e e e e ‘ (0.9)
Employee compensation and benefits. ............ ... o o e 1.4
Other AcCTUEd EXPEIISES. « .. v\ttt ittt et et e et e e e e e et e 0.2
Deferred income taxes (JONZ-tEIM) . . ..ottt et ia e aanans 0.8
Employee benefit plans (Iong-term) ... ... (2.0)
Other noncurrent liabilities, . ... ..o vovee e P 5.9
Customer funds obligations .. ... 11.4
Net increase in liabilities. .. ..ot e e e e $16.8
Net increase in stockholders’ €qUItY .. ..ottt i $ 1.2
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C. INCOME TAXES

At December 31, 2004, we had total net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $205.6.
Amounts available to reduce future taxable income include $10.2 of U.S. federal net operating loss
carryfowards, $192.6 of U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards, and $2.8 of international net operating
loss carryfowards. If unused, these carryforwards will expire between 2005 and 2024,

Our income tax returns remain subject to income tax audits in various jurisdictions for 1989 and
subsequent years, as a result of tax sharing agreements related to the disposition of certain operations. The
IRS is currently examining us for the 2001 and 2002 tax years. Also, as disclosed in an accompanying table,
we were able to favorably settle some tax issues with jurisdictions during each of the past three years. We
have provided for probable additional taxes related to open audits. During 2004, the net amount of audit
related items reflected in our income tax provision is a tax benefit of $4.0. We consider our tax accruals
adequate to cover any U.S, and international tax deficiencies not recoverable through deductions in future
years.

Components of Earnings and Taxes from Years Ended December 31,

Continuing Operations 2004 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)

Earnings Before Income Taxes :
U S $ 91 §$1216 $144.4

International ....... ... . it e 321 28.6 28.9
Total ... $ 412 81502 $173.3
Income Tax Provision ‘
Current
U S $259 §$ 48 $ 21.6
Stateandother .............. ... ..o PR (10.8) (0.1) 3.0
International ..........couiiiiriii i 9.0 12.5 12.5
‘ 24.1 17.2 37.1
Deferred
U S e e (21.9) 35.7 27.6
Stateandother.......... ... ... o (1.9) 21 0.6
International ........ .. .. ... .. ... 4.0 (3.6) (3.5)
(19.8) 34.2 24.7
Total. ..o $ 43 §$ 514 $ 61.8
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T ] ) . Years Ended December 31,
‘Effective Rate Reconciliation ‘ 2004 2003 2002

(restated) (restated)
;USstatutoryrate..‘................................' ..... O 35% 35%. 35%
Income tax provision at U.S. statutory rate . .. .. e $ 144 $526 - 3606
State iNCOME taxes, NEt. .........veevuneeneiviniaaeainn, C 1.0 1.2 2.8
* Meals and entertainment........... e ~ 1.0 0.8 0.8
Tax'on 1nternat10nal €AIMINGS. . ..o v, e 123 — —_
Tax settlements. . ............. e e C(16.3) (3.9 (3.9
" ‘Valuation allowance change......... ... ol A (7.0) — —
{0011 (1.1) 0.7 15
. lncome taX ProVISION . ... .ottt $ 43 §514 $61.8
. Tax Effect of Items That Comprise a Significant Portion of the December 31,
Net Deferred Tax Asset and Deferred Tax Liability : 2004 2003
i (restated)
Deferred Tax Asset ‘
Employment related accruals . .. .......o..oieeiiii $ 641 $ 64.0
Restructuring and other accruals. ... ...o.vvve v, < 442 28.6
~Net operating loss carryforwards ........................ e . 187 12.4
‘Other..... S U P e Jeeen 14.5 13.1
T otal gross deferred tax asset............... S T 1415 118.1
“Valuation allowance. . . ... .. T e _(151) (1858
‘ Total deferred tax asset..... R e 126.4 99.3
Deferred Tax Lzabzlzzy ‘
INtANEIDIES . .oy ettt e .(84.1)  (67.4)
Others. .l e i P (20.9) _(324)
. Total deferred tax llablhty. e T SO P (105.0)  (99.8)
~ Net deferred tax asset (liability). . ...........ooieiiiiiiiann.. $ 214 $§ (0.5)
N etQDeferredj‘Tax by Geography : C
United States..........ooviiiiiiiiiinan e e $ 483 §$ 162
International ...................... e P o (269 (16.7)
- Total ...... e $ 214 $ (0.5

We have established a valuation allowance related to future state income tax benefits because it is
considered to be more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized. At December 31, 2004, the
valuation allowance relating to state tax operating loss carryforwards was approximately $14.1 and the
allowance related to international operating loss carryforwards was approximately $1.0. We decreased the
valuation allowance for the state deferred income taxes related to the pension assets because it was more
likely than not that we would realize its benefit in the future. The associated tax benefit of approximately
$7.0 was recognized in tax expense for the current year: We also increased the valuation allowance due to
the current year net operatlng loss carryforwards.
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D. SUPPLEMENTARY DATA TO STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

Other Expense (Income) ~2004 2003 2002
SourceWeb exit costs, Nt Of TECOVETIES ..o\ v vttt aneen, $285 $ — § —
Litigation and contract settlement costs . ............ it — 1.9 0.8
Foreign currency translation expense (income). . ...........oviiueenianan.. (0.8) (0.2) (0.6)
Gainonsale 0f assets . . ... ottt 06) @6y @ —
(Gain) loss on marketable securities . ... 435) (34) 63
Accrued exit COSts, NEt Of FECOVEIIES ...t i ettt eiieene e 0.3 — 13.5
Factoring receivables 1oss ....... ..o i — — 9.8
Asset write-downs.............. e e 3.6 — 7.3
Reduction in environmental accrual ...................... B — )
Other expense (INCOME). . ... v vttt — 0.8 0.1
803 71 $26.5 §$(2.5) $33.1

Unusual Losses (Gains)
SourceWeb exit costs, net of recoveries

On December 31, 2004, we sold certain customer relationships and other assets associated with our
SourceWeb payroll platform (the “SourceWeb Assets”) to RSM McGladrey Employer Services, Inc.
(“RSM”) for $4.0 pursuant to the terms and conditions of an Asset Purchase Agreement. In accordance
with the provisions of FAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we
recorded a $9.1 pre-tax impairment charge on assets associated with this platform representing the excess
of net book value of the SourceWeb Assets over sale proceeds. The impaired assets primarily consisted of
a purchased software license from The Ultimate Software Group, Inc. (“Ultimate™) and capitalized
software development costs. In addition to this asset impairment, we also recorded a $19.4 pre-tax loss on
disposal which comprised the fair value of the future minimum royalty obligations to Ultimate of $19.2 and
$0.2 of employee severance costs.

SourceWeb was a payroll platform within the small business division of our HRS business segment.
Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, we agreed to provide certain transitional and
third party services to RSM for up to nine months from December 31, 2004.

Litigation and contract settlement costs
During the third quarter of 2003, Comdata paid $1.9 to settle out of court with a former vendor. In the
fourth quarter of 2002, we also recorded $0.8 of other costs in HRS for a litigation settlement.

(Gain) loss on marketable securities

During 2004, we sold 193,289 common shares of Ultimate for proceeds of $2.4 and a net gain of $1.6.
Also in 2004, we sold 582,758 common shares of U.S.I. Holdings Corporation (“USIH”) for proceeds of
$8.7 and a net gain of $2.9.
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During September 2003, we sold 785,000 common shares of Ultimate for proceeds of $5.9 and a net
gain of $3.0: In addition, we sold 137,158 common shares of USIH for proceeds of $1.8 and a net gain of
$0.4. We- further descrrbe these transactions in Note H, “Investinig Activity.”

Durmg ‘the fourth quarter of 2002, HRS recorded a $6.3 write-down of the carrying value of certain
marketable equity securities. The investment write-down related primarily to our December 2001 cost-
based investment in preferred stock of USIH, which was converted to common stock as a result of an
initial pubhc of:fermg 1n October 2002.

Accrued ‘exit costs, net of recoveries

Accrued Exit Costs

‘ Occupancy o
i Severance Costs Contracts Total
2004 ‘
SourceWeb. ... ... i $ 0.2 $ — $19.2  $194
Other. ..o 0.2 . 0.1 — 0.3
~Totalaccrued costs. . ......oovvii i 0.4 01 - 192 19.7
Utilization: - .~ | |
2004 cash payments .............. ...l (0.1) .« — — (0.1)
Balance at December 31,2004 . ............. ..., $.03 $ 0.1 $19.2  $19.6
2002 | : ' |
Total acCrued COSES . ..o vvvvee e e iieeeeanns $ 8.2 $ 6.7 $ — $149
Utilization: .. . ‘ .
2002 cash payments . ............oeveivennn.n. (6.3) (2.5) — . (88)
2002 TECOVELIES « v ivi it cei e . (1.1) C - — (1.1
2003,cash payments ... (0.8) (2.8) — (3.6)
2004 cash payments. . ...........covveivneiin.. — (14 — (1.4)
Balance at December 31,2004 . ... ............... $§ — 8 — $ — § —

During the third quarter of 2004, we announced a shut-down of a Comdata facility that resulted in
accrued exit costs.of $0.3 of which $0.2 was for severance and $0.1 was related to the lease of the facility.

During the first quarter of 2002, we announced two separate series of actions intended to consolidate
certain operations'in each of our business segments and recorded accrued exit costs of $9.0. A plan to
consolrdate certain HRS payroll and tax filing processing services, previously conducted in 25 district
offices, into! 4reg10na1 processing certers resulted in the accrual of $7.5 for exit costs. Of the $7.5 accrual,
$5.3 related to severance costs for 317 employees ail of whom were terminated by December 31, 2002, and
$2.2 represented other exit costs, primarily related to lease terminations. Consolidation of certain Comdata
facilities resulted in a¢crued severance costs of $1.0 for 76 employees, all of whom were terminated by
December 31,2003, and other exit costs of $0.5, primarily related to lease terminations.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, we reviewed the status of accrued exit costs and revised the estimated
amounts to reduce the severance cost provisions made in prior years by $1.4. The revisions made by HRS
included $0.8 related to provisions recorded in the first quarter of 2002 and $0.3 recorded in the first
guarter of 2000 The revisions by Comdata amounted to $0.3 related to provisions recorded in the first
quarter of 2002. We also incurred additional expense in HRS for severance costs of $1.3, involving
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81 employees, and other exit costs of $2.9 and in Comdata for severance costs of $0.6, involving 41
employees, and other exit costs of $1.1. We paid all of the additional HRS severance costs during the
fourth quarter of 2002. The other exit costs largely represented lease commitments, net of expected
recoveries.

Factoring receivables loss

During the third quarter of 2002, we examined purchases of receivables from a certain trucking
company by Comdata’s factoring business that had grown rapidly during 2002 and found that the debtors
could not be verified. In the meantime, the parties that had sold us the receivables declared bankruptcy.
We recorded the full amount of the loss of $9.8, including $0.3 of investigative costs incurred. Due to the
unusual and non-recurring nature of the loss, we have reported the loss as other expense (income). We
also made certain modifications to our policies and procedures related to the factoring business.

Asset write-downs

In January 2004, we committed to the internal development of a replacement for our HRS LifeWorks
customer management system as a result of the failure of an external contractor to meet our requirements
for such a project. We recorded an asset write-down of $2.3 in the first quarter of 2004 representing the
carrying value of the capitalized software related to the work performed by the external contractor that was
abandoned and determined to have no future value to us. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2004,
we recorded an asset write-down of $0.9 due to an impairment of an internally developed software product
in HRS.

HRS recorded a $4.9 asset write-down of internally developed software costs in the first quarter of
2002 as a result of the February 2002 acceptance of the software technology provided under a March 2001
agreement with Ultimate further described in Note L, “Commitments and Contingencies.” An additional
software asset write-down of $0.6 was recorded in the second quarter of 2002. Also in the fourth quarter of
2002, HRS recorded a $1.5 write-down of the carrying values of certain cost-based investments and wrote
off the $0.3 carrying value of an abandoned software product.

Reduction in environmental accrual

During the first quarter of 2002, we conducted a periodic reassessment of our environmental
obligation. This obligation relates to the 1989 sale by our predecessor (Control Data Corporation) of its
disk drive operations, which involved remediable environmental sites. The sale agreement provided terms
describing how remedial costs related to remediable environmental sites would be shared between the
buyer and us as the seller. The terms of the agreement included periodic joint reviews of the obligation by
the buyer and us. Our obligations covered only those sites identified prior to the fifth anniversary of the
sale. At the time of the sale, we established an accrual for our estimated costs that might occur as a result
of this agreement. During the first 10 years following the sale, both parties incurred significant costs, which
then began to decrease as these sites entered a water extraction and monitoring stage. During the first
quarter of 2002, we participated in a periodic review of the status of this obligation with the environmental
officer of the buyer. A site visit was made by our environmental representative at that time, and it was
determined that our estimated liability was $4.1 less than previously determined. The excess accrual was
then credited back to earnings as a component of other expense (income). Our accrual for this
environmental obligation was $4.0 as of December 31, 2004.
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E. SEGMENT DATA ‘

We operate in the mformatlon services industry principally in the U.S. and provide products and
services primarily to the human resource, transportation and retail information markets. Our businesses
collect, managé and analyze data and process transactions on behalf of customers, report information
resulting from such activities to customers, and provide customers with related products, software
applications.and services. Our technology-based products and services of these businesses are typically
provided through long-term customer relationships that result in a high level of recurring revenue. Our
HRS and Comdata business segments are distinguished primarily by reference to the markets served and
the nature of the SCI’V]CeS provided. Selected business segment information is provided in an accompanying
table. . ‘

HRS offers a broad range of services and software designed to help employers more effectively
manage their work forces and information that is integral to human resource processes. These activities are
conducted prlmarﬂy in the U.S. and, to a lesser extent, through subsidiaries located in Canada and the
United ngdom

Comdata prowdes transactlon processing and decision support services to the transportation industry,
including a551stance in obtammg regulatory permits and other services, in its markets. Comdata sells stored
value cards and prov1des card-based services primarily to retailers (“Retail Services”) in the form of gift
cards and certlf;cates, credits for product returns and retail promotions.

“Further information about our business segments is presented in the section of Note A, “Accounting
Policies” entitled “Revenue Recognition.”

The “Other” feporting element includes the unallocated amounts related to our corporate center
operations. The assets of corporate center operations include cash and equivalents as well as deferred
income tax and pensmn -related assets and liabilities.

We mea_sureybu‘smess segment results by reference to earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”).
Expenses incurred by corporate center operations are charged or allocated to the business segments except
for certain unusual'gains and losses, which are reported as “Other”.

Revenue from sales between business segments is not material and is eliminated upon.consolidation.
Our operations are conducted primarily in the U.S. and revenue from sales between U.S. and non-U.S.
entities is not material. Operations in Canada and the United Kingdom relate largely to the HRS segment.
Geographic data for or at the end of each of the last three years, presented in an accompanying table, is
determined by reference to the location of operation.
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Years Ended December 31,

Geographic Segment Data 2004 2003 2002
U.S. Operations
HRS Revenue
Payrofl and tax filing. . .......... .ot $ 4520 §$ 4359 § 4171
Benefits services ..o e 146.1 135.9 124.8
LifeWOrKs ... e e e 133.4 115.9 113.9
CTotal HRS ULS. o e e it 731.5 687.7 655.8
-Comdata Revenue
Transportation. . ......ovuiiiiii i 2571 2420 250.1
Retall ServiCes . o oottt it e 98.9 77.7 62.9
Total Comdata. ......... F P e 356.0 319.7 313.0
Total REVENUE . ..ottt e e $1,087.5 $1,007.4 $ 968.8
Property, plant and equipment at December 31 ..................... 127.1 136.8 139.0

Non-U.S. Operations
United Kingdom Operations

REVEMUE . .ot ettt eei i e reareaans $ 918 § 793 § 786
Property, plant and equipment at December31................. 58 35 4.0
Canadian Operations :
ReVENUE . .o 1411 127.2 112.9
Property, plant and equipment at December31................. 8.0 7.7 7.1
Total Non-U.S. Operations
ROVEINUE . oottt e e $ 2329 § 2065 $ 1915
Property, plant and equipment at December 31 ................. 13.8 11.2 11.1
Total Worldwide
ReVenUe . ..ot e e 813204 $1,2139  $1,160.3
Property, plant and equipment at December 31 ..................... 140.9 148.0 150.1
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. . Years Ended December 31,
Business Segments : 2004 2003 2002
o (restated)  (restated)

HRS = | | ‘

Reve‘nlié R +$ 9644 $ 8942 § 8473
15323 AT R S S '$ (726) $ 485 § 819
Total assets before customerfunds . .........coovvivi ... L. $13328  $1,386.1  $1,3454
Customer funds......... R 4,079.6  3,143.5  2,440.9
Total assets at December 31...... .. RO - $5,412.4 $4529.6 $3,786.3
Goodwill. . .... e e e $ 8148 § 8016 $ 780.1
Depreciation and amortization. . ..........coooiiiii i, $ 1105 § 652 § 621
Expended for property, plant and equipment ....................... - $ 256 $ 251 § 252
Comdata- SRR : : ‘

Revenue ...... i e e e e e e Leveiieiieeio 83560 0§ 3197 § 313.0
EBIT........ L P e e $ 1156 § 1043 § 915
Total assets before customer funds ................. T ~$ 6508 §$ 5861 $ 5830
Customerfunds.......;.......... e e e 16.4 9.2 5.7
Total assets at Detember 31 ... ..iviereees et ©§ 6672 § 5953 § 5887
GoodWill .. ...l $ 1170 § 1170 $ 1170
Depreciation and amortization. . .. .......coiiiiiiii i $ 133 § 132 $ 128
Expended for property, plant and equipment ....................... $ 70 § 46 §$ S8
Other ‘ '

EBIT.....c.cvvnenn, PP $ — 8 — 3 41
Totalassets at December 31 .. ......ooiuviiierie e, $ 1273 $§ 559 $ 785
Depreciation and amortization. .. .......ovvvveiirienene i, $§ 09 § 09 § 09
Expended-for property, plant and equipment ....................... $ 03 § 08 §$ 01
Total Ceridian o

REVENUE . v ot e i e e e $1,3204 $1,213.9 $1,160.3
EBIT o s $ 430 § 1528 § 1775
Interest income (EXPEnSe), MEL . ... ovue it cii e e e (1.8) (2.6) (4.2)
Earnings before income taxes. .............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin, $ 412 § 1502 § 1733
Total assets before customer funds .. ...t $2,110.9 $2,028.1 $2,006.9
Customerfunds................... P 4,096.0 3,152.7 2,446.6
Total assetsat December 31 ... ..ot $6,206.9 $5,180.8 $4,453.5
Goodwill....... P e $ 9318 § 9186 § 8971
Depreciation and amortization. .................... [ $ 1247 § 793 § 758

Expended for property, plant and equipment ....................... $ 329 § 305 $ 311
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F. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

—December 31,

2004 2003
Trade receivables fromcustomers. . ...ttt i $508.0 $474.9
Interest receivable from invested customer funds......................... 17.5 9.5
O T, o e 1.5 2.2
Total grossreceivables. .............o i 5270  486.6
Less: long-term portion of trade receivables . .............. ... ... ... (1.0) (2.0)
Less: reserves and allOwWances. . ..o vttt iie i e e s (20.3) (17.3)
Trade and other receivables, Bt ... v v e $505.7 $467.3

A portion of the trade receivables serve as collateral under the Comdata receivables securitization
facility discussed in Note K, “Financing.” The aggregate amount serving as collateral under this facility
amounted to $191.9 at December 31, 2004 and $187.0 at December 31, 2003. The long-term portion of
trade receivables is included in other noncurrent assets on our consolidated balance sheets.

The interest earnings on invested customer funds is included in revenue as discussed in Note M,
“Customer Funds.”
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G. CAPITAL ASSETS'

December 31,

Capital Assets’ o ' o o 2004 2003
. Lo . (restated)
Propeny, Plant and Equzpment o : ‘ ,
Land ...l il P S ..$ 102 8 104
Machmery and equipment (accumulated depreciation of $214.7 and $201. Deeenn. .. 2886 281.6
Buildings and improvements (accumulated depreciation of $44 7 and $39.0)........ 1015 96.7
Total property, plant and equUIPmMEnt. ... ....oueree i i ierieaaren, 400.3 388.7
Accumulated depreciation. ............... .. ... e (259.4) _(240.7)
Property, plant and equipment, net............oovveirireiinenn..n. [ $ 1409 $ 148.0
Goadwill, net of amortization _, . '
At begmmng Of Year . i v PO iveeen.... $90186  $ 8971
Acquisitions in, the current period (Note H) e e e i e 7.6 —
Translation and other adjustments. ............ B e 5.6 215
At end ofyear e e U O $ 931.8 $ 9186
Tax-deductible: goodwﬂl atendofyear.................. R A $270.1 § 2603
Other Intangible Assets ' ' :
Customer lists and relationships (accumulated amortization of $34.0 and $26.7).. ... $ 590 $.494
Trademarks (accumulated amortization of $77.9 and $31.6) . ..................... 78.5 74.7
Technology (accumulated amortization of $40.8 and $32.1)......... b e 54.6 522
Non-compete agreements (accumulated amortization of $10.6 and $8.6)........... . 14.8 12.9
Total other intangible assets . . . ... AP e e 206.9 189.2
Accumulated amortization ............... N e e (163.3) (99.0)
Other intangible 8SSets, MEt. .. ..\ v ettt ettt et ee $ 436 $§ 902
Software and Development Costs ' o : ‘ '
Purchased:software (accumulated amortization of $44. 2 and $40.6) i $ 675 §$ 772
Internally development software costs (accumulated amortization of $48.5 and o
836.5). . e e 100.9 - 86.1
Total software and development COSES. . .vvvvvrvnn o e P 168.4 163.3
Accumulated amortization ....... ... . i N (92.7) (71.1)
Software and development COStS, NEL. ... ...o.vviuniieian i $ 757 § 862
’ ‘ o . ' Years Ended December 31,
Deprecnatlon and Amortlzatlon ‘ : 2004 2003 2002
[ P (restated) (restated)
Deprematlon of property, plant and equ1pment ....... e, .. $423 8431 $43.3
Amortization.of othér intangible assets. . ............iveiiiiiiiin : 56.9 15.1 16.8
Amortuatlon of software and development costs......... et . 255 211 15.7

TOMAL v et e e e e $1247 - $793  $75.8
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In March 2005, we discovered that the CobraServ trademark capitalized as part of our 1999
acquisition of our HRS benefits services business was no longer being used. This discovery caused us to
restate the amortization expense in our consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of
2004 as discussed in Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements.”

We estimate that amortization of other intangible assets held at December 31, 2004 will be $13.7 for
2005, $11.3 for 2006, $9.4 for 2007, $4.5 for 2008, and $2.8 for 2009.

H. INVESTING ACTIVITY
Derivative Instruments
Interest Rate Contracts

During the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, we maintained interest rate contracts for the
purpose of mitigating interest rate risk on customer funds. The counterparties to these arrangements are
commercial banks with debt ratings of A or better. These arrangements, which do not require collateral,
require the banks to pay us the amount by which a one-month LIBOR index of short-term interest rates
falls below a specified floor strike level. Alternatively, when this index exceeds a specified cap strike level,
we pay out to the banks the excess above the cap strike level. We believe that the risk of accounting loss
through non-performance by the counterparties under any of these arrangements is negligible.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had interest rate contracts in effect with an aggregate notional
amount of $800.0. The active contracts at the end of 2004 had remaining terms of 6 to 35 months, floor
strike levels ranging from 3.85% to 6.00% (averaging 4.99%) and cap strike levels ranging from 3.85% to
7.08% (averaging 5.69%). These contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment so cash
settlements and changes in fair value are included in results of operations as “(gain) loss on derivative
instruments.” The fair market value of our interest rate contracts were $26.8 at December 31, 2004 and
$55.7 at December 31, 2003.

On February 4, 2005, we disposed of our interest rate derivative instruments for cash proceeds of
$21.0 which represented the fair market value of the contracts on the disposal date. From December 31,
2004 to the disposal date, we received $3.5 in cash for realized gains on these contracts. The $2.3 difference
between the December 31, 2004 carrying value of $26.8 and the $24.5 total cash received will be recorded
as a loss on interest rate derivatives in the first quarter of 2005.

Fuel Price Contracts

The revenue and net earnings of Comdata’s transportation services business is exposed to variability
based on changes in the prices of diesel fuel. For a large portion of its transportation services customers,
Comdata earns fee revenue for card transactions based on a percentage of the total amount of each fuel
purchase. An increase/decrease in the price of diesel fuel increases/decreases the total dollar amount of
fuel purchases and Comdata revenue, accordingly. We estimate that for each 10¢ change in the average
price of diesel fuel per year, Comdata revenue and pretax profit are impacted by $1.8, absent the effect of
any fuel price contracts.

Our risk management objective of managing fuel price risk is to protect Comdata net income from the
effects of falling diesel fuel prices by entering into derivative contracts that convert the floating price of
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fuel used in revenue calculations to a fixed price. During 2003 and 2004, Comdata entered into fuel price
derivative contracts to swap the floating price of fuel for a fixed price. These contracts had the effect of
reducmg the exposure to price varlablhty of diesel fuel noted above by approximately one half for the last
three quarters of each of these years. Since the ﬂoatmg fuel price remained above the fixed price during
the course of the: hedges we paid $0.8 to counterparties over the term of the agreement and this realized
loss was reported in (gain) loss on defivative instruments in our consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2003. These payments had the effect of offsetting a portion of the revenue
benefit recerved durmg the term of the derivative contracts from the higher-than-expected floating prices.
At December 31, 2004 Comdata held similar contracts that are intended 'to largely offset the overall impact
of diesel fuel ‘price changes during 2005. Contracts held during 2004 resulted in $2.2 in payments to
counterpaities as well as unrealized gains of $0.8, resulting in a $1. 4 net loss reported in (gain) loss on
derivative mstruments on our consolidated statement of operations. We continuously monitor fuel price
volatility and thecost of derivative contracts and: may enter into additional fuel price derivative contracts
solely for the purpose of managing fuel price-risk whenimarket conditions are favorable to such -
transactrons The farr market value of our fuel prrce contracts was $1.3 at December 31, 2004

Investments and Acqulsltlons of Busmesses T

At December 31 2004 and 2003, we held the followmg pubhcly- or prrvate]y -held investments that
were accounted forunder FAS 115, “Accounting for Cértain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” as
“available for sale” for the publicly-held securities and on a cost basrs for the private holdings.

At December 31 2004

Investment “ o o re L . T ) % Owned ‘Amount‘ Holding

USIL Holdmgs Corporatron. e T )' ciwiiene... under5% $ 2.3 Public
The Ultlmate Software Group, In¢............................ under5% 7.7, Public
1Sarla Inc .“l‘_‘.“». i e e SN e 19.9% 16  Private
SASH Management LLC ...... e e ‘ 19.9% 0.6  Private
ProﬁtPomt I0C: i i e .. 17.5% 15 Private
Notes recelvable and other . ... .. U, B L 27" Private
Total Investments. ... .......... e L. 16.4

At December 31,‘ 2003

Investment % Owned  Amount  Holding
U.S.I. Holdings Corporation. .............ccoouveurnieeunnn... under 5% $10.2  Public
The Ultimate Software Group, Inc.........................00 under5% 6.9  Public
iSarla, Inc. (restated) .......oviviie i 199% 1.6 Private
SASH Management, LLC........ e e ‘ 199% - 0.6  Private
Notes receivable andother. ... i i, _ 3.6  Private

Total Investments e e e : $22.9
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Publicly held invéstments

At December 31, 2003, we held 750,000 shares of Ultimate common stock and a warrant to purchase
an additional 75,000 Ultimate common shares at a price of $4.00 per share. In March 2004, we sold 50,000
shares of Ultimate for $0.7 and a net gain of $0.5. In June 2004, we sold 106,600 shares of Ultimate for $1.3
and a net gain of $0.9. In August 2004, we sold 36,689 shares of Ultimate for $0.4 and a net gain of $0.2.
Our holdings of Ultimate as of December 31, 2004 included 556,711 shares and the warrant. In addition,
we held 782,069 common shares of USIH at December 31, 2003 and 199,311 shares of USIH at
December 31, 2004. In June 2004, we sold 360,758 shares of USIH for $5.7 and a net gain of $2.1. In
September 2004, we sold 222,000 shares of USIH for $3.0 and a net gain of $0.8. Gains and losses on sales
of marketable securities are reported in other expense (income) in our consolidated statements of
operations.

During March 2003, we paid to Ultimate $3.0 to acquire 750,000 unregistered shares of Ultimate
common stock and a warrant to purchase an additional 75,000 unregistered Ultimate common shares at a
price of $4.00 per share. At December 31, 2002, we also held 785,000 Ultimate common shares purchased
on the open market in 2001, which we sold in September 2003 for proceeds of $5.9 and a net gain of $3.0
reported in other expense (income). In addition, we held 919,227 common shares of USIH at
December 31, 2002 and 782,069 common shares at December 31, 2003. During September 2003, we sold
137,158 common shares of USIH for proceeds of $1.8 and a gain of $0.4, which we reported in other
expense (income).

The Ultimate and USTH securities are treated as “available for sale” securities. The carrying value of
these securities has been adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the market price reported by the
stock exchange that lists those securities. The amount of this change is reported as unrealized gain or loss
from marketable securities in comprehensive income. At December 31, 2004, the net unrealized gain
related to these securities amounted to $3.6, after reduction for deferred income taxes of $2.2, and is
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. This compares to a net unrealized gain of $3.9,
after reduction for deferred income taxes of $2.4, at December 31, 2003. The unrealized gain for these
securities during 2004 amounted to $3.9 ($2.4 net of tax), $8.1 ($4.9 net of tax) during 2003 and $1.0 (30.7
net of tax) during 2002. The realized gain for these securities during 2004 amounted to $4.4 ($2.7 net of
tax) and during 2003 amounted to $3.4 ($2.0 net of tax). For 2002, the realized loss for these securities was
$1.0 (30.6 net of tax).
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Acquisitions of businesses, including privately held investments

During 2004, net investing cash outflows included $11.0 for the April acquisition of Recruiting
Solutions Internatlonal Inc. (“RSI”), a provider of web-based recruiting products. The acquisition resulted
in the recorchng of $10.1 of goodwill and intangible assets. RSI's revenue for its most recent fiscal year was
$5.5. We also paid $0.9 for a customer base for COBRA services from a major insurance company near the
end of the first. quarter of 2004. In July 2004, we paid net cash.of $0. 7 to acquire ITS Information
Technology Systems Ltd (“ITS”), a leading provider of HR software solutions in Ireland. We also paid $1.5
for a minority mterest in ProfitPoint, Inc., a loyalty and gift card busmess in July 2004. During
October 2004, we. pald $4.1 to acquire Datamark Technologies, Inc., a provrder of stored value and
customer onalty programs. During December 2004, we paid $1.1 for certain customer relationships from
Stone Partners Inc. These acquisitions were all for the benefit of our HRS business segment except for
Datamark Technologles, Inc. which was for the benefit of Comdata.

During July 2003 we settled in advance the revenue sharing arrangement associated with the 2002
acquisition of GLS Benefit Services LLC, a benefits administration outsourcing firm (“Great Lakes
Strategies”) by paying the sellers $1.4 of the $2.8 escrowed for this purpose at the time of acquisition. At
the same time, we released to the sellers the $0.5 of escrowed funds related to representations and
warranties. These transactions reduced other current assets by $0.5 and other noncurrent assets by $2.8
while increasing goodwill by $1.9 and cash and equivalents by $1.4. Also during 2003, we finalized the

amount of purchase cost allocated to the acquired intangible assets, which increased intangible assets and
decreased goodwrll by $2.2.

In March 2002 we acquired all of the outstandmg stock of SYLINQ ‘Corporation, a national employee
benefits’ admmlstratron outsourcer specializing in automated enrollment and eligibility management
(“SYLINQ”), for $15:6. As a result of the acquisition, we recorded net liabilities of $2.4, $11.6 of goodwill
and $6.4 of ‘other intangible assets. During the first quarter of 2003, we finalized the amount of purchase
cost allocated to intangible assets, which increased intangible assets and decreased goodwill by $0.8.

In May, 2002, we paid $8.9 for certain assets and assumed liabilities of HR Comply, a provider of
online human resource and payroll employment compliance services that is associated with our LifeWorks
business. The acqursmon of HR Comply brought $1.0 of net liabilities, $7.9 of goodwill and $2.0 of other
mtangrbles to the balance sheet. \

In December 2002, we acquired selected assets of Great Lakes Strategies, for $19.0. Under the
purchase agreement, we paid $15.7 to the sellers and placed $3.3 in escrow. Of the total escrow amount,
$0.5 would apply to the representations and warranties provisions of the purchase agreement. The $2.8
escrow. deposrt represented an estimate of an additional amount that could be paid to the sellers in
February 2004 under a revenue sharing arrangement that applied when revenue earned from the acquired
business during 2003 rose above a stated amount. We recorded the escrowed funds as other noncurrent
assets., The remaining $15.7 of recorded net assets included $8.8 of goodwill and $4.0 of other intangible
assets, sub]ept_ to further evaluation of the intangibles acquired.

“During 2002, we also paid $6.8 to acquire certain call center assets and cost-based investments.

[

¢
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I. RETIREMENT PLANS
Pension Benefits

We provide retirement income benefits to our employees through a combination of defined benefit
and defined contribution plans. Our principal pension plan is a contributory (salary reduction) defined
benefit plan for U.S. employees that closed to new participants on January 2, 1995. Assets of this plan are
held in an irrevocable trust, do not include any Ceridian securities and consist principally of equity
securities, U.S. government securities, and other fixed income obligations. Benefits under this plan are
generally calculated on final or career average earnings and years of participation in the plan. Most
participating employees are required to permit salary reduction contributions to the plan on their behalf by
the employer as a condition of active participation. Retirees and other former employees are inactive
participants in this plan and constitute approximately 94% of the plan participants. This plan is funded in
accordance with funding requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
based on determinations of an independent consulting actuary. We also sponsor a nonqualified
supplemental defined benefit plan, which is unfunded and provides benefits to selected U.S. employees in
addition to the principal pension plan. We expect to make contributions amounting to $2.6 to the
supplemental plan in 2005.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we changed our measurement date for our U.S. pension and
postretirement plans from September 30 to December 31. We considered the December 31 measurement
date to be preferable since that date allows for the use of more current information in determining the
funded status and net periodic cost as of the end of our reporting year. We determined the effect of this
change with the assistance of our independent consulting actuary by recalculating the net periodic benefit
cost as of the December 31 date over the past ten years. The recalculation involved reference to the change
in interest rates (using the “Aa” bond rate published by Moody’s Investors Service as a guide) between
September 30 and December 31 and consideration of the discount rate used with appropriate adjustments
to plan liabilities and service cost where needed. The December 31 pension assets were used for the annual
pension funding valuation. The recalculation resulted in a reduction of net periodic pension cost of $4.9 of
which $0.9 was attributable to periods prior to 2004. The $4.9 was recorded as a reduction of net periodic
pension cost in 2004 as shown in a table later in this discussion. The $4.0 reduction in net periodic pension
cost attributable to 2004 was significantly affected by an employer contribution of $75.0 in December 2003
and by asset growth during the fourth quarter of 2004, which effect is heightened by the low level of active
participants in the principal plan.

We provide a funded pension plan for our employees in the United Kingdom (the “UK Plan”). The
UK Pian contains both defined benefit and defined contribution elements. The assets held by the UK Plan
on behalf of its defined benefit participants amounted to £15,900,000, or $30.6, at December 31, 2004 and
consisted primarily of equity securities (84%) and debt securities (10%). The weighted average long-term
rate of return on these assets was 7.6%. The investment policy for the UK Plan is to have sufficient monies
at all times to meet its obligations as and when they occur in the future. Effective in October 2003, the UK
Plan was amended to freeze the defined benefit element and enhance the defined contribution element of
the plan. For U.S. reporting, this resulted in both a $1.8 reduction of the projected benefit obligation and
an equal reduction in the net unrecognized loss of the plan. The benefit of this reduction will be amortized
through net periodic pension cost over the average expected remaining service life of ex-defined benefit
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participants of 10 years We expect to make contnbutlons to th1s plan amountmg to £664 000, or $1.3,
durmg 2005. ‘ ! ! : |

The accompanying tables reflect the combined funded status and net periodic pension cost (credlt)
and blended supportmg assumptions for the defined benefit elements of all three plans.

We account for our defined benefit pension plans, usmg actuanal ‘models required by present
accounting rules under FAS 87, “Employers’ Accountmg for Pensions.” This model uses an attribution
approach that generally spreads the effect of individual events over the ‘service lives of the employees in the
plan. These events include plan amendments and changes. in actuarial assumptions such as the expected
long-term rate of retiirn on plan assets, discount rate related to the benefit obligation, rate of active
participants’ compensation increases and mortality rates. The principle underlying the required attribution
approach is that employees render service over their service lives on a relatively smooth basis and,
therefore, the income statement effects of pensions are earned in, and should follow, the same pattern.

One of the principal components of the net periodic pension calculation is the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets. The required use of expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may
result in recogmzed pension income that is greater or less than the actual returns of those plan assets in
any given year. Over time, however, the expected long- -term returns are designed to approximate the actual
long-term returns,that contribute to the settlement of the liability. Differences between actual and
expected returns are recognized in the net periodic pension caleulation over five years. We use long-term
historical actual return information, the mix of investments that comprise plan assets, and future estimates
of long-term mvestment returns by reference to external sources to develop our expected return on plan
assets: v : R ‘

In the table below we present the allocation of assets held for the pr1n01pal pensmn plan which is by
far the largest of our defined beneﬁt plans as of the measurement date

December 31 September 30,

IR . , 2004 2003 Target %
Doméstic Equ1ty .................... . $269.2  50.5% $222.2  53.2% 50% +/-8%
Domestic Fixed Income................ 1784  33.5% 1301  31.2% 35% +/-5%
International Equity................... 854 160% 653  15.6% 15% +/-4%
Total'lﬁvested ASSEIS. .. 533.0° 1000% 4176 100.0% 100%
Cash and Other Assets................. 55 17.1

TOtal ASSELS ... lenee e 85385 . $4347

The investment policy for our principal pension plan specifies the objective is to earn the highest
possible total returns.consistent with the preservation of capital and anticipated liquidity requirements
while minimizing the volatility of returns. Target asset allocation ranges specified in the policy are designed
to achieve policy objectives and are based upon actuarial and capital market studies performed by
experienced outside consultants. On a regular basis we rebalance assets to maintain asset allocations within
policy ranges. Within asset categories we use a range of passive and active investment management styles
to achieve our principal pension plan’s investment objectives and hire outside managers to manage all
assets. The principal pension plan currently has no allocation to real estate, derivative instruments, or
other alternative investment strategies; however a small amount of real estate and venture capital
investments from prior investments is shown in “Cash and Other Assets.” Certain asset managers may use
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futures contracts within limitations to achieve objectives under their assigned investment mandate.
Investment of the principal pension plan assets in securities of Ceridian Corporation is prohibited by the
investment policy.

In November 2003, upon completion-of a trading cost optimization study conducted by a plan
consultant, the target ranges were changed to the amounts shown in the asset allocation table above.
During December of 2003, we undertook rebalancing of plan assets to bring allocations within the new
target ranges. '

The discount rate assumptions used for pension plan accounting reflect the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on December 31 of each year. That rate is used to determine the
benefit obligation at that date and the interest-portion of the net periodic pension cost or credit for the
following year. We determine the assumed rate of compensation increase based upon our long-term plans
for such increases.

The accumulated benefit obligation of our principal pension plan exceeded the fair value of plan
assets by $157.9 at December 31, 2004 and $104.6 at December 31, 2003. Under pension accounting rules,
this condition required that we reclassify the prepaid pension cost related to this plan to recognize this
unfunded liability and record the remainder (net of deferred income taxes and a small intangible asset
amount) as a loss in accumulated other comprehensive income, which reduces stockholders’ equity. During
2003, we made employer contributions to the principal pension plan amounting to $103.7 including $75.0
in the fourth quarter of 2003. We made no.contribution in 2004 and do not presently plan to make
additional contributions to the principal pension plan in 2005. Subsequent developments in investment
performance, interest rates or regulatory actions may require reconsideration of this position.

The amount included in other compreliensive income arising from the change in the additional
minimum pension liability for each of the past three years is presented in the accompanying consolidated
statements of stockholders’ equity. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our prepaid pension cost asset
represented $12.8 and $11.9 held in benefit protection trusts for certain nonqualified plan participants and
an intangible pension asset of $0.3 and $0.3. We recognized expense of $15.2 in 2004, $12.7 in 2003 and
$13.4 in 2002 with respect to employer contributions to our defined contribution retirement plans.

Benefits Expected to be Paid in Future Years as of December 31, 2004

Years Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007 - 2008 2009 2010-2014

$45.8 $46.2 $47.0 $48.7 $49.7 $260.4
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Funded Status of Deﬁned Benefit . ‘ Dec 31,

Retireinent, Plans at Measurement Date i 2004 5580330’
Accumulated Benefit Obligation. ...................... ..., e $ 7270 $ 6779
Change in PrO}ected Benefit Obligation During the Period
At beginning of perlod. e e e $ 6974 § 6394
R T=] 7 (6= 3.6 38
IIEETESE COSt .« 1t v ettt i e et e ee e, [P N 41.8 429
Employee contr1but10ns to the UKPlan.................oo0s P SN 0.1 :
Curtailment of the UKPlan ............................. e — (1.8)
Currencytranslanon.......................................‘.; ............ 6.2 2.1
Actuarial (BAIM) 10SS . . v v e ettt 62.0 60.4
Benefitspaid ........ P P (60.2)  (49.5)
Atend of PETIOO .ot $ 7508 § 6974
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assezs During the Period ‘
At begmnmg of perlod. e e e, $ 4578 $ 4002
Actual return.on.plan-assets ........... e e PO - 88.6 73.4
Currency translation. .......... PSR T I . 3.6 1.1
EmployeecontrlbutlonstotheUKPlan......................,l ............. — 0.1
Employer contrlbutlons e e e PRI 79.3 325
Benefits paid ... BRI DT e et e e e b e et e (602)  (49.5)
Atend of penod AT e J P $ 569.1 § 4578
Fundedstatusofplan.( .............. e e 8(18L7) $(239.6)
Accrued contrlbutlon ................... R P —_ 75.0
Unrecogmzed net loss e e e e 393.1 380.7
Total ....... A U e $ 211.4  $ 216.1 -
Balance Sheet Presentation ' ‘
Prepaid and intangible pension asset. . ....................... e $- 03 $ 03
Accrued benefit Hability. ... ... e (157.9)  (144.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, netof tax............ e 240.9 2351
Deferred incometax............ e e 128.1 125.4
TOAL ettt et e $ 2114 $ 216.1
‘ . ‘ Years Ended December 31,
Assumptions Used in Calculations . 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate used to determine net benefit cost (credlt) ...... e 599%  6.70%  7.42%
Rate of compensation inCrease. ... ....oovevreee e ie i 4.00% 378% 4.01%
Expected return on plan assets . .. ......oveviiiiiin i 870%  870%  9.43%
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations .................. 553% 59%%  6.70%
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Years Ended December 31,

Net Periodic Pension Cost (Credit) ‘ 2004 2003 2002
Service cost. .. .. e e e e e $ 36 § 38 $ 30
Interest CoOSt ...ttt e e 41.8 429 439
Expected returnonplanassets. ...t (46.6) (45.7) (54.9)
Net amortization and deferral. ............. ... ..o oo it 15.4 9.0 6.1

Total before effect of change in measurementdate ................ 14.2 10.0 (1.9)
Effect of change attributable to currentyear........................ 4.0) — —
Effect of change attributable to prioryears .............cvviivnn... (0.9) —_- . —

Total after effect of change in measurement date.................. $ 93 §$100 $ (1.9)

Postretirement Benefits

We provide health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees, including individuals
who retired from operations we subsequently sold or discontinued. We sponsor several health care plans in
the U.S. for both pre- and post-age 65 retirees. Our contributions to these plans differ for various groups of
retirees and future retirees. Most retirees outside the U.S. are covered by governmental health care
programs, and our cost is not significant. As previously described in this Note, we changed the
measurement date for postretirement benefit plans from September 30 to December 31 effective for the
2004 reporting year. This change did not have a material effect on our postretirement liability or net
periodic postretirement benefit cost. As discussed in Note A, “Accounting Policies—Recently Issued
Accounting Pronouncements,” we also implemented FSP 106-2 in 2004, which addressed the accounting
for the federal subsidy for the sponsors of single employer defined benefit postretirement healthcare plans
that commences in 2006. The implementation of FSP 106-2 reduced our accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation by $4.8 and our net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $0.5.
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" “The accompanying tables present the amounts and changes in the aggregate benefit obligation at the
beginning and end of and for each of the last two measurement periods and the components of net
periodic postretirement benefit cost for U.S. plans for the last three years. We do not prefund these costs.

Funded Status of Postretirement ‘ Dec 31, Sep30,
Health Care and Life Insurance Plans ' ‘ 2004 2003
Change in Benefit Obllgatzon ‘ ‘
Atbeginning of period. ... ..coviiiiiii i e $613 §$542
SEIVICE COSE. . vttt vttt et e et e T 0.1 0.1
Interestcosti............vun.. e e e e e e e e 33 3.5
Participant contributions. ....... ... i 4.2 0.8
Actuarial loss (gain) ............ S e @ 6.5
Benefits paid . ... e e 9.4) (3.8)
Atendofperiod ............. e S e i $ 574 $613
Change in Plan Assets ’ R
At beginning of period. .. ....iu ot $ — § —
Company CONtTIbULIONS . ... ..ot e 5.2 3.0
Participant contributions . . . ...................... e e . 4.2 8
Benefitspaid .. ... e S .(94) (3
Atendofperiod ..................... e e $ — § —
Funded Status of Plan _ ‘
Benefit obligation, net ... $574 $613
Unrecogmzed actuarial gain (loss) ...... PR PO .. (103 12.5
Atend of period ..................... F PR $471 § 488
Current pomon e S PR $ 56 $ 60
Noncurrentportlon..................‘..............,........., .............. 41.5 42.8
Total . it PO I e .. $471 $ 488
’ ‘ Years Ended December 31, ‘
Net Periodie Postretirement Benefit Cost N ‘ . : ; o _2004 2003 2002
SEIVICE COSL. . oottt e $0.1  $01 S 01
TIEETESE COSE - .. o ettt e et e e e 33 35 3.0
Actuarxal loss (gain) amortization . ......... e e I 01 01 0.1)
Net'perlodlc‘beneﬁtcost ................ $35  $37  $ 3.0

The assumeéd health care cost trend rate used in measuring the benefit obligation is 10% in 2004 with
rates declining at a rate of 1% per year to an ultimate rate of 5% in 2010. A one percent incréase in this
rate would i increase the benefit obligation at December 31, 2004 by $4.4 and the aggregate service and
interest cost for the 2004 measurement period by $0.3. A one percent decrease in this rate would decrease
the benefit 0bl1gat1on at December 31, 2004 by $4.1 and the aggregate service and interest cost for the 2004
measurement period by $0.3. The weighted average discount rates used in determining the net periodic
postretirement benefit cost were 6.00% for 2004, 6.75% for 2003 and 7.50% for 2002. The weighted
average discount rates used in determining the benefit obligation at the measurement dates were 5.50%
for 2004 and 6.00% for 2003. : ‘
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The projected future postretirement benefit payments and future receipts from the federal subsidy for
each of the next five years and the five-year period following are included in the table below.

Payments  Receipts

2005 o e $ 53 $——
2006 . e 5.4 . 0.6
2007 oo 5.6 0.6
2008 .o 5.6 0.6
2009 ... 5.6 0.6
2010-2014 ..o ©25.7 27

J. STOCK PLANS

During the ‘three—year period ended December 31, 2004, we maintained stock-based compensation
plans for directors, officers, other employees, consultants and independent contractors.

Our Amended and Restated 2001 Director Performance Incentive Plan authorizes the issuance of up
to 350,000 shares in connection with awards of stock options, non-performance restricted stock and
deferred stock to our non-employee directors. An annual grant of a non-qualified stock option to purchase
4,000 shares is made to each eligible non-employee director with such grants becoming fully exercisable six
months after the date of grant. The exercise price of the options is the fair market value of the underlying
stock at the date of grant, and the options expire in ten years.

A one- tlme award of non- performance restricted shares i is made to each non-employee dlrector when
the director first joins the Board with restrictions on transfer that will ordinarily lapse annually over a five-
year period. The number of shares awarded will have a fair market value equal to two and one-half times
the then-current annual retainer paid to non-employee directors.

'Additionally, at least one-half of the annual Board retainer for each non-employee director is also
provided in the form of restricted stock, deferred stock or a combination of the two. The restrictions on
transfer of the retainer awards will lapse at the conclusion of the director’s service.

Our 2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (“2004 LTSIP”) authorizes the issuance until May 11, 2014
of up to 6,000,000 common shares in connection with awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalents, performance awards, stock awards and other
stock-based awards. Eligible participants in the 2004 LTSIP include our employees, officers, consultants,
advisors and non-employee directors.

In connection with the approval by our stockholders of the 2004 LTSIP, the 2002 Employee Stock
Incentive Plan (“2002 ESIP”), under which only non-statutory stock options were issued to employees who
were not executive officers or directors.of Ceridian, terminated on May 12, 2004, which eliminated 41,843
shares avallable for award. All outstanding awards granted under the 2002 ESIP remained in effect at the
time of termination pursuant to the terms of such awards. The number of options outstanding under the
2002 ESIP amounted to 3,447,482 at May 12, 2004 and 3,114,789 at December 31, 2004.

Our Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (“2001 LTSIP”) authorizes the
issuance until Noveémber 27, 2010 of up to 27,000,000 common shares in connection with similar awards.
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Eligible participants in the 2001 LTSIP mclude our employees and non- employee directors, consultants
and 1ndependent contractors o :

Stock optlons awarded under the 2002 ESIP and 2001 LTSIP generally vest annually either over a
three-year perrod or on a specific date if certain performance criteria were satisfied, have either a 5-year or
10-year térm and have an exercise price that may not be less than the fair market value of the underlying
stock at the date of grant. No awards were made under the 2004 LTSIP in 2004.

The Compensatlon and Human Resources Committee of our Board has the discretion to determine
the effect that aichange of control of Ceridian will have upon awards made under these plans. In most
cases  the vesting of stock options and restricted stock awards granted under these plans wrll accelerate
upon a change of control of Ceridian.

We have reserved 725,495 common shares for i 1ssuance under “Save-As-You- Earn stock-based
compensation plans for our employees in the United ngdom (the “SAYE Plans”). At December 31,
2004, there were, 510 216 shares available for issuance, under the SAYE Plans 1nclud1ng 143,764 options
outstandmg

Our Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) provides for the issuance of up
to 1 600 000 shares of newly issued or treasury common stock of Ceridian to eligible employees. The"
purchase price of the stock to ESPP participants is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value on either the
first day or the last day of the apphcable three-month offering period.

" For holders of Ceridian common stock at November 9, 2001, we dlstrrbuted one rrght for each -
outstanding share entitling the holder to purchase from us one-ten-thousandth of a share of an unissued
class of preferred stock for $75 dollars. In the event of a certain effort to acquire Ceridian, the holder
would have the right to exercise the right for cash, property or securities of the i issuer thh a value of twice
the exercise price. At December 31, 2004, no such event had occurred.

As reported in Note A, “Accounting Policies,” we adopted the disclosure-only provrsrons of FAS 123
and FAS 148 and continue to account for stock- based compensatron under APB 25. Thérefore, since all
option exercise prices are at or above fair market value on the date of grant and the ESPP is a non-
compensatory plan, no expense is recorded wrth respect to our stock option or employee stock purchase
plans.

We prov1de the following disclosure, including referenced tables, with respect to the provisions of
FAS 123. We employ the Black- Scholes-Merton optioh. pricing model for determining the-fair value of
stock option grants and ESPP purchases as presented in an accompanying table. Weighted average
exercise prices for stock option activity and options outstanding at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are
included in the Stock Plans table.
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Further information on outstanding and exercisable stock options by exercise price range as of the end
of the current year is disclosed in an accompanying table. We are required to report the pro forma effect
on net earnings and earnings per share that would have resulted if the fair value method of accounting for
stock-based compensation issued in those years had been adopted. This compensation cost is allocated to
the related periods of service. The results of this calculation and the assumptions used appear in the
accompanying pro forma table.

Weighted-
Average

Option Price Shares Exercise
Stock Plans Per Share Qutstanding Exercisable Available Price
At December 31,2001 ..........., $3.71 -$31.66 20,392,653 11,173,363 7,260,283  $15.88
Authorized...................... — — — 4,000,000
Granted........coooiiiiiiienan, 13.97-22.25 4,978,925 —  (4,978,925) 18.11
Became exercisable............... 11.88 - 28.94 — 4,419,513 —
Exercised ........... i, 3712116 (2,122,138) (2,122,138) — 14.34
Canceled........................ 8.96-26.68 (2,141,341) (734,811) 2,141,341 16.73
ESPP purchases.................. — — — (297,830)
Restricted stock, net.............. — — — (25,665)
At December 31,2002 ............ $4.80—$31.66 21,108,099 12,735,927 8,099,204 §$16.43
Granted......................... 13.65-21.50 3,906,790 . —  (3,906,790) 15.03
Became exercisable............... 11.88 - 22.22 —_ 3,545,499 —
Exercised ........ccvvveiiiiannn. 480-20.70 (2,725,025) (2,725,025) — 13.57
Canceled.........coovveinennnnt, 5.37-24.57 (894,185) (300,901) 894,185 16.59
Expired ...l 5.37-18.66 (74,161) (74,161) 74,161 18.66
ESPP purchases.................. — — — (308,879)
Restricted stock, net.............. — — — (213,007)
At December 31,2003 ............ $4.80 - $31.66 21,321,518 13,181,339 4,638,874  $16.57
Authorized,net.................. —_ — — 6,558,157
Granted...............c.cuia... 18.00-22.64 3,291,708 —  (3,291,708) 20.59
Became exercisable............... 8.96 -22.22 — 4,250,193 —
Exercised ........covvviiiiann... 4.80-2195 (3,096,035) (3,096,035) — 15.19
Canceled...................oet. 13.71-24.57 (937,292) (236,367) 790,147 18.18
Expired...........coiiiian... 8.77-8.96 (3,533) (3,533) 3,533 8.81
ESPP purchases. ................. — — — (209,075)
Restricted stock, net.............. — — — (153,252)
At December 31,2004 ............ $7.81-3%31.66 20,576,366 14,095,597 8,336,676 $17.34
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Common shares reserved for future issuance under all plans at December 31, 2004 were 29,423,258.

Stock OJ)UUII Informatlon as of December 31, 2004 Options Oqtstandlng Options Exercisable

' 'sz'le%'l;tg'eg Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
X Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$ 7.81.-$13.71. e 2,469,756 1.12 $13.62 2,463,090 $13.62
$13.83- $14 80 . oot e 4,545,696 . 3.71 $14.62 2,671,391  $14.67
$14.81 - $15.78 R EEETETRRTRERPRTRPRRPY - 2,014,011 229, $15.37 1,998,533 $15.37
$1s. 92\ $18. L R 4,021,800 . 238 $17.73 2,863,657 $17.63
$18.19- 2029 ...ttt 1,503,997  3.03 $18.89  1,236919  $18.88
$20.350- $20.35 et 1,934,801 3.81 . $20.35 1,934,801  $20.35
$20.42 - $20. 56, B : 2,880,443 411 . $20.56 64,858  $20.50
$20. 65 $31 66 el e e ’ 1,205,862 3.75 $22.82 862,348  §23.16

W ) 20,576,366 ‘ 14,095,597

. T S :
Pro Forma Effect of F air Value Accounting . .

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
‘ . (restated) (restated)
Net €arnings as TEPOITEd . . . .. ve v et eee et eeiineeennns o $369 3988 $111.5
Add: Sttjck-based compensation expense included in reported net -~ »
income, net of related tax effects . :.................... .. ‘ 1.5 § 08 $ 02
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under the fair value method for all awards, net of ‘
related tax effects ... i........ .. i i o (143) (15.6) (15.7)
Pro forma net earnings.’ .... ... [ e 3241 $ 840 $ 96.0
Basic eatniings per share as reported ................ PO '$025 $0.66 $ 075
Pro forma-basic ¢ earnings per share ....... RN el © $016 $057 $ 0.65
Diluted' ezfrnmgs pershareasreported..............0.o L o 3024 $ 066 $ 0.74
Pro forma diluted’ carnings per share ... e Sl 8016 80560 $ 064
Wetghted Average Assumpttons . E _ .
Expected lives in years ........... e e P 390 393 3.82
Expected volatility. . ... P e 387% 433% 37.5%
Expected dividend FALE. |\ o\t ceees — — —
Risk-free interest rate. ... e 26%  2.3% 4.5%
Welghted Average FaleraIues . . C .
of Grantséwards and Purchases 2004 2003 2002
v ‘ ‘Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Stock options il 3,291,708  $6.83 3,906,790  $5.41 4978925  $6.26
$3.48 297,830  $2.14

ESPP.....0.. ' S 209,075 $4.33 308,879
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K. FINANCING
Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

The table below presents our debt and capital lease obligations, followed by a discussion of each of
these obligations.

December 31, :

Debt and Capital Lease Obligations 2004 2003
Comdata receivable securitization facility .......... ... ..o, $ 750 81400
Ceridian Centrefile overdraft facility ............. ..o oot 9.0 2.7
Total revolving credit facilities and overdrafts. ................... ... ..., 84.0 1427
Capital lease obligations .. ... vt e 16.7 20.8
Total debt and capital lease obligations ...........coovviiiiiiin .., 100.7 1635
Less short-term debt and current portions of long-term debt............. 14.9 6.5
Long-term obligations, less current portions . . .........c.oc.oveuveinenen... $ 858 §157.0

Revolving Credit Facility

Under an agreement with a syndicate of commercial banks dated January 31, 2001, we entered into a
$350.0 domestic revolving credit facility, of which $50.0 may be used for letters of credit, that expires in
March 2006. This domestic revolving credit facility also permits us to request that the bank syndicate use
its best efforts to provide additional commitments so long as the total commitment does not exceed $500.0.
The domestic revolving credit facility is unsecured and its pricing for both loans and letters of credit is
based on our senior unsecured debt ratings and LIBOR (our interest rate is 1% per annum over LIBOR).
Under the terms of the domestic revolving credit facility, our consolidated debt must not exceed our
stockholders’ equity, as defined in the agreement, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, and the ratio of
earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense on a rolling four quarter basis must be at least 2.75
to 1. The domestic revolving credit facility also contains covenants that, among other things, limit liens,
subsidiary debt, contingent obligations, operating leases, minority equity investments and divestitures. In
late 2004 and early 2005, we amended our domestic revolving credit facility to allow additional time to
deliver our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the second and third quarters of 2004 and this Form 10-K
to our lenders without the delayed delivery constituting a default under the domestic revolving credit
facility. In March 2005, we further amended the domestic revolving credit facility to apply the provisions
with respect to amortization and/or impairment of goodwill as are in effect under GAAP on March 31,
2005 for the fourth quarter 2004 and periods thereafter for the calculation of financial ratios and other
financial requirements set forth in such agreement.

Under the domestic revolving credit facility, we used the $150.0 proceeds from the receivables
securitization facility and additional payments of $45.0 during 2002 to reduce the advances outstanding to
$40.0 at December 31, 2002. During 2003, we paid off the $40.0 of advances outstanding since
December 31, 2002 while $2.3 of letters of credit remain outstanding. At December 31, 2004, we have
unused borrowing capacity under the domestic revolving credit facility of $347.7, of which we have
designated $75.0 as backup to the Comdata receivables securitization facility.
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Comdata Recewables Securitization' Facility -~ . .

In June 2002 Comdata entered into a $150.0 receivables securrtrzanon facrllty with a three-year term
mvolvrng certain of its trade receivables (the “Receivables”). The facility is subject to financial covenants
similar to those mcluded in our $350 0 revolving credit facility and consists of two steps.

“In the first | step, Comdata Fundmg Corporatlon (“CFC”) a bankruptcy -remote special purpose
subsrdrary of Comdata buys and accepts caprtal contrrbutrons of the Receivables i in transactrons intended

to constltute true. sales or other outrrght conveyances
e .

In the second step, CFC sells undivided interests:in those Recervables toa th1rd party multi-seller
commerc1al paper conduit (the “Conduit”) or its liquidity banks (together with the Conduit, “Purchasers”)
in transactrons reported as secured loans.

Although title to the Receivables passes to CFC under the first step of the facility and the Receivables
are no longer available to satisfy claims of Comdata’s creditors, Comdata has agreed to act as the servicing
agent for the Receivables acquired by CFC in exchange for a servicing fee of 1% per annum on the average
outstanding balance of the Receivables. Ceridian Corporation has guaranteed Comdata’s performance as
both or1g1nator of and serv1c1ng agent for the Rece1vables

CFC may mcrease or decrease ifs use of the securrtrzatron facility up to four times a month provided
suff1c1ent qualrﬁed Receivables exist to support the Purchasers’ investment under the second step. CFC is
obhgated to pay mterest on the invésted amount outstandrng either at the Conduit’s pooled A-1/P-1
commercral paper rate (which was 2.27% at December 31, 2004), or, in the event the Conduit is unable to
issue commercial paper, at CFC’s choice of the prime rate or LIBOR plus 1.5% per annum. In addition,
CFC must'pay a monthly program fee of 0.125% per annum on the average invested amount outstanding
during the preceding month and a monthly facility fee equal to 0.25% per annum on 102% of the average
facility size (whether used or unused) dunng the preceding month Both of these fees are included in
interest expense RIS : . : Do

Durlng September 2003 we made a payment of $10.0 on thrs facility. During 2004, we made payments
of $10.0 in June, $35.01i in September and $20.0 in December. The amount outstanding under this facility
was $75. 0 4t December, 31, 2004, and $140.0 at December 31, 2003. The aggregate amount of receivables
serving as collateral amounted to $191.9 at December 31 2004 and $187.0 at December 31, 2003. The
invested amount outstanding is accounted for as long-term debt and the receivables remain on our
consolidated balance sheet, even though the Receivables are not avallable to satisfy claims of creditors of
any of the companles other than CFC.

Other Debt Fmancmg

In May. 2004 Ceridian Centrefile replaced its £3 0 mrllron over draft facility with a £6. 5 million
overdraft facility available through April 2005. The amount outstanding'under this overdraft facility
amount‘ed to,£4.7 million ($9.0) at December 31, 2004 and £1.6 milllon'($2 7) at December 31, 2003.

Cerrdran Canada had available at December 31, 2004 and 2003 a committed bank credit facility that
provided up' to $5.0 m1lhon in Canadian currency for issuance of letters of credit and guarantees that is
renewed annually by the grantmg bank. The amounts of letters of credit outstandmg under this facility in
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Canadian currency were $1.0 million (U.S. $0.7) at December 31, 2004 and $1.2 million (U.S. $0.8) at
December 31, 2003.

Equity Activities

During 2004, we repurchased 4,012,400 shares of our common stock for $80.3 on the open market at
an average net price of $20.01 per share. We also repurchased 1,844,100 shares of our common stock
during 2003 for $28.8 on the open market at an average net price of $15.60. As of December 31, 2004, we
may repurchase up to 6,350,500 additional shares of our common stock under an existing authorization
from our Board. We generally use our treasury stock to address our obligations under our stock
compensation and employee stock purchase plans.

Capital Lease Obligations

During the second quarter of 2003, we entered into two leasing agreements with different lessors
intended to provide us with greater flexibility to take advantage of future data storage technology at a
lower cost. One arrangement involved the sale and leaseback of storage equipment acquired by us. We
received $6.3 as cash proceeds from the sale of the equipment, which is reported as an investing cash
inflow. We accounted for the leaseback of this equipment, which has a 3-year term commencing on May 1,
2003 and a negligible residual value, as a capital lease. We recorded the capital [ease asset in machinery
and equipment at $6.5, net of a deferred gain, and the related capital lease obligation in long term debt at
$6.9 with no effect on cash flows. The carrying value of the capital lease asset will be amortized on a
straight line basis over the term of the lease.

The other leasing arrangement involved the replacement with new data storage equipment of data
storage equipment we owned or leased. Under this arrangement, we received $5.8 as cash proceeds from
the sale of owned equipment at its carrying value, which is reported as an investing cash inflow. We
accounted for the lease of new storage equipment, which has a 5-year term commencing on June 1, 2003
and negligible residual value, as a capital lease. We recorded the capital lease asset in machinery and
equipment at $13.4, net of a deferred gain, and the capital lease obligation in long-term debt at $15.3 with
no effect on cash flows. The lease allows us access to increased levels of data storage capacity at months 10
and 22 according to a contractual schedule that correlates additional capacity with the lease payment
schedule.

L. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contracts

In March 2001, we entered into an agreement with Ultimate that provided us with a non-exclusive
license to use Ultimate’s software as part of a Web-enabled integrated payroll/HR/self-service offering to
our small business customers. Our initial payment to Ultimate amounted to $10.0, which provided us with
a non-exclusive license to use its software product in our product offerings. This payment was partially
refundable pending successful transfer of the technology. Amendments to the license agreement in
August 2001 and February 2002 eliminated any refundable nature of the initial payment and deemed the
technology transfer complete as of February 2002. In February 2002, we agreed to pay Ultimate an
additional $0.5 if an upgraded release were to be delivered prior to August 31, 2002, which did occur. The
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$10.5 was. accounted for as purchased software under SOP 98-1 and amortized on a straight-line basis over
a seven-year per1od that began in March 2003.when our SourceWeb software product incorporating this
Ultimate software was placed in service.

Pursuarit to the February 2002 amendment, the license agreement also provided for a monthly royalty
commencing in January 2003, which is based on the number of our customers’ employees paid by using the
software and subject to minimum and maximum amounts. Pursuant to the February 2002 amendment, we
made an advance payment of $6.0 to Ultimate at that time representing the minimum royalty commitment
for 2003 We were also obligated to future minimum monthly payments of $0.5 per month from
January 2004 until January 1, 2006, when the per-employee monthly charge will escalate at a rate of 5%
per annum until the end of the noncancelable term in March 2008. We recorded the $6.0 payment as
prepaid expense and amortized this amount to cost of revenue on a straight line basis over the 12 months
of 2003. Roya]ty costs under this agreement were charged monthly to cost of revenue and paid according
to the terms of the agreement

On Deeember 31 2004 we sold certam customer relat1onsh1ps and other assets associated with our
SourceWeb payroll'platform and ceased use of this contractual relationship. We remain obligated to make
the minimum monthly payments to Ultimate discussed above that totaled $20.7 at December 31, 2004.

In connection with the acquisition of certain call center assets in December 2002, we entered into
royalty. and services-arrangements that are noncancelable for the first 36 months. Under these
arrangements we remain obligated to make a minimum payment of $2.2 in 2005.

Leasrng J;H». L

We conduct a substantial portion of our operations in leased facilities. Most of our leases contain
renewal optlons and requrre payments for taxes, insurance and maintenance.

Substantra]ly all our leasrng arrangements for equ1pment and facilities are operating leases and the
rental payments under these leases are charged to operations as incurred. The amounts in the
accompanymg tables do not include capital lease obhganons recorded as liabilities.

Our Lrental expense and sublease income for each of the three years ended December 31, 2004 appear
in the following table:

¥

Years Ended December 31,

Rental Expense o ‘ ‘ o 3004 2003 2002
s R o : ' (restated)  (restated)
Rental eXpense”. ........ovviu i $54.2  $541 ' $50.6

Sublease rental income . ....... S . (0.6)  (0.4) (0.6)

Net rental expense ............ e, i i i .. 85360 $53.7 0 8500

i R
R !
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Our future minimum noncancelable lease payments on existing operating leases at December 31,
2004, which have an initial term of more than one year, are presented in the following table:

Future Minimum Lease Payments

2005 e e e $52.7
2006 L e e e 46.2
2007 e e e e 41.2
2008 o e 343
2000 . e 28.3
Thereafter......ccoviiii i i e i 91.5

M. CUSTOMER FUNDS

In connection with our U.S. and Canadian payroll and tax filing services, we collect funds for payment
of payroll and taxes; temporarily hold such funds in trust until payment is due; remit the funds to the
clients’ employees and appropriate taxing authority; file federal, state and local tax returns; and handle
related regulatory correspondence and amendments. In connection with our HRS benefits services
operation, we receive funds on behalf of our customers for remittances to employees, insurance providers
and others. Comdata also holds non-interest bearing funds in a trust for its eCash customers.

We invest the U.S. customer funds primarily in high quality collateralized short-term investments or
money market mutual funds. We may also invest these funds in U.S. Treasury and Agency securities, AAA
rated asset-backed securities and corporate securities rated A3/A- or better. Our Canadian trust funds are
invested in securities issued by the government and provinces of Canada, highly rated Canadian banks and
corporations, asset-backed trusts and mortgages.

Effective May 1, 2004, we transferred our investments of customer funds from the “held-to-maturity”
category to the “available-for-sale” category to reflect our decision to change the holding period of
underlying investments, in order to provide additional flexibility in managing credit risks for this portfolio.
As a result, investments of customer funds are reported at fair value rather than amortized cost at all dates
subsequent to the change. The after tax impact of unrealized gains and losses resulting from periodic
revaluation of these securities are reported as accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’

equity.
At December 31, 2004, the fair value of investments of customer funds exceeded the related

amortized cost by $28.8. This change resulted in an after-tax unrealized gain of $18.5 in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Investment income from invested customer funds constitutes a component of our compensation for
providing services under agreements with our customers. Investment income from invested customer funds
included in revenue amounted to $75.6 in 2004, $62.2 in 2003 and $64.6 in 2002 and does not include
realized gains from our interest rate derivative instruments. We further discuss our accounting for this
investment income in the section entitled “Revenue Recognition” of Note A, “Accounting Policies.”
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i

The average cosr basis of invested customer funds amounted to $2,435.2 and $2,145.9, respectively, for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The following tables provide information on cost and
market price for various classifications of customer fund investments and amounts by maturity date.

Investments of Customer Funds at December 31,2004
(Available-for-sale) .

Money market securities and other cash equivalents ... ... ..

Held-to-maturity investments:

U.S. government and agency securities. ............ e
Canadian and provincial government securities .. ... G,
Corporate debt securities........... e e
Asset-backed securities ................. P
Mort;gage-“backed“ and other securities ... .. e e
Total held-to-maturity investments ......... e '
Invested customer funds ...................... L e

Trust réceivables’ ... ...t e
Total\customerfunds...‘..........................} ......

(*) As reported 1n the consolidated balance sheet.

Investments of Customer Funds at December 31, 2003 (restated) ,

(Held-to- matunty )

Money market secuntres and other cash equivalents . . ... ...

Held-to- matunty investments:

U.S. government and agency securities............ e
Canadran and provmcral government securities .. ... R
Corporate debt SECUIES. . ..o e
Asset- backed sccurrtres e I
Mortgaﬂe backed and other securrtres .............. P
Total' held to maturrty investments ................. e
Invested customer fund.......... e e R
Trust recelvables e P
Total customer funds .............. PP L

1

(*) As irepo’rted in the consolidated balance sheet.

Investmenfs of‘ Customer Funds by Maturity Date

Due in one year orless............. ettt
Due in one to three YEATS. oot e
Duelnthreetofrveyears..........,....L., ..............
Due after f1ve YEArS.. ..t e

Total ..ot /o
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: Gross Unrealized
Cost Market* Gain Loss

$2,619.4 $26194 $ — $ —

7504 7587 88  (05)
3230 3370 140 —
2431 2478 53 (0.6)
717 788 14 (03)
40.0 407 . 08 (0.1

14342 14630 303 (L3)

4,053.6 40824 $303 $(15)
13.6 13.6

$4,067.2  $4,096.0

Cost* Market

e AR . $2,202.0  $2,202.0
...... 311.1 3174
T 201.0 208.1
e PR 209.0 216.0
S U 159.5 163.0
................... 58.7 59.6
e 939.3 964.1
................... 3,413 3,166.1
....... 114 11.4
e $3,152.7 $3,177.5
December 31, 2004
Cost Market
................... $2,686.6 $2,687.4
......... 3193 328.8
e e 443.6 448.0
...... 604.1 618.2
...... eeeiieeo.. 840536 84,0824
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N. LEGAL MATTERS

Ceridian and its subsidiaries are involved in a number of judicial and administrative proceedings
considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related
disputes, contract disputes, government proceedings, customer disputes, and tort claims. In some
proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial
expenditures on our part.

Some of these matters raise difficult and complex factual and legal issues, and are subject to many
uncertainties, including the facts and circumstances of each particular action, and the jurisdiction, forum
and law under which each action is proceeding. Because of this complexity, final disposition of some of
these proceedings may not occur for several years. As such, we are not always able 1o estimate the amount
of our possible future liabilities. There can be no certainty that we may not ultimately incur charges in
excess of presently established or future financial accruals or insurance coverage. Although occasional
adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, it is management’s opinion that the final disposition of these
proceedings will not, considering the merits of the claims and available reserves and insurance and based
upon the facts and circumstances currently known, have a material adverse effect on our financial position
or results of operations. ‘

Securities Class Actions

Since August 6, 2004, six shareholder lawsuits have been filed against Ceridian Corporation and
certain executive officers in United States District Court, District of Minnesota. Edmund Biancarelli
v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 16, 2004; Garco Investments v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed September 2,
2004; Ellen Lear v. Ceridian Corp., et al., tiled August 26, 2004; Bruce Valentine Mickan v. Ceridian Corp., et
al., filed September 24, 2004; Richard Shaller v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 6, 2004; and Sharon Zaks
v. Ceridian Corp., et al., filed August 25, 2004. The complaints for these actions are virtually identical. In an
order dated March 7, 2005, the Court consolidated the cases into a captioned /n re: Ceridian Corporation
Securities Litigation. These consolidated actions purport to be class actions filed on behalf of all persons
who purchased or otherwise acquired common stock of the company between April 17, 2003 through and
including July 19, 2004, and allege claims against the company and certain of its officers under Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Plaintiffs challenge the accuracy of certain public
disclosures made by Ceridian regarding its financial performance, and in particular Ceridian’s accounting
for revenue at its Stored Value Systems business unit and accounting for capitalization and expensing of
certain costs in Ceridian’s U.S. Human Resource Solutions business.

Ceridian believes these claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself in all of these
actions. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from these matters.

Derivative Actions

Since August 13, 2004, two shareholders have filed derivative suits on behalf of Ceridian against
Ceridian, as nominal defendant, its directors and certain of its executive officers in United States District
Court, District of Minnesota. James Park, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L.
Turner, et al., and Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et
al., both served August 19, 2004. These complaints have been consolidated. The consolidated lawsuit
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

alleges that the Ceridian Board of Directors and certain executive officers breached fiduciary duties, -
through abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. These
complaints tély on the same factual allegations as the purported class actlon shareholder lawsurts as
described above

)

Ceridian is awaltmg the frhng of an amended complamt Ceridian intends to appropriately defend
itself i in the consohdated action. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from these matters.

SEC Investlgatlon

On J anuary 22, 2004 ‘we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, under Item 5, stating that we
announced that we are responding to a document request from the Securities and Exchange Commission,
and that we have been advised that the SEC has issued a formal order of investigation. In February 2004,
we provided. documents responsive to the SEC. In July 2004, we advised the SEC of an investigation the
Audit Commrttee of the Board of Directors was directing (the “Audit Committee Investigation”). We kept
the SEC advised on a regular basis of the Audit Committee Investigation. On December 10, 2004, we
received a further formal confidential document request from the SEC. The second request has broadened
the areas of inquiry to include, among other things, Ceridian’s restatement, revenue recognition,
capxtahzatron expense recognition, how we respond to any internal ethics complaints, and Ceridian’s
accounting pohcres and procedures The formal document requests state that the SEC investigation is a
non-public, fact-finding inquiry, and that the investigation and document requests do not mean that the
SEC has concluded that we have violated any securities. laws. We are cooperating with the SEC and are in
the process of responding to the SEC’s additional document request.
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O. SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

As described in Note B, “Restatement of Financial Statements”, we have made corrections to our
consolidated statements of operations related to trademark amortization, leases, international acquisitions,
and accrual of costs and expenses and income tax reserves. The effect of the Restatement on our quarterly
results in 2004 and 2003 is presented in an accompanying table.

2004 2003
T 3 2ud 15 40 3rd ond 15
Quarter _Quarter  Quarter  Quarter _Quarter  Quarter Quarter Quarter
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)

Revenue ................. $ 3613 $ 3287 § 3165 § 3139 $ 3243 § 2916 § 2911 § 3069
Costs and Expenses
Costof revenue ......... 200.7 192.4 178.0 177.2 180.1 169.8 173.8 170.1
Selling, general and )
administrative ........ 119.9 1213 1171 117.2 96.7 86.1 85.6 96.7
Research and development - 6.9 7.0 © 83 4.6 6.1 5.0 53 3.0
(Gain) loss on derivative .
instruments .......... 29 (7.9) 19.0 (13.7) 4.0 0.5 (12.9) (6.3)
Other expense: (income)(1) 29.0 (0.8) (2.9) 12 (1.2) (1.1) 0.2 (0.4)
Interest income . ........ 0.9) 0.7) (0.5) (0.5) (0.5) 0.5) (0.5) (0.5)
Interest expense......... 1.2 1.2 0.9 1.1 1.0 1.3 1.1 1.2
Total costs and expenses 359.7 3125 319.9 287.1 286.2 261.1 252.6 263.8
Earnings (loss) before income
taxes .. ................ 1.6 16.2 (3.4) 26.8 381 305 38.5 431
Income tax provision (benefit) 9.4) 53 (1.1) 9.5 11.8 111 135 15.0
Net earnings (loss) . ........ $ 11.0 § 109 § 2.3) § 173 § 263 § 194 § 250 $ 28.1
Earnings (loss) per share(2)
Basic.................. $ 007 $ 007 § (002) 8 0.12 § 0.18 $ 013 % 017 $ 0.19
Diluted................ $ 007 $ 007 § (0.02) § 011 $ 0.17 § 013 § 0.17 § 0.19
Shares used in calculations
(in thousands)
Weighted average shares
(basic} .............. 147,343 149,098 148,607 149,250 149,696 148,426 147,970 148,451
Dilutive securities(3) . . . .. 1,237 1,544 — 2,422 2,916 2,156 866 275
Weighted average shares
(diluted). ............ 148,580 150,642 148,607 151,672 152,612 150,582 148,836 148,726

(1) Includes in 2004, gain from sale of stock of $0.5 in the first quarter, $3.0 in the second quarter, and $1.0 in the third quarter.
Also in the fourth quarter of 2004 we incurred a $28.5 charge related to the sale of the SourceWeb Assets. In 2003, includes
gain from sale of stock of $3.4 in the third quarter and 2002 unusual losses of $9.8 for the first quarter, $0.6 for the second
quarter, $9.8 for the third quarter and $13.4 for the fourth quarter as described in Note D, “Supplementary Data to Statements
of Operations.”

(2) For information on the calculation of earnings per share, see the section entitled “Earnings per Share” in Note A, “Accounting
Policies.”

(3) Second quarter 2004 dilutive securities have been restated to zero vs. 3,036,000 shares previously reported since the restated
results are a net loss.
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The followmg table presents the effect of the Restatement on the quarterly consohdated statements of
operatlon as prevrously reported

v

2004 3 2003

3rd 2nd 1st 4th 3rd 2nd 1st
Quarter Quarter Quarter ' Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
As Prevtously Reported ‘
Revenue P -~ $328.7 $3165 $3139 $3243 $ 2916 $291.1 $3069
Costs and expenses e 301.7 3090 2776 284.0 261.0 2526 264.8
Earnmgs ‘before i mcome taxes..‘ ........ 1270 75 363 403 30.6 385 42.1
Income tax’ prov1s1on .................. 9.1 2.6 128 "134 111 135 14.8
Net earmngs....‘ ..................... $ 179 $ 49 $ 235 $269 $ 195 § 250 $ 273
Earmngs per: share ‘
Basic P $ 012 $003 $016 $ 018 $§ 013 $ 017 § 018
Dilated o .. $012 $003 $016 $ 018 $§ 013 § 017 § 0.18
Restatement Summary
Trademark amortization ......... . 102 102 2 — — — —
Lease. accountmg. e 0.5 0.6 0.4 0.8 0.5 0.4 0.4
International acquisition accounting . . 02) (02) (02) (0.2) 02y (02 (©2
Accrual of costs and expenses. ....... 0.3 0.3 0.9 1.6 02) (02 (1.2
Costs and expenses increase . . . . . . . 108 109 9.5 2.2 0.1 — (0
Total pretax earnings decrease......... (10.8) (109) (935 (22) (0.1) — .
Tax effect of restatement(1) ........... (3.8) (37 (33) (L6 — — 0.2
Total net earnings decrease............ $ 7.0)$ (72) $ (62)% (0.6) 3 (0.1)$ — § 0.8
Earnings per share ‘
Basic .............. e $(0.05) $(0.05) $(004)$ — $§ — $§ — $ 001
Diluted .............. S $(0.05) $(0.05) $(0.05) $(001)$ — $§ — %001
As Restated ‘ '
Revenue ..ot nt, $328.7 $316.5 $313.9 $3243 §$ 291.6 $291.1 $306.9
Costs and eXpenses s .................. 3125 3199 2871 2862 261.1 2526  263.8
Earmngs (loss) before income taxes .. .. . 16.2 (34) 268 38.1 30.5 38.5 431
Income tax provision (benefit) ......... 53 (11) 95 118 111 135 150
Net earnings (10ss) ..........oeueen. $ 109 § (23)$ 173 §$ 263 $§ 194 § 250 § 28.1
Earnings (loss) per share ‘
Basic et $ 007 $(0.02) $ 012 $018 $ 013 $ 017 $ 0.19
Diluted ... .. e $ 007 $(0.02) $ 0.11 $ 017 $ 013 $ 017 § 0.19

(N The fourth quarter of 2003 includes a $0. 9 tax reserve adjustment in addrtron toa $0.7 tax impact of
the pretax earnings,decrease.
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SCHEDULE 1

CERIDIAN C_ORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(Dollars in millions)

Reserves and Allowances Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Balance at beginning of year.............ooiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiii e $173 $184 $ 162
Additions charged to costs and expenses .............c.c.iiiiiiiaan. 9.7 11.2 17.0
DedUCHONS(1) -+ v e veeeene e e e e e, (6.7) (123) (14.8)
Balance at end Of YEaT ..o\ vuv et ettt $203 $173 $ 184

(1) Amounts determined not to be collectible, net of recoveries. Amount also includes the effect of
acquisitions and dispositions of businesses.
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'REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
: FIRM ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

THE BOARDw OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
CERIDIAN CORPORATION

Under date of April 20, 2005, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Ceridian Corporation -
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
cash ﬂows and stockholders equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004, as contalned in Ceridian’s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In connection with our audits of the
aforementloned consohdated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial
statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index (see Item 15.(a)2.). This financial statement
schedule is the respon51b111ty of Ceridian’s management Our responsrbrhty is to express an opinion on this
fmanc1al statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opmron such f1nanc1al statement schedule, when ‘considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents falrly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein. ‘ ‘ ,

As dlscussed in Note B to the consolidated f1nanc1a1 statements the Company has restated its
consohdated f1nanc1al statements as of December 31, 2003 and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002,

As discussed in N Ote A to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions
of Statement of Financial Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets,” on January 1, 2002.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) the effectiveness of Ceridian Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting:
as of Decémber 31,2004, based on criteria established in Interndl Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated
April 20, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an adverse opinion
on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting. .

o /' KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 20,2005
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Item 9.  Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
- Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”)), as
of December 31, 2004. As a result of the material weaknesses identified in our Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting located in Part II, Item 8 of this report, we have concluded that
as of December 31, 2004, our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act are
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of
the Securities and Exchange Commission. However, to address the material weaknesses described in our
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, we have significantly expanded our
disclosure controls and procedures to include additional analysis and other post-closing procedures to
ensure that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective over the preparation of the financial
statements included in this report. Accordingly, management believes that the financial statements
included in this report fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows for the periods presented.

Other than such actions noted below under the heading “Remediation Steps to Address Material
Weaknesses and Other Deficiencies in Internal Control over Financial Reporting”, there have been no
other changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2004
that have materially affected, or are likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and the attestation report of
KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, on management’s assessment of internal
control over financial reporting are included at the beginning of Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this report and are incorporated by reference into this item of the report.

Remediation Steps to Address Material Weaknesses and Other Deficiencies in Internal Control over
Financial Reporting

In July 2004, we began performing periodic internal accounting reviews of HRS. These reviews are
performed at least once per quarter and evaluate compliance with our policies and in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) related to the
capitalization and amortization of internally developed software costs, and the month-end close and cost
and expense accrual process. These reviews are performed by HRS personnel, as well as by our Internal
Audit Department, and have been completed through the end of 2004.

In order to remediate the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and ensure
the integrity of our financial reporting processes, we implemented in 2004 or are in the process of
implementing the following actions:

¢ a comprehensive review of internal control over financial reporting through our ongoing review
being carried out in connection with our efforts to comply with the Section 404 of the
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i Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules 1ssued thereunder (the “Sectlon 404 Requirements”),
: ‘mcludmg addmonal remediation as necessary, ' : ;

‘ add1t10nal tralnmg for finance, accounting and certam other personnel at HRS in (1) appropriate
‘accounting-for the capitalization 'and amortization of internally developed software, (ii) month-end
expense cut-off and cost and expense accrual processes, (iii) revenue recognition, (iv) procedures
for identifying unusual events or transactions and obtaining appropriate accounting guidance prior
to recordmg such transactions, (v) the importance of a robust internal control environment and
‘ (vi) the apphcatlon of technical accounting pronouncements;

‘1mplementat10n of detailed, new internally developed software capltahzatlon and amortlzanon
policy and forrnal procedures that are con51stent with U.S. GAAP

,1mplementat10n of detailed, new revenue recognmon pohcxes at HRS that are consistent with U.S.
GAAP; :

establishment of new documentatlon requirements and monitoring procedures for HRS finance and
accountmg employees to ensure, among other things, that (i) accounting conclusions involving the

- interpretatlon of complex accounting standards are thoroughly documented and identify the critical
factors that support the basis for such conclusions, and (ii) the factors upon which such employees

‘rely are Vahdated and adequately evidenced;

1mpl‘ementat10n of detective controls in the form of (i) random ihternal audits by our Internal Audit
Department of selected HRS software development projects for compliance with our new
capitalization policy, (ii) monthly testing processes at HRS to analyze whether costs and expenses
. have been accrued properly, and (iii) quarterly monitoring procedures at HRS to analyze costs and
“expensesiincurred during such period and determine whether such costs and expenses were
classified correctly on our consolidated statement of operations;

,modification of systems and procedures to (i) ensure that appropriate cut-off dates for the monthly
accounts payable cycle are strictly observed, thereby preventing improper deferral of costs and
expenses, (ii) ensure that purchases in.an amount of over $1,000 be evidenced by a written purchase
order form and that appropriate purchase order reports are generated and analyzed monthly and
(iii) establish appropriate deterrent controls, including clear and regular communication of
operating policies and procedures by management to HRS employees emphasizing that
noncompliance with such policies and procedures will result in corrective action, which may include
termination,

‘creation of a new position, Director of Financial Accounting and Compliance, and retention of such
person to review and coordinate the implementation of new revenue-related pronouncements and
regulatlons under U.S. GAAP at Ceridian;

review of all new HRS contracts containing certain quantitative and qualitative characteristics in
order to determine appropriate accounting treatment under U.S. GAAP;

creation of a reveriue recognition steering committee comprised of financial and accounting
‘personnel to discuss and review revenue recognition issues at HRS for policy amendments and
interpretations; : -

periodic re‘vi‘f‘cﬁw‘ of details supporting the consolidated statement of operations to determine
-whether significant costs and expenses are being classified appropriately on a historical and
recurring basis and to reclassify where appropriate;

reconciliation of balance sheet accounts for HRS that were unreconciled for the third and fourth
quarters of 2004. We have reviewed our account reconciliation process at HRS to ensure that,
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among other things, such accounts are being reconciled on a timely basis, the reconciliation is being
independently reviewed, any reconciling items are cleared on a timely basis, and the accuracy of the
underlying supporting detail, or subledger, has been substantiated and independently reviewed; and

¢ establishment of a process to review long-lived assets on a quarterly basis.

In addition, in an effort to improve internal control over financial reporting, we continue to emphasize
the importance of establishing the appropriate environment in relation to accounting, financial reporting
and internal control over financial reporting and the importance of identifying areas of improvement and
to create and implement new policies and procedures where material weaknesses or significant deficiencies
exist. Furthermore, in an effort to improve internal control over financial reporting, we have hired
additional accounting expertise, continued our use of external resources, taken certain disciplinary actions
and terminated certain individuals. In addition, a new chief financial officer joined Ceridian in
February 2005.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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T e [ PARTIII

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers ‘'of the Registrant

We refer you to our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the, SEC within'120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the heading “Election of Directors
(Item 1)” for mformanon regardrng our. directors,and nominees for director. This information is
mcorporated by reference 1nto this 1tem of the report.

Informatlon regardmg our executlve offlcers 18 found in Item 1A of this report under the headmg
“Executive Offlcers of the Registrant.”

O
We refer to you to our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meetlng of Stockholders, which will be
filed with the SEC'within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the headrng “Meetrngs of the
Board of. Dlrectors and Committees of the Board” for information regarding our “audit committee
financial expert and our Audit Committee. This mformatlon is incorporated by reférence into this item of
the report.” - : : : m

We refer you to our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be. filed
with the SEC w1th1n 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the headmg “Other Matters—
Section 16(a) Beneflcral Ownership Reporting Comphance for information regardmg compliance with
Section 16(a\) of the Securltres Exchange Act of 1934 ThlS mformatron is incorporated by reference mto
this item of the report o o

We have a code oﬁ conduct for all of our employees mcludmg our prmapal executive, financial and
accountmg officers; and each of the non-employee directors on our Board of Directors. The Ceridian
Corporation Code of Conduct may be found on our web'site at www.ceridian.com in the “Corporate
Governance” section. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K
regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Conduct by our executive officers
or drrectors by postmg such 1nformat10n on our web51te at the address and locatron specified above

Item 11, Executlve Compensatlon ‘ r

We refer you to.our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the headings “Director Compensatron
“Executivé' Compensation;” and “Employment Agreements and Change of Control Arrangements.” This
information is incorporated by reference into this item of the report.

Item 12. Security;gwneré,hip of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Rela_ted Stock Matters

We refer you to our Proxy Statenient for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC within. 120 days after the:close of our fiscal year, and the heading “Share Ownership
Information.” This.information is incorporated by reference into this item of the report.

ED oo RN
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The following table and accompanying notes provide information about our common stock that may
be issued under all of our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2004.

(@ () (c)

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities to ~ Weighted-average exercise available for future issuance
be issued upon exercise of price of outstanding under equity compensation plans
outstanding options, options, warrants and (excluding securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights rights Column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders ................. 17,461,577(1) $ 17.15 8,336,676(2)
Equity compensation plans |
not approved by security
holders ................. _ 3,114,789 $ 18.45 510,216(3)
Total ..................... 20,576,366 8,846,892

(1) The Ceridian Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan allows executive officers the opportunity to
invest in various book accounts, including one that tracks the performance of our common stock
(referred to as “phantom stock™). Upon distribution, such participants will receive the amounts
invested in phantom stock in the form of shares of Ceridian common stock from the Ceridian
Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan. Column (a) does not
‘include the number of shares that are currently credited to participants’ phantom stock accounts and
would be issued as Ceridian common stock upon a complete distribution of all amounts in the
phantom stock account as of December 31, 2004. Furthermore, Column (a) does not include any
unvested restricted stock awards that have been issued.

(2) The following number of shares remained available for issuance under each of our equity
compensation plans that have been approved by our stockholders as of December 31, 2004. Grants
under these plans may be in the form of any of the listed types of awards:

Plan Number of Shares Types of Awards
Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term
Stock Incentive Plan. ................. 1,507,573 ‘Stock options, restricted stock,

performance units

Amended and Restated 2001 Director ‘
Performance Incentive Plan ........... 212,812 Non-statutory stock options,
restricted stock

2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan .. .. 6,000,000 Stock options, stock appreciation
, rights, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, dividend equivalents,
performance awards, stock
awards, and other stock-based
awards

Also, as of December 31, 2004, 616,291 shares remained available under the Ceridian Corporation
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, an “employee stock purchase plan” under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(3) The following equity compensation plans have not been approved by our stockholders. These plans
are available to employees in the United Kingdom, have been approved by Inland Revenue under a
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“savesas-you-earn” plan design and have the following number of shares that remain available for
issuance as of December 31, 2004:

Plan ' Number of Shares
2001 Savmgs Related Share OptionPlan.................. e e 462,177
UK Compensatlon Share Option Plan .. e e P 21,125
Amended Savmgs -Related Share Option Plan . ... .. RO ...... R 26,914

Cerzdzan Corpomtzon 2001 Savings-Related Share Option Plan, Ceridian Corporatwn UK Compensation
Share Option Plan and Ceridian Corporation Amended Savings-Related Share Option Plan (referred to as
the “SAYE Plans”). The SAYE Plans have been adopted by our Board. The SAYE Plans have been
approved by Inland Revenue in the United Kingdom under the “save-as-you-earn” plan design and
are available to employees of Ceridian’s subsidiaries in the United Kingdom.

In 2001, our Board of Directors adopted the Ceridian Corporation 2001 Savings-Related Share
Option Plan (referred to as the “2001 SAYE”) Under the 2001 SAYE, employee-participants can
commit to save & specrfled amount from after-tax pay for a fixed period (either three or five years). At
the end of the period chosen, participants have the choice to receive the savings amount.and
accumulated tax-free interest credits either in cash or to use the amount to purchase common stock
from Ceridian at an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock as of the beginning of the
savings contract period, less a 15% discount. Under the 2001 SAYE Plan, an aggregate of 500,000
shares of Ceridian common stock has been reserved for issuance. As of December 31, 2004, 95,725
shares,of common stock are eligible to be purchased under the 2001 SAYE Plan.

In connection with the spin-off, Ceridian’s predecessér amended the Ceridian Corporation Amended
Savings-Related Share Option Plan (referred to as the “Rollover Plan”) and transferred the Rollover
Plan to Ceridian. As'a result of the spin-off and transfer of the Rollover Plan to Ceridian, the savings
contracts held by employee-participants lost their tax-favored status. To make employee-participants
whole for the income tax and national insurance liability resulting from the spin-off, employees were
awarded addltlonal savings contracts under the Ceridian Corporation UK Compensatlon Share
Option Plan (referred to as the “Compensatron Plan”). Under the Rollover Plan and Compensation
Plan, at the end of the contract period chosen (three or five years), participants had the choice to
receive the savings amount and accumulated interest credits either in cash or to use the amount to
purchase common stock from Ceridian at an exercise price equal to the spin-adjusted market price of
the stock as of the original date of j joining the Rollover Plan, less a 20% discount. No new
contnbutrons are permrtted under the Rollover Plan and the Compensation Plan. As of December 31,
2004, 26,914 and 21,125 shares of common stock are eligible to be purchased from outstanding options
under the Rollover Plan and Compensatron Plan, respectrvely

Item 13. Certam Relatlonshlps and Related Transactlons

We refer you to our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SECwithin 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the heading “Certain Relationships and
Related Transacnons This information is incorporated by reference into this item of the report.

Item 14. ) Pririici‘pal'Aeeoan.tant Fees and Services
‘We refer ybu to our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meetirrg of Stockholders, which will be filed

with the SEC w1th1n 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and the heading “Independent Registered
Public Accountrng F1rm Fees.” This information is incorporated by reference into this item of the report.
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Item 15.

PART IV
Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements of Registrant

We refer you to the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part II, Item 8 of this

report.

(a) 2. Financial Statement Schedules of Registrant

We refer you to the “Index to Financial Statement Schedules” included in Part II, Item 8 of this

report.

(a) 3. Exhibits

The following is a complete list of exhibits filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report.

Exhibit

Description

3.01

3.02

3.03

4,01

10.01

10.02

10.03

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Ceridian Corporation (formerly known as
New Ceridian Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Ceridian’s Registration
Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-16149)).

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Ceridian Corporation
{(formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.02 to
Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (File

No. 001-16149)).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Ceridian Corporation (formerly known as New Ceridian
Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Ceridian’s Registration Statement on
Form 10 (File No. 001-16149)).

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2001, between Ceridian Corporation and The Bank
of New York, as Rights Agent, including the form of Certificate of Resignation, Preferences and
Rights of Series A Preferred Stock as Exhibit A, the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B and
the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Stock as Exhibit C (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Ceridian’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Ceridian on November 6, 2001
(File No. 001-15168)).

Distribution Agreement between Arbitron Inc., formerly known as Ceridian Corporation, and
Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated February 14, 2001
(exhibits and schedules omitted) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ceridian’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-16149)).

Amendment No. 1 to Distribution Agreement between Arbitron Inc., formerly known as
Ceridian Corporation, and Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation,
dated March 30, 2001 (exhibits and schedules omitted) (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2000
(File No. 001-16149)).

Personnel Agreement between Arbitron Inc., formerly known as Ceridian Corporation, and
Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated February 14, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Ceridian’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (File
No. 001-16149)). :
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10.04 . Amendment No. 1 to Personnel Agreement between Arbitron Inc., formerly known as Cerldtan
‘ Corporatron and Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated as
of April 3, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to: Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.05 Tax Matters Agreement between Arbitron Inc., formerly known as Ceridian Corporation, and
Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated February 14, 2001

- (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Ceridian’s Regrstratron Statement on Form 10 (File

b No. 001- 16149))

10.06 . - Transition Services Agreement between Arbrtron Inc.,, formerly known as Cerrdran Corporation,
and Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated February 14,
- 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Ceridian’s Regrstratlon Statement on Form 10
- (Eile No. 001-16149)).

10.07 Sublease Agreement between Arbrtron Inc., formerly known as Certdlan Corporation, and
. Ceridian Corporation, formerly known as New Ceridian Corporation, dated February 14, 2001
. (1ncorp0rated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Cerldran s Registration Statement on Form 10 (File
. No. 001 16149))

10.08* Executlve Employment Agreement between Certdlan Corporatron and Ronald L. Turner, dated
] anuary 29, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.08 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on
Form 10 K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.09* + Amendment No. 1 to the Executive Employment Agreement | between Ceridian Corporatron and
Ronald L. Turner, dated November 21, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.09 to
‘ Cerldlan s.Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File
- No, 001 15168))

10.10* Executlve Employment Agreement between Cerldran Corporatlon and John R. Eickhoff, dated
‘ April 22, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on
e Formj 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2002 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.11*  Amendment No. 1 to the Executive Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and
: John R. Eickhoff, dated November 21, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
- Cerldtan s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (Frle
" "'No. 001 15168)) r

10.12* Executlve Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporatron and Robert H. Ewald, dated
: July 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhrblt 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly-Reporton .
‘ Form 10 -Q for the quarter period ended June 30 2003 (File No 001-15168)).

10.13*‘ Mutual Termination Agreement dated March 25, 2005 between Ceridian Corporation and
“Robert H Ewald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ceridian’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated March 31, 2005 (Frle No. 001-15168)). :

10.14* Executlve Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and Gary A. Krow, dated
January 29, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10:11 to-Ceridian’s Annual Report on
Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.15*,  Amendment No. 1 to the Executive Employmént Agreemént between Ceridian Corporation and
Gary A. Krow, dated November 21, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
_Ceridian’s. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File

< No. 00T 15168))
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10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20%

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

Executive Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and Gary M. Nelson, dated
January 29, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

Amendment No. 1 to the Executive Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and
Gary M. Nelson, dated November 21, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File

No. 001-15168)).

Executive Employment Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and Douglas C. Neve, dated
March 14, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ceridian’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated March 14, 2005 (File No. 001-15168)).

Ceridian Corporation 2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

Form of Ceridian Corporation Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (under the
Ceridian Corporation 2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.05 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

Form of Ceridian Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement (under the Ceridian
Corporation 2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.06
to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)). ‘

Ceridian Corporation 2002 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001
(File No. 001-15168)).

Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

Form of Ceridian Corporation Non-Statutory Stock Option Award Agreement (under the
Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001
(File No. 001-15168)).

Form of Ceridian Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement (under the Amended and
Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2001 (File

No. 001-15168)).

Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended June 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Director Performance Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K or the
year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

Form of Ceridian Corporation Non-Statutory Stock Option Award Agreement (under the
Amended and Restated 2001 Director Performance Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.18 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001 (File No. 001-15168)).
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10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

10.33* f

10.34*

10.35*

10.36*

10.37*

10.38*

Form of Ceridian Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement (under the Amended and
Restated 2001 Director Performance Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19
to Ceridjan’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File

No. 001-15168)). ‘

Ceridian Corporation Benefit Equalization Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to Arbitron Inc.’s (formerly known as Ceridian Corporation) Annual Report on

Form 10- K for.the year ended December 31, 1994 (File No. 1-1969)).

Ceridian Corporation Benefit Equalization Plan, First Declaration of Amendment (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

- Ceridian Corporation Benefit Equalization Plan, Second Declaration of Amendment
‘ (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

‘Cendran Corporation Benefit Equalization Plan, Third Declaration of Amendment

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

Cerrdran Corporatron Employees’ Benefit Protection Trust Agreement dated as of December 1,
1994, between Ceridian Corporation and First Trust National Association (incorporated by

»reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Arbitron Inc.’s (formerly known as Ceridian Corporation) Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 (File No. 1-1969)).

First Declaratlon of Amendment to Ceridian Corporation Employees’ Benefit Protection Trust

Agreement effective as of January 1, 1999, between Ceridian Corporation and US Bank National
Assocratron (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on

* Form 10 K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

Second Declaratlon of Amendment to Ceridian Corporation Employees’ Beneﬁt Protection
Trust Agreement dated as of March 26, 2001, between Ceridian Corporation and US Bank

. National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 23 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on
- Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

Third Declaratiori of Amendment to Ceridian Corporation Employees’ Benefit Protection Trust
Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between Ceridian Corporation and US Bank National
Assocratron (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on

‘ Form 10- Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001 (File No. 001-15168)).

Cerldlan Corporatron Deferred Compensation Plan (2002 Revision) (incorporated by reference

- to Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on-Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended

10.39*

10.40%

10.41*

- September 30, 2002 (File No. 001-15168)).

Split Dollar Agreement between Ronald L. Turner and Ceridian Corporation (incorporated by

_reference to Exhibit 10.06 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period

ended June 30, 2002 (File No. 001-15168)).

‘Form of Indemnrﬁcatlon Agreement between Ceridian Corporation and its Directors

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

© quarterly period ended June 30, 2003 (File No. 001-15168)).
. ‘Ceridian Corporatron 2001 Savings-Related Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference to

| Exhibit 10:38'to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002
- ~(File'No. 001-15168)).
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10.42*
10.43*

10.44

10.45

Ceridian Corporation UK Compensation Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.39 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002
(File No. 001-15168)).

Ceridian Corporation Amended Savmgs-Related Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.40 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002 (File No. 001-15168)).

Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2001 among Ceridian Corporation (formerly known as
New Ceridian Corporation), as the borrower, Bank of America, NA, as the Administrative Agent
and L/C issuer, Other Lenders thereto (exhibits and schedules omitted) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Ceridian’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-16149)).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2002 among Ceridian Corporation,
as the borrower, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, NA, as the Administrative Agent for itself and the other

_ Lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2002 (File No. 001-15168)).

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 4, 2004 among Ceridian
Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.06 to
Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)).

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2004 among Ceridian

‘Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of

January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.08 to
Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)).

Fourth’ Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of November 9, 2004 among Ceridian
Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)).

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2004 among Ceridian
Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, NA. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly perlod ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)).

Sixth-Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of January 14, 2005 among Ceridian
Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
Ceridian’s Quarterly Report'on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004
(File No. 001-15168)). .

Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2005 among Ceridian
Corporation, the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
January 31, 2001, and Bank of America, N.A. :




Exhibit B  Description
10.52 '+ Receivable Sales Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2002, between Comdata Network, Inc. and
Comdata Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2002 (File
© No. 001-15168)). :

1053 Recelvable Purchase Agreement, dated as of J une 24, 2002, among Comdata Fundmg
quporatlon Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Sécuritization Corporation, the Financial
- Institutions party thereto and Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to
. Cer1d1an s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarterly penod ended June 30, 2002 (File
‘ No 004-15168)).

1054  Performance Undertaking, dated as of June 24 2002, executed by Ceridian Corporation in favor
" of Comdata Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to Ceridian’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2002 (File
" No. 001-15168)).

10.55. Amendment No. 1 to Receivables Purchase Agreement entered into as of June 20, 2003 among
Comdata Funding Corporation, Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each
Financial Institution party thereto, and Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarterly period ended

- June 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

1056  Amendment No. 2 to Receivables Purchase Agreement entered into as of June 17, 2004 among
Comdata Funding Corporation, Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each
Fman(:lal Institution party thereto, and Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30,2004 (File No. 001-15168)). ‘

10.57 Amendment No. 3 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to Performance
Undertaking entered into as of August 4, 2004 among Comdata Funding Corporation, Comdata
Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party thereto, and
Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.58  Amendment No. 4 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 2 to Performance
' Undertaking entered into as of September 30, 2004 amotig Comdata Funding Corporation,
Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party
‘thereto, and Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Ceridian’s Quarterly
‘Report.on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.59  Amendment No. 5 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 3 to Performance
Undertaking entered into as of November 9, 2004 among Comdata Funding Corporation,
- Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party
thereto, and Bank One, NA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Ceridian’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

1060 Amendment No. 6 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 4 to Performance
' Undertaking entered into as of December 31, 2004 among Comdata Funding Corporation,
‘Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party
thereto, and Bank One, NA. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Ceridian’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).
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10.61  Amendment No. 7 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 5 to Performance
Undertaking entered into as of January 14, 2005 among Comdata Funding Corporation,
Comdata Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party
thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as successor in merger to Bank One, NA
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Ceridian’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15168)).

10.62  Amendment No. 8 to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Amendment No. 6 to Performance
Undertaking entered into as of March 31, 2005 among Comdata Funding Corporation, Comdata
Network, Inc., Jupiter Securitization Corporation, each Financial Institution party thereto, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as successor in merger to Bank One, NA.

10.63*  Ceridian Corporation Board of Directors Compensation Summary.

18.01  Preferability letter from KPMG LLP dated April 20, 2005 regarding change in accounting
principle.

21.01  Subsidiaries of Ceridian.

23.01  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm-KPMG LLP,

24.01  Power of Attorney.

31.01  Certification of our Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.02  Certification of our Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ‘ ‘

32.01  Certification of our Chief Executive Officer required pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.02  Certification of our Chief Financial Officer required pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this
report.

We will provide our stockholders with copies of any of the exhibits listed above, upon request and
payment of its reasonable expenses in furnishing such exhibits. We will also provide to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, upon request, any exhibit or schedule to any of the foregoing exhibits which has
not been filed. ’
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requ1rements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the under51gned thereunto duly
authorized, as of Aprﬂ 20, 2005.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

By /s/ RONALD L. TURNER

Ronald L. Turner
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requlrements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the' followmg persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacmes md1cated as of April 20,
2005.

/s/ RdNALDWI‘, TURNER - /s DOUGLAS C. NEVE

Ronald L. Turner L ' ‘Douglas C. Neve

Chairman, President and Chief Executzve Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) : (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ WILLIAM J. CADOGAN /s/ NICHOLAS D. CHABRAJA

William J. Cadogan, Director ' ‘Nicholas D. Chabraja, Director

/s/ RONALD T. LEMAY %/ GEORGE R. LEWIS

Ronald T. LeMay, Director George R. Lewis, Director

/s/ CAROLE J. UHRICH SHAPAZIAN /s/ ALAN F. WHITE

Carole J. Uhrich Shapazian, Director Alan F. White, Director

.
!
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EXHIBIT 31.01
CERTIFICATION
I, Ronald L. Turner, certify that: |
1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ceridian Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report; '

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cerfifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and

-15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
" procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
.prepared,; ' ‘

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

-external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; '

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and ' ‘

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 20, 2005 /s/ RONALD L. TURNER
Ronald L. Turner
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




i | | EXHIBIT 31.02
CERTIFICATION '
L, Douglas C. Neve certify that: S |
1. Thave rev1ewed this Annual ‘Report on Form 10 K of Ceridian Corporation;

2. \‘Based'on my knowledge, this report does not contam any untrue statement of material fact or
' omit to state.a material fact nécessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made not mlsleadmg w1th respect to the perlod covered by
‘this report

3. Based on,my knbwledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows 'of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining

~ disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Des“ig'ned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
. procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
: prepared

R

b) De51gned such internal control over f1nanc1a1 reporting, or caused such internal control over
. financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
. regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
- external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) . Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonab]y likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial
reportmg, and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committeée, of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Al éfgnificaﬁt deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
~ asignificant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 20, 2005 /st DOUGLAS C. NEVE
‘ o Douglas C. Neve
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Ceridian Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for
the period ended December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report™), [, Ronald L. Turner, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ RONALD L. TURNER

Ronald L. Turner

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
April 20, 2005

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form with the electronic version
of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Ceridian Corporation and will be
retained by Ceridian Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Ceridian Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for
the period.ended December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Douglas C. Neve, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to-the best of my. knowledge

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and

2y The 1nformat10n contained in the Report falrly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operatlons of the Company.

/s/ DOUGLAS C. NEVE

Douglas C. Neve

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
April 20, 2005

A s1gned 0r1g1nal of th1s written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form with the electronic version
of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Ceridian Corporation and will be
retained by Ceridian Corporanon and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP, Minneapolis, MN

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at Ceridian’s principal executive offices

located at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425, on Thursday, May 26, 2005,
at 8:30 a.m. local time. Formal notice will be sent to stockholders of record as of March 30, 2005.

Number of Holders
The number of common stockholders of record on March 30, 2005, was approximately 11,029.

Stockholder Records
If you have questions concerning your Ceridian stock, please write
or call Ceridian’s transfer agent and registrar:

Address general inquiries to:

The Bank of New York

Shareholder Relations Department-11E
'P.O. Box 11258

Church Street Station
-New York, NY 10286

Send certificates for transfer and address changes to:

The Bank of New York

Receive and Deliver Department-11W
P.O. Box 11002

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286

The telephone number for all stockholder inquiries to The Bank of New York is 800/524-4458.
Answers to many shareholder questions and requests for forms are available by visiting
The Bank of New York’s web site at http://stockbny.com.

Form 10-K

A copy of Ceridian’s 2004 Form 10-K is included in this Annual Report and was separately
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Additional copies may be

obtained without charge by writing to:

Shareholder Services Department

Ceridian Corporation

3311 East Old Shakopee Road

Minneapolis, MN 55425-1640

e-mail: shareholder.services@ceridian.com

" Certifications

- The Company has included with this Annual Report the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company has also
submitted the required annual Chief Executive Officer certification to the New York Stock Exchange.

Investor Inquiries
Securities analysts, investment managers and others seeking information about
Ceridian should contact Craig Manson, vice president of Investor Relations, 952/853-6022.

Ceridian’s Web Site
http://www.ceridian.com
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